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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD -LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements in this Report under the captitam 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysisimdncial Condition and Results of
Operations," Item 1, "Business", Item 3, "Legald@@dings" and elsewhere in this Report constitiaievard-looking statements" within the
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Refokat of 1995 (the "Reform Act"). Such forward-lookj statements involve known and
unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors tviniay cause the actual results, performance oegefents of Halsey Drug Co., Inc.
("Halsey" or the "Company"), or industry resultsbie materially different from any future resufieyformance, or achievements expressed or
implied by such forward-looking statements. Sudides include, among others, the following: changegeneral economic and business
conditions; loss of market share through competjtiotroduction of competing products by other camigs; the timing of regulatory
approval and the introduction of new products ey @mmpany; changes in industry capacity; pressugices from competition or from
purchasers of the Company's products; regulatcem@és in the generic pharmaceutical manufacturidgstry; difficulties encountered in t
development of novel product synthesis and manuifsagt techniques; regulatory obstacles to the duotion of new technologies or prodi
that are important to the Company's growth; avditgtof qualified personnel; the loss of any sificant customers; and other factors both
referenced and not referenced in this Report. Wisexd in this Report, the words "estimate," "proje@nticipate,” "expect," “intend,"
"believe," and similar expressions are intendeidéntify forward-looking statements.
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PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
GENERAL

The Company, a New York corporation establishet9ig5, and its subsidiaries, are engaged in thelal@went, manufacture, sale and
distribution of generic drugs and active pharmacauingredients ("APIs"). A generic drug is thesahical and therapeutic equivalent of a
brand-name drug for which patent protection hasreslpA generic drug may only be manufactured aoid & patents (and any additional
government-granted exclusivity periods) relatinghte brand-name equivalent of the generic drug leapé&ed. A generic drug is usually
marketed under its generic chemical name or untbeared name developed by the generic manufacflineough its strategic alliance with
Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("Watson"), as desdriielow, the Company sells its generic drug prtedueder the Watson name for
distribution by Watson to drugstore chains and dvhiglesalers. In addition, the Company intendsitectly market and sell its generic drug
products under its own name or that of a wholly-ed/subsidiary commencing in the second quarte®082While subject to the same
governmental standards for safety and efficacysasrandname equivalent, a generic drug is usually soll@ice substantially below that
its brand-name equivalent.

APIs, also known as bulk chemical products, arel is¢he development and manufacture of finisheshde pharmaceutical products. The
development and sale of APIs generally is not saltgethe same level of regulation as is the dgyrakent and sale of finished dosage
products. As a result, APIs may be brought to maskbstantially sooner than finished dosage praduct

The Company manufactures its products at faciliiedew York and Indiana. During the last severdng, the Company has sought to
diversify its businesses through strategic acqaisitand alliances and through the developmergatirtologies for the synthesis and
production of APIs intended for sale to third pestas well as for use by the Company and othe@samaterials in the manufacture of
finished drug forms. The Company's primary emphiasikis regard, and for which the Company is cotting the substantial majority of the
Company's resources and sources of available apitae development of novel opiate synthesisrtetogies which the Company expect:
use in the manufacture of APIs and finished dogaigducts indicated for pain management.

We file annual, quarterly and current reports, pretatements and other information with the Seimsriatnd Exchange Commission (the
"SEC"). These filings are available to the pubkeothe Internet at the SEC's web site at http:imsec.gov. You may also read and copy
document we file at the SEC's public reference rabdb0 Fifth Street, N.W., Washington, D.C. 2058@ase call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-
0330 for further information on the public refererroom.

Our principal Internet address is www.HalseyDrugmcdVe make available free of charge on www.Halseglrom our annual, quarterly and
current reports and amendments to those reportaasas reasonably practicable after we electbipifile such material with, or furnish it
to, the SEC. In additional, you may request a aaffihese filings (excluding exhibits) at no costvagting or telephoning us at the following
address or telephone number:

Halsey Drug Co., Inc. 695 No. Perryville Rd. Crimdeldg. 2 Rockford, Illinois 61107 Attn: InvestoeRtions (815) 399-2060
RECENT EVENTS
DEBENTURE OFFERING

On December 20, 2002, the Company consummatedat@offering of securities for an approximate &gaite purchase price of
$26,394,000 (the "Offering"). The securities issirethe Offering consisted of
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5% convertible senior secured debentures (the "Dtebes"). The Debentures were issued by the Comparspant to a certain Debenture
Purchase Agreement dated December 20, 2002 (theH&se Agreement”) by and among the Company, CapédC Investments Il, LP
("Care Capital"), Essex Woodlands Health Venturet.?. ("Essex"), Galen Partners Ill, L.P. and eafthe purchasers listed on the
signature page thereto (collectively, the "2002 &wdbre Investor Group").

Of the $26,394,000 in Debentures issued in theridffeapproximately $15,894,000 of Debentures vigseed in exchange for the surrender
of a like amount of principal and accrued intermsistanding under Company's 10% convertible prasnyssotes issued pursuant to various
working capital bridge loan transactions with GaRartners Ill, L.P., Galen International Ill, L.&alen Employee Fund lIll, L.P.
(collectively, "Galen™) and certain other lendetsring the period from August 15, 2001 through anduding December 20, 2002.

The Debentures, issued at par, will become dugawdble as to principal on March 31, 2006. Inteoesthe principal amount of the
Debentures, at the rate of 5% per annum, is payabkequarterly basis. With the exception of thé&&weures issued to Care Capital, interest
on the Debentures will be paid by the Companylsaisse of a debenture instrument substantially idainio the Debentures issued in the
Offering, in the principal amount equal to the aext interest for each quarterly period (the "lraeEebentures”). Debentures issued to Care
Capital provide that fifty percent (50%) of theargst payments under such Debentures will be matisf cash with the balance satisfied by
Company's issuance of Interest Debentures.

The Debentures issued to each of Care Capital asexEare convertible at any time after issuanceshares of the Company's Common
Stock, $.01 per value per share (the "Common Sjo@kie Debentures issued to Galen and the othestoxs in the Offering (excluding Care
Capital and Essex) are convertible at any time #fie approval of the Company's shareholders ahdrdareholders of an amendment to the
Company's Certificate of Incorporation to incredsauthorized shares of Common Stock from 80,d@Ddhares to such number of shares as
shall provide sufficient authorized shares to pethe conversion of such Debentures and Companystamding convertible securities, as
provided in the Purchase Agreement. Subject tddiegjoing, the Debentures are convertible intoeshaf Common Stock at a price per st
(the "Conversion Price") of $.34. Until such tineethe Company completes a Subsequent Materiali©fféas defined below) the Convers
Price is subject to adjustment, from time to titeeequal the consideration per share received & tmpany for its Common Stock, or the
conversion/exercise price per share of the Compa@gymmon Stock issuable under rights or optionshfepurchase of, or stock or other
securities convertible into, Common Stock ("Conidet Securities"), if lower than the then appli@klonversion Price. Following the
Company's completion of a Subsequent Material @ffeithe Conversion Price is subject to adjustnfiemh time to time on a weighted-
average dilution basis. A "Subsequent Material @ffg' is the grant or issuance of Common Stock eny@rtible Securities by the Company
during any six month period for an aggregate goassideration of at least $10,000,000. The ConwerrBrice is also subject to adjustment to
give effect to additional Debentures, if any, tivaty be issued under the Purchase Agreement ahd event of a subsequent recapitalization
of the Company's outstanding common stock purchaseants issued to Galen in prior debenture ofgriand in consideration for various
bridge loans to the Company.

The Interest Debentures are convertible at any &fteg issuance into shares of Common Stock aica per share equal to the average of the
closing bid and asked prices of the Common Stockhie twenty (20) trading days immediately precgdime applicable interest payment date
under the Debentures, as reported by the Over-thawér ("OTC") Bulletin Board.

Assuming the conversion of the Debentures at tii@liConversion Price of $.34 per share, the Délnes are convertible into an aggregate
of approximately 77,629,000 shares of the Compadgiamon Stock.

The Purchase Agreement provides that the holdeteedDebentures shall have the right to vote aisgbar single class with all holders of the
Company's Common Stock on all matters to be votelyosuch stockholders. Each Debenture holder bhat such number of votes as shall
equal the number of votes he would have had if sudtier converted the entire outstanding princgmabunt of his Debenture into shares
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of Common Stock immediately prior to the recordedaating to such vote; provided, however, thgt@abentures held by Care Capital
shall, for so long as they are held by Care Cagitale no voting rights. The Purchase Agreementmigvided for the execution of a
Debentureholder Agreement providing the holderhefDebentures with veto rights relating to certaaterial Company transactions.

The Debentures are secured by a lien on all ass#te Company, tangible and intangible. In additieach of Houba, Inc. and Halsey
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., each a wholly-owned suhsidiithe Company, has executed in favor of the22Débenture Investor Group an
Unconditional Agreement of Guaranty of the Compsuayligations under the Purchase Agreement. Eaeha@ty is secured by all assets of
such subsidiary, and, in the case of Houba, Inca tmortgage lien on its real estate. In additibe,Company has pledged the stock of each
such subsidiary to the 2002 Debenture Investor @Btodurther secure its obligations under the PasehAgreement.

In accordance with the terms of a Subordinationeggrent dated December 20, 2002 between the Comip@nlyolders of the Debentures,
the holders of the Company's 5% Convertible SeBenured Debentures issued pursuant to that c&&banture and Warrant Purchase
Agreement (the "1998 Purchase Agreement") betweeiCompany, Galen and other signatories theretedddarch 10, 1998 (the "Galen
Group Debentures"), the holders of the Company'SCaftvertible Senior Secured Debentures issued antsa that certain Debenture and
Warrant Purchase Agreement (the "1999 PurchasecAtwgnt") between the Company, Oracle Strategic €ath.P. and other signatories
thereto, dated May 26, 1999 (the "Oracle Group bebes" and together with the Galen Group Debentuhe "Existing Debentures"), and
Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("Watson"), the l@mshe Company's and its Subsidiaries' assets lhasve payment priority of the
Debentures are (i) subordinate to the Companyisdil payment obligations in favor of Watson urtlerCompany's Loan Agreement with
Watson pursuant to which Watson has made a termttothe Company in the principal amount of $21,881 (as amended, the "Watson
Loan Agreement"), and (ii) senior to the Compaligis and payment obligations in favor of the hofdef the Existing Debentures in the
aggregate principal amount of approximately $50,928. In addition to the subordination of the liemsl the payment priority of the Existing
Debentures in favor of the Debentures issued irOfiering, as part of the completion of the Offgrimach of the holders of the Galen Group
Debentures and the Oracle Group Debentures agremddnd the maturity date of the Existing Debeggifrom March 15, 2003 to March 31,
2006.

As part of the closing of the Offering, the Watdaran Agreement was amended to (i) extend the ntatdaite of the Watson Loan Agreem
from March 31, 2003 to March 31, 2006, (ii) incredise interest rate from prime plus two and oné4tcent (2.5%) to prime plus four and
one-half percent (4.5%), and

(iii) increase the principal amount of the Watsar Loan from $17,500,000 to $21,401,331 to reflleetinclusion of approximately
$3,901,331 owed by the Company to Watson undeodugt supply agreement between the parties. Inidersion for the amendment to the
Watson Loan Agreement, the Company issued to Watsdommon Stock Purchase Warrant exercisable f@000665 shares of the
Company's Common Stock (the "Watson Warrant"). Watson Warrant has a term expiring December 319 20@ an exercise price of $.
per share.

As part of the completion of the transactions comgiated in the Purchase Agreement, the Companyucomsited the terms of a Warrant
Recapitalization Agreement dated December 20, 20@2"'Recapitalization Agreement”) between the Canypand certain holders of an
aggregate of 8,145,736 Common Stock Purchase Waiissued by the Company (i) pursuant to the 1998Hase Agreement (the "1998
Warrants"), (ii) pursuant to the 1999 Purchase Agrent (the "1999 Warrants"), and (iii) pursuantaoous bridge loan transactions during
the period from 1998 through 2002 (the "Bridge L&darrants" and collectively with the 1998 Warraatsl 1999 Warrants, the
"Recapitalization Warrants"). As part of the clgsof the Recapitalization Agreement, the warrardbs a party thereto surrendered to the
Company for cancellation the Recapitalization Watsan exchange for the issuance of an aggregdig@f,083 shares of the Company's
Common Stock.



OPIATE SYNTHESIS TECHNOLOGIES

Halsey has developed internally both an opiatetsmi synthesis process which the Company belipr@gdes an efficient and cost-effective
alternative to the extraction of morphine and cnddiom raw opium (the "IMP Process"), and an alitx development synthesis route fol
manufacture of other pain management products'ftkes Synthesis Process", and together with the Bvidtess, collectively the "Opiate
Synthesis Technologies"). To date, the Companyshesessfully completed laboratory-scale proof efoept testing on each of the IMP
Process and the New Synthesis Process. The Complopntinue the development of the IMP Procesd tire New Synthesis Process,
including the construction of pilot and commeraeahle manufacturing facilities within existing Coamy manufacturing facilities, with the
expectation of manufacturing opiate-derived APIg finished dosage pain management products irutieef.

Each of the Opiate Synthesis Technologies are mreekesses intended to be more efficient and dfesttere methods of deriving APIs to be
used in the manufacture of finished dosage pairagement products by substantially reducing the &ingk steps required to produce the
desired API as well as the waste product relatinguch production. It is the Company's expectatioprepare and file patent applications
covering each of the IMP Process and the New Sgigtlirocess. No assurance can be given, howeaeg thatent will be issued on any of
the Opiate Synthesis Technologies.

The development of the Opiate Synthesis Technadogdgenonstrates the Company's continuing effortlet@lop and manufacture APIs and
finished dosage products with an emphasis on paimagement products. The Company estimates thataheet for pain management
products in the United States is approximately #ibb and is growing at approximately 20% per ydaraddition to its development efforts
relating to the Opiate Synthesis TechnologiesQbmpany is a party to agreements with Watson (Reeént Events -- Strategic Alliance"
below) providing for Watson's right to negotiate &osupply of select APIs currently in developmamd to be developed by the Company. It
is the Company's intention to continue its focugpam management products by developing APIs immrating the Opiate Synthesis
Technologies and other technologies developednaligrby the Company or licensed from third part®sch development efforts may be
performed solely by the Company or in partnershif third-party manufacturers. It is the Comparggpectation to use such APIs in the
Company's own manufacture and sale of finishedgipharmaceutical products as well as to sell 8irlls to third parties.

The development, marketing and sale of pain manageproducts incorporating the Opiate Synthesidhfelogies is subject to extensive
regulation by the U.S. Drug Enforcement Administnat("DEA") and the U.S. Food and Drug Administoatti("FDA"). The Company's API
manufacturing facility located in Culver, IndiarsaDEA approved to manufacture Schedule 11 to V malgd substances (the "Manufacturing
Registration™). In order to continue the developtraerd ultimate commercialization of the Opiate &sis Technologies, the Company has
filed for DEA approval to import raw poppy directisom India and Turkey to be used in the CompaAPsdevelopment and manufacturing
efforts (the "Import Registration"). At presentetGompany believes that only three manufacturetiseérUnited States possess such import
registrations.

The Company's application for an Import Registratias published in the Federal Register on Septef)001. Within the 30 day period
provided under DEA guidelines, three parties, idoig the two companies that represent the largasbiters of narcotic raw materials used
to manufacture controlled substances, requestedudny to formally object to the Company's reqdi@stn Import Registration. In their
hearing request, the objecting parties oppose &'®issuance to the Company of an Import Registrain various grounds, including that
the Company's application be stayed pending ttautsn of three (3) pending import registratioquests from other parties, that the
issuance of an Import Registration to the Comparsy/the potential for increasing the prices for aicaaw materials from foreign sources as
a result of increased demand from U.S. manufactutieat the Company lacks the experience, techgpfmysonnel and capital to process
narcotic raw materials, and that the competitiothenmarketplace for pain management productsdgte.
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The Company's hearing before the Office of Admiaiste Law Judge ("OALJ") relating to its Import gistration application is expected to
be held in the third quarter of 2003. The Compastimeates that a ruling by the OALJ will occur dyrithe first quarter of 2004 . No
assurance can be given that the Company's Impgis®Ration application will be approved by the DEXs part of the DEA's analysis as to
whether the issuance of an Import RegistratioméoGompany is appropriate, the DEA will considenpag other things, whether adequate
security safeguards and controls exist at the Cogip&ulver, Indiana facility and at all pointstive chain of transfer of the raw poppy from
suppliers in India and Turkey to the Company's €ufacility, whether the Opiate Synthesis Techni@sg@re viable and efficient processes,
whether market demand for pain management produgisorts the approval of another import source vemether the Company has
established itself as an eligible party to sourm @btain raw poppy supplies from foreign sourdése Company is currently making the
necessary upgrades to its Culver, Indiana faalitgt establishing points of supply in foreign masketmeet these DEA requirements.

The development and commercialization of APIs anidlied dosage products incorporating the Opiatdti&gis Technologies are subject to
various factors, many of which are outside the Camyfs control. Specifically, the Opiate Synthessfihologies have been tested only in
laboratory settings and will need to be successfigltaled up” in order to be commercially viablewdich no assurance can be given.
Additionally, the Company must satisfy, and conéiia maintain compliance with, the DEA's requiretadar the maintenance of its
Manufacturing Registration and the issuance andt@aance of the Import Registration. Even assurtiagCompany can satisfy the DEA's
requirements in this regard, no assurance canvea giat the Company will prevail in any hearingthwhe OALJ at which third-party
manufacturers already possessing import registraitiall object to any proposed issuance by the DEthe Import Registration to the
Company. The process of seeking the Import Regjstrand contesting opposition proceedings, as agthe continuing development of the
Opiate Synthesis Technologies, will likely contirtheough 2004. The Company is currently unablertwidle any assurance that the Opiate
Synthesis Technologies will be commercially viabtehat the Company will succeed in obtaining apdn Registration. The Company is
committing the substantial majority of its resows,cavailable capital and cash flow from operatimnthe development of the Opiate Synth
Technologies and to the receipt of the Import Regfi®n. The failure of the Company to successfdityelop the Opiate Synthesis
Technologies or to obtain the Import Registratidh iave a material adverse effect on the Compamgésations and financial condition. The
Company's cash flow and limited sources of avadldilancing make it uncertain that the Company halve sufficient capital to continue to
fund operations or to otherwise complete the depraknt of the Opiate Synthesis Technologies, toimb&guired DEA approvals and to fund
the capital improvements necessary for the manufacf APIs and finished dosage products incorfragahe Opiate Synthesis
Technologies. See Item 7. "Management's DiscussidnAnalysis of Financial Condition and Result©gpkrations -- Liquidity and Capital
Resources" for a discussion of the Company's neeadditional financing and estimated capital regmients for the development of the
Opiate Synthesis Technologies, for the receiptBARpprovals and for improvements to its manufactufacilities.

STRATEGIC ALLIANCE WITH WATSON

On March 29, 2000, the Company completed variaagegic alliance transactions with Watson Pharmigeads, Inc. ("Watson"). The
transactions with Watson provided for Watson's pase of the Company's then pending ANDA for doxliogccapsules USP, 50 mg and
100 mg (the "doxycycline ANDA"), for Watson's righb negotiate for Halsey to manufacture and supgttain identified future products to
be developed by Halsey, for Watson's marketingsael of the Company's core products and for Watssxiension of a $17,500,000 term
loan to the Company.

The product acquisition portion of the transactiaith Watson provided for the Company's sale ofggeding doxycycline ANDA and
related rights (the "Product") to Watson for anragate consideration of $13,500,000 (the "Prodwcfulsition Agreement"). The final
installment of the purchase price for the Prod@i35 million was paid by Watson to the CompanyJaly 10, 2001. As part of the execut
of the Product Acquisition Agreement, the Compang Watson executed ten year supply agreementsingube API and finished dosage
form of the Product pursuant to which Halsey, at&va's discretion, will
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manufacture and supply Watson's requirements éoPtloduct API and, where the Product APl is soufaad the Company, finished dosage
forms of the Product.

The Company and Watson also executed a rightsifriggotiation agreement providing Watson withrst fight to negotiate the terms under
which the Company would manufacture and supplyagespecified APIs and finished dosage productsetdeveloped by the Company. The
right of first negotiation agreement provides thpbn Watson's exercise of its right to negotiatetie supply of a particular product, the
parties will negotiate the specific terms of thenofacturing and supply arrangement, including precelusivity, minimum purchase
requirements, if any, territory and term. In theWatson does not exercise its right of firstaigion upon notice from the Company, ol
the event the parties are unable to reach agreemehe material terms of a supply arrangementinglao such product within sixty (60)
days of Watson's exercise of its right to negofiatesuch product, the Company may negotiate vhittdtparties for the supply, marketing
sale of the applicable product. The right of firegotiation agreement has a term of ten yearsesutyj extension in the absence of written
notice from either party for two additional pericafsfive years each. The right of first negotiategreement applies only to API and finished
dosage products identified in the agreement and doeotherwise prohibit the Company from develgpils or finished dosage products
for itself or third parties.

The Company's strategic alliance with Watson atswigdes for Watson's extension of the Watson TegarlLto the Company. The Watson
Term Loan is secured by a first lien on all of @@mpany's assets, senior to the lien securingtadirdCompany indebtedness and carries a
floating rate of interest equal to prime plus faud one-half percent (4.5%). On December 20, 2@2WVatson Loan Agreement was
amended to increase the principal amount of the fean $17,500,000 to $21,401,331 reflecting thausion of the Company's payment
obligations to Watson under the Core Products Sufsgteement between the parties (see below). Aseaember 31, 2002, the entire
principal amount available under the Watson TerrarLbad been advanced to the Company. The net pioé®en the term loan have, in
large part, been used to upgrade and equip then@RUfacturing facility of Houba, Inc. located inl@er, Indiana, the Company's wholly-
owned subsidiary, to upgrade and equip the Comp&@uyngers, New York leased facilities, to satigipraximately $3,300,000 in bridge
financing provided by Galen Partners and for wagkiapital to fund continued operations.

The Company and Watson also executed a manufagtanid supply agreement providing for Watson's ntargeand sale of the Company's
existing core products portfolio (the "Core Produstipply Agreement"). Pursuant to the terms ofxbee Products Supply Agreement,
Watson was required to purchase and pay for orageqly basis a minimum of $3,060,000 for prodwtipplied by the Company under such
Agreement. For the three quarters ending Decenthe2®0, Watson made an advance payment to the &ongf approximately $4,402,0
as required under the terms of the Core Produgipl$greement to be applied against future proguethases under such Agreement. The
advance payments and any additional advance pagmede by Watson under the Core Products Supplgehgent will require that the
Company supply Watson with a like amount of prodweithout additional payments from Watson at surciet On August 8, 2001, the
Company and Watson executed an amendment to tlieeRZoducts Supply Agreement (the "Core Productsnsiment") providing (i) for a
reduction of Watson's minimum purchase requiremizais $3,060,000 to $1,500,000 per quarter, (if)do extension of Watson's minimum
purchase requirements from the quarter ending 8dye30, 2001 to quarter ending September 30, 2002,

(iii) for Watson to recover previous advance paytmmenade under the Core Products Supply Agreemeheiform of the Company's
provision of products having a purchase price ofa$750,000 per quarter (such credit amount tmlexcess of Watson's $1,500,000
minimum quarterly purchase obligation), and

(iv) for the Company's repayment to Watson of aamaining advance payments made by Watson undé&dteeProducts Supply Agreement
(and which amount has not been recovered by prathisteries by the Company to Watson as provide8lihsection (iii) above) in two (2)
equal monthly installments on October 1, 2002 andexhber 1, 2002. As part of the completion of tlenPany's Offering of Debentures (as
described above under the caption "Debenture @fféyi on December 20, 2002, the Company and Wdtstimer amended the Core
Products Supply Agreement to provide for the Comgsasatisfaction of its outstanding payment oblga to Watson of approximately
$3,901,331 under such Agreement by the



transfer of such payment obligation to the printgraount of the Watson Loan Agreement. As a consecg, the Watson Loan Agreement
was amended to increase the principal amount ofMaeson Term Loan from $17,500,000 to $21,401,884addition, the maturity date of t
Watson Loan Agreement was extended from March 8B 20 March 31, 2006.

ACQUISITION OF PRODUCT ANDAS

On April 16, 1999, the Company completed an actjaisagreement with Barr Laboratories, Inc. ("Baptoviding for the Company's
purchase of the rights to 50 pharmaceutical prad(ibe "Barr Products"). Under the terms of theu@ition agreement with Barr, the
Company acquired all of Barr's rights in the BanwdRicts, including all related governmental appteyamcluding ANDAS) and related
technical data and information. In considerationtfie acquisition of the Barr Products, the Compiaayed to Barr a common stock purchase
warrant exercisable for 500,000 shares of the Coyipaommon stock having an exercise price of £5q&r share (the fair market value of
the Common Stock on the date of issuance) and aviarm of five years. The acquisition agreemadtit ®arr also allows Barr to purchase
any of the Barr Products manufactured by the Compama period of five years.

The Barr Products acquired by the Company wereiqusly marketed by Barr, prior to its decision taagegically refocus its generic product
portfolio several years ago. While the Barr Prodwtiver a broad range of therapeutic applicatiodsase the subject of approved ANDAS,
the Company will be required to obtain approvaifrthe FDA to permit manufacture and sale of anthefBarr Products, including site
specific approval. The Company initially has idéatl 8 of the products for which it will devote sténtial effort in seeking approval from
FDA for manufacture and sale. The Company estinthtgscertain of these Barr Products will be adddeor sale in the fourth quarter of
2003, although no assurance can be given thatfaimg @arr Products will receive FDA approval oatlif approved, that the Company will
be successful in the manufacture and sale of skortupts. It is the Company's intention to contitmevaluate the remaining Barr Product:
an ongoing basis to assess their prospects for epamization and likelihood of obtaining regulat@pproval.

PRODUCTS AND PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT
GENERIC FINISHED DRUG PRODUCTS

The Company historically has manufactured and adicbad range of prescription and over-the-cowieg products. The Company's
pharmaceutical product list currently includestaltof approximately 26 products, consisting ofd@@age forms and strengths of prescription
drugs and 6 dosage forms and strengths of ovecdhater drugs. Each dosage form and strength aftacplar drug is considered in the
industry to be a separate drug product. The Compalnyg products are sold in various forms, inalgdiquid and powder preparations,
compressed tablets and two-piece, hard-shelledisps

Most of the generic drug products manufacturecheyGompany can be classified within one of theofeihg categories:
1. Antibiotics,

2. Narcotic analgesics,

3. Anti-infective and anti-tubercular drugs,

4. Antihistamines and antihistaminic decongestants,

5. Antitussives, or

6. Steroids

During fiscal 2002, sales of antibiotics and naicahalgesics accounted for approximately 75% opneduct sales during such year. The
Company anticipates that sales of antibiotics ardatic analgesics will continue to represent aificant portion of the Company's revenue.
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The Company's development strategy for new drudymis has been to focus on the development ofadbrange of generic form drugs,
each of which (i) has developed a solid market ptecee with a wide base of customers, (ii) candi@ an a profitable basis notwithstanding
intense competition from other drug manufacturang (iii) is no longer under patent protection. TBmmpany has also diversified its current
product line to include some less widely prescribadys as to which limited competition might be ested.

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002Ctmpany received 21 ANDA amendments consistingroflucts transferred from other
Company locations and submitted 16 ANDA supplementmendments to the FDA. During fiscal 2003, @leenpany anticipates the
submission of 10 ANDA supplements or amendmentsed-DA. The supplements and amendments relatettransfer of existing ANDAs
from the Company's Brooklyn, New York facility (a@hich operations were discontinued in March 2001js Congers facility as well as the
transfer of certain ANDAs obtained from Barr Laktorées. Although the Company has been successfelcieiving ANDA approvals since
its release from the FDA's Application Integritylieg list in December 1996, there can be no assigraimat any newly submitted ANDAS, or
supplements or amendments thereto or those cordédib be submitted, will be approved by the FDAe Company will not be permitted
to market any new product unless and until the FIpAroves the ANDA relating to such product. Failwrebtain FDA approval for the
Company's pending ANDAs, or a significant delaguitomitting for or obtaining such approval, wouldadely affect the Company's
business operations and financial condition.

Development activities for each new generic drugfpct begin several years in advance of the patgiitation date of the brand-name drug
equivalent. This is because the profitability ofeav generic drug usually depends on the abilitthefCompany to obtain FDA approval to
market that drug product upon or immediately atterpatent expiration date of the equivalent braahe drug. Being among the first to
market a new generic drug product is vital to thaitability of the product. As other off-patentudy manufacturers receive FDA approvals on
competing generic products, prices and revenuésaiypdecline. Accordingly, the Company's abilityattain profitable operations will, in
large part, depend on its ability to develop arttbituce new products, the timing of receipt of FB@proval of such products and the number
and timing of FDA approvals for competing products.

While the Company will continue the developmenit®finished goods pharmaceutical business, inolydhe rehabilitation of the product
ANDAs acquired from Barr, the Company will dedicttte substantial majority of its resources to tkgamsion and enhancement of its
operations devoted to the development and manutaoftAPIs and finished dosage products incorpogatihe Opiate Synthesis
Technologies. See "Recent Events -- Opiate Syrgfiesthnologies”.

ACTIVE PHARMACEUTICAL INGREDIENTS

As discussed above under the caption "Opiate Sgigtiechnologies", in the last few years, the Camggaas increased its efforts to develop
and manufacture APIs, also known as bulk chemigadyrcts. The development and sale of APIs geneistpt subject to the same level of
regulation as is the development and sale of dradyzts. Accordingly, APIs may be brought to markdbstantially sooner than drug
products. Although the Company did not generatemaes from the sale of API's in fiscal 2002 ithis Company's expectation that its
strategic alliance with Watson and the continuecetimment of the Opiate Synthesis Technologiesaahner API development efforts, in
addition to assisting in the expansion of the Camyfsaline of finished dosage products, will genera&venues from the sale of products using
internally produced APIs starting in the fourth gaaof 2003 and such revenue segment will likalyréase thereafter as a percentage of total
revenue.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

The Company currently conducts research and dewadnpactivities at each of its Congers, New Yor#t @ulver, Indiana facilities. The
Company's research and development activities sopsimarily of the development of the Opiate Sysik Technologies, including the
development for sale of new chemical products aedievelopment of APIs, as well as new generic graduct development efforts and
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manufacturing process improvements. New drug priodiecelopment activities are primarily directecdanducting research studies to
develop generic drug formulations, reviewing arslitgy such formulations for therapeutic equivaletecbrand name products and additional
testing in areas such as bioavailability, bioeqgieinee and shelf-life. For fiscal years 2002, 2006d 2000, total research and development
expenditures were $1,517,000, $1,327,000 and $08Q1respectively. During 2003, the Company'saeseand development efforts will
cover finished dosage products and APls in a wad&therapeutic applications, with an emphasipaim management products.

As of March 31, 2003, the Company maintained atfoike staff of 9 in its Research and Developmendgnent.
MARKETING AND CUSTOMERS

The application of the FDA Application Integrity IRy list to the Company's operations until Decemb@96, combined with the Company's
continuing operating losses and lack of adequat&iwg capital during fiscal 1997 and the first gearof 1998 resulted in the Company's
inability to maintain sufficient raw materials afidished goods inventories to permit the Compangdiively solicit customer orders, and
when orders were received, to fill such orders gotyn Following the completion in March 1998 of tbffering with Galen Partners (the
"Galen Offering") pursuant to the 1998 Purchasee&grent, new management adopted a marketing stritegsed on developing and
maintaining sufficient raw materials and finishaxbds inventories so as to permit a targeted séfied by the Company to a core customer
group, with an emphasis on quality, prompt prodigtivery and excellent customer service.

The strategic alliance with Watson entered intdvtamch 29, 2000 provided for the Company's core petalportfolio to be sold by Watson's
sales force under Watson's label. Accordingly ofelhg its alliance with Watson, the Company discargd its own sales efforts of these
products. In an effort to increase the sales offbmpany's core products, the Company intendsdmbearketing such products under its
own label or that of a wholly owned subsidiary coamzing in the second quarter of 2003. In additmaales of the Company's core prodt
the Company continues to perform limited contraahofacturing of certain non-core products for ofslesrmaceutical companies.

During 2002, 85% of the Company's total producereies were derived from sales to Watson pursuahet@ore Products Supply
Agreement between the Company and Watson (See HREgents -- Strategic Alliance with Watson"). TBempany believes that the loss of
this customer would have a material adverse effe¢dhe Company. During 2001 and 2000, 86% and $8%pectively of the Company's tc
product revenues were derived from sales to Wadsmmmaceuticals.

The estimated dollar amount of the backlog of ader future delivery as of March 31, 2003 was agpnately $1,233,000 as compared v
approximately $5,200,000 as of March 31, 2002. dtyh these orders are subject to cancellation, geament expects to fill substantially all
orders by the second and third quarter of 2003.ddweease in the Company's backlog as of MarcR@E13 compared to that for the
comparable date in 2002 is largely a function oféased manufacturing output at the Company's Csnjew York facility allowing for the
filling of open orders on a more timely basis.

GOVERNMENT REGULATION
GENERAL

All pharmaceutical manufacturers, including the @amy, are subject to extensive regulation by tredeFa government, principally by the
FDA, and, to a lesser extent, by state and loce¢gonents. Additionally, the Company is subjectxtensive regulation by the U.S. Drug
Enforcement Agency ("DEA") as a manufacturer oftonlied substances. The Company cannot prediotttent to which it may be affected
by legislative and other regulatory developmentsceoning its products and the healthcare industnegally. The Federal Food, Drug, and
Cosmetic Act, the Generic Drug Enforcement Act @92, the Controlled Substance Act and other Fedéaitites and regulations govern or
influence the testing, manufacture, safe labekorage, record keeping, approval, pricing, adsidi, promotion, sale and
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distribution of pharmaceutical products. Noncompdia with applicable requirements can result indjmecall or seizure of products, criminal
proceedings, total or partial suspension of pradaceind refusal of the government to enter infapbp contracts or to approve new drug
applications. The FDA also has the authority tmkevapprovals of new drug applications. The ANDAgldevelopment and approval
process now averages approximately eight monthsdgears. The approval procedures are generadifycand time consuming.

FDA approval is required before any "new drug," thlee prescription or over-thesunter, can be marketed. A "new drug" is one eoegally
recognized by qualified experts as safe and effedtr its intended use. Such general recognitiostrhe based on published adequate and
well controlled clinical investigations. No "newudly" may be introduced into commerce without FDArappl. A drug which is the "generic”
equivalent of a previously approved prescriptiomgdalso will require FDA approval. Furthermore, ledosage form of a specific generic
drug product requires separate approval by the RB#eneral, as discussed below, less costly amel tonsuming approval procedures may
be used for generic equivalents as compared tmtiovative products. Among the requirements foigdapproval is that the prospective
manufacturer's methods must conform to the cuBaad Manufacturing Practice Regulations ("CGMPEGMPs apply to the manufacture,
receiving, holding and shipping of all drugs, whestbr not approved by the FDA. CGMPs must be folldwat all times during which the dr
is manufactured. To ensure full compliance witmdgads, some of which are set forth in regulatitims Company must continue to expend
time, money and effort in the areas of productiod quality control. Failure to so comply risks dedan approval of drugs, disqualification
from eligibility to sell to the government, and pidde FDA enforcement actions, such as an injuncigainst shipment of the Company's
products, the seizure of noncomplying drug produwatsl/or, in serious cases, criminal prosecutitte TCompany's manufacturing facilities
are subject to periodic inspection by the FDA.

In addition to the regulatory approval process,Gloenpany is subject to regulation under Federatesind local laws, including requirements
regarding occupational safety, laboratory practieesironmental protection and hazardous substemctol, and may be subject to other
present and future local, state, Federal and foneigulations, including possible future regulasiarfithe pharmaceutical industry.

DRUG APPROVALS
There are currently three ways to obtain FDA apako¥ a new drug.

1. New Drug Applications ("NDA"). Unless one of theocedures discussed in paragraph 2 or 3 belawaigable, a prospective manufactt
must conduct and submit to the FDA complete clinstadies to prove a drug's safety and efficacyddition to the bioavailability and/or
bioequivalence studies discussed below, and msstsalbmit to the FDA information about manufactgnimactices, the chemical make-up of
the drug and labeling. Some of the products argteigh to be developed by the Company which will ipocate the Opiate Synthesis
Technologies may require the filing of an NDA. T# clinical testing required for the preparatiand filing of an NDA requires the
expenditure of substantial resources. The Compalhjikely need to collaborate with a third-party fund the preparation and filing of an
NDA. There can be no assurance that any such cofisibn will be available on terms acceptable ®@ompany, if at al

2. Abbreviated New Drug Applications ("ANDA"). THarug Price Competition and Patent Term Restoraticinof 1984 (the "1984 Act")
established the ANDA procedure for obtaining FDAmyal for those drugs that are off-patent or whesglusivity has expired and that are
bioequivalent to brand-name drugs. An ANDA is saniio an NDA, except that the FDA waives the reguient of conducting complete
clinical studies of safety and efficacy, althougmay require expanded clinical bioavailability &rdioequivalence studies. "Bioavailabilil
means the rate of absorption and levels of conagaitr of a drug in the blood stream needed to medutherapeutic effect. "Bioequivalence"
means equivalence in bioavailability between twagdoroducts. In general, an ANDA will be approvediyaupon a showing that the generic
drug covered by the ANDA is bioequivalent to theypously approved version of the drug,

i.e., that the rate of absorption and the levelsoofcentration of a generic
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drug in the body are substantially equivalent twsthof a previously approved equivalent drug. Thirecfpal advantage of this approval
mechanism is that an ANDA applicant is not requieedonduct the same preclinical and clinical stedb demonstrate that the product is
and effective for its intended use.

The 1984 Act, in addition to establishing the ANPfocedure, created new statutory protections fpramd brand-name drugs. In general,
under the 1984 Act, approval of an ANDA for a génerug may not be made effective until all prodact use patents listed with the FDA
for the equivalent brand name drug have expirdtboe been determined to be invalid or unenforcedlile only exceptions are situations in
which the ANDA applicant successfully challenges talidity or absence of infringement of the patmd either the patent holder does not
file suit or litigation extends more than 30 mondifier notice of the challenge was received bypdtent holder. Prior to enactment of the
1984 Act, the FDA gave no consideration to the miagéatus of a previously approved drug. Additibnainder the 1984 Act, if specific
criteria are met, the term of a product or usengatevering a drug may be extended up to five yeacompensate the patent holder for the
reduction of the effective market life of that pattdue to federal regulatory review. With respeatértain drugs not covered by patents, the
1984 Act sets specified time periods of two toytears during which approvals of ANDAs for generniags cannot become effective or, ur
certain circumstances, ANDAs cannot be filed if élygiivalent brand-name drug was approved after Dbee31, 1981.

3. "Paper” NDA. An alternative NDA procedure is yided by the 1984 Act whereby the applicant may ol published literature and more
limited testing requirements. While that alternatsometimes provides advantages over the ANDA pieg it is not frequently used.

GENERIC DRUG ENFORCEMENT ACT

As a result of hearings and investigations conoerilie activities of the generic drug industry a&melFDA's generic drug approval process,
Congress enacted the Generic Drug Enforcement fAt99P (the "Generic Drug Act"). The Generic Drugt&onfers significant new
authority upon the FDA to impose debarment and pimalties for individuals and companies who cotrgaitain illegal acts relating to the
generic drug approval process.

The Generic Drug Act requires the mandatory debatmiecompanies or individuals convicted of a feddéelony for conduct relating to the
development or approval of any ANDA, and givesHDEA discretion to debar corporations or individutas similar conduct resulting in a
federal misdemeanor or state felony conviction. FBé& may not accept or review during the periodiebarment (one to ten years in the .
of mandatory, or up to five years in the case ofgsive, debarment of a corporation) any ANDA sitted by or with the assistance of the
debarred corporation or individual. The GenericdpAct also provides for temporary denial of apptafageneric drug applications during
the investigation of crimes that could lead to datent. In addition, in more limited circumstanciss Generic Drug Act provides for
suspension of the marketing of drugs under apprgeseeric drug applications sponsored by affectedpamies. The Generic Drug Act also
provides for fines and confers authority on the FiDAvithdraw, under certain circumstances, appro¥al previously granted ANDA if the
FDA finds that the ANDA was obtained through fatsemisleading statements. As all of the Compargvemue is derived from the sale of
FDA approved products, the taking of any such adbypthe FDA would have a material adverse effacthe Company.

HEALTHCARE REFORM

Several legislative proposals to address the risoggs of healthcare have been introduced in Cesgird several state legislatures. Many of
such proposals include various insurance marketmef, the requirement that businesses providetheeltirance coverage for all their
employees, significant reductions in the growttiutfire Medicare and Medicaid expenditures, anagémt government cost controls that
would directly control insurance premiums and iadity affect the fees of hospitals, physicians atier healthcare providers. Such propao
could adversely affect the Company's businessrogng other things, reducing the
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demand, and the prices paid, for pharmaceuticalymts such as those produced and marketed by timp&ty. Additionally, other
developments, such as (i) the adoption of a naimethhealth insurance system or a single paydesys

(i) changes in needs-based medical assistancegmag or (iii) greater prevalence of capitated ®insement of healthcare providers, could
adversely affect the demand for the Company's ptsdu

ENVIRONMENTAL COMPLIANCE

In addition to regulation by the FDA and DEA, therpany is subject to regulation under Federalestat local environmental laws. While
the Company believes it is in material complianétapplicable environmental laws, continued comptie may require substantial capital
expenditures. The Company has budgeted approxiyr®3el0,000 in 2003 for the construction of a prdsucwaste tank system at its Culv
Indiana facility in order to comply with applicablaste discharge regulations.

COMPETITION

The Company competes in varying degrees with nuasecompanies in the health care industry, includitigr manufacturers of generic
drugs (among which are divisions of several maf@rmaceutical companies) and manufacturers of bnante drugs. Many of the
Company's competitors have substantially greatanfiial and other resources and are able to expenel money and effort than the
Company in areas such as marketing and productafeuent. Although a company with greater resouvadisiot necessarily receive FDA
approval for a particular generic drug before iiteBer competitors, relatively large research aedetbpment expenditures enable a company
to support many FDA applications simultaneouslgréivy improving the likelihood of being among thrstfto obtain approval of at least
some generic drugs.

One of the principal competitive factors in the gen pharmaceutical market is the ability to intiod generic versions of brand-name drugs
promptly after a patent expires. Other competitaeors in the generic pharmaceutical market aieepquality and customer service
(including maintenance of sufficient inventories fionely deliveries).

RAW MATERIALS

The raw materials essential to the Company's bssiage APIs purchased from numerous sources. Rasviaig are generally available from
several sources. The Federal drug application peoejuires specification of raw material supplifreaw materials from a supplier specif

in a drug application were to become unavailablemnmercially acceptable terms, FDA supplementpt@ml of a new supplier would be
required. During 2002, 2001 and 2000, the Compamghased approximately $1,264,000, $1,512,000 amB$,000, respectively, of its raw
materials (constituting 26%, 25% and 28% of eadr'geaggregate purchases of raw materials) fromsopplier. Although the Company is
now able to submit supplements to the FDA in otdeallow the Company to purchase raw materials fatternate sources, there can be no
assurance that if the Company were unable to aomtio purchase raw materials from this suppliet the Company would be successful in
receiving FDA approval to such supplement or thatduld not face difficulties in obtaining raw metds on commercially acceptable terms.
Failure to receive FDA approval for, and to locaeceptable alternative sources of raw materialddvioave a material adverse effect on the
Company. The Company experienced a shortage ofawanaterials in during 2002. These shortages atrexpected to continue in 2003.

The DEA limits the quantity of the controlled surste inventories of certain raw materials usedharmaceutical manufacturers in the
production of controlled substances based on listicsales data. As part of the Company commereititin of controlled substance products
the Company is required to file for and obtain q@drom the DEA for the purchase and use of cdettadlubstance raw materials. In view of
the Company's recently depressed sales volumd)BAyquotas obtained by the Company may have treeedf limiting such materials and
could increase the likelihood of raw material shges and of manufacturing delays in the event timagany experiences increased sales
volume or is required to find new suppliers of thesw materials.

14



As described under the caption "Recent EvenBpiate Synthesis Technologies", the Company igldging certain opiate technologies ta
used in the manufacture of controlled substandes.Jompany is also seeking to obtain an imporstegion from the DEA to import raw
poppy to be used in such development and manufagtafforts directly from third-party suppliers @piate producing countries. No
assurance can be given that the Company will beesstul in identifying and contracting with thirdspy suppliers in opiate producing
countries on commercially acceptable terms forGbenpany's requirements of raw materials to be irséd controlled substance
development and commercialization efforts.

SUBSIDIARIES

The Company's Culver, Indiana manufacturing openatare conducted by Houba, Inc., an Indiana catjwor and wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company. Halsey Pharmaceuticals, Inc., a®&te corporation, is a wholly-owned subsidiaryakhis currently inactive.

EMPLOYEES

As of March 31, 2003, the Company had approximatél full-time employees. Approximately 50 employ@ee administrative and
professional personnel and the balance are in ptmfuand shipping. Among the professional persbréhare engaged in research and
product development. Management believes thatitgions with its employees are satisfactory.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The Company leases, as sole tenant, a pharmadentioafacturing facility of approximately 35,000usge feet located at 77 Brenner Drive,
Congers, New York. The Agreement of Lease, witluaaffiliated third party, contains a three yeantevith a two year renewal option and
provides for annual fixed rent of $500,000 per yaaning the primary term of the Lease and $600@80year during the renewal period. The
term of the Lease expires on March 21, 2004. Tasdd facility houses a portion of the Company'sufeanturing operations and includes
office and warehouse space. The Lease also coraioption pursuant to which the Company may pigeltae leased premises and
improvements (including certain production andtedaequipment) for a purchase price of $5 milliexercisable at any time during the Lease
term.

Halsey leases, as sole tenant, a facility locatd@% Wells Avenue, Congers, New York. The Facitipntains office, warehouse and
manufacturing space and is approximately 18,00@rggieet. The Lease provides for a term of fourgyeath an option to renew for an
additional three years and provides for annuakfisent of approximately $127,000 per year durirggfttst two years of the Lease and
approximately $135,000 per year during the lastyears.

Halsey leases approximately 4,700 square feetfioeo$pace located at 695 North Perryville Road|ddwg No. 2, Rockford, lllinois. The
lease is between the Company and an unaffiliatezble The original lease term of two years expiadust 31, 2000. There are five opear
renewal options, which the last renewal period esxibire on August 31, 2005. The lease calls fouahrental, including maintenance and
common area expense, of approximately $46,000 ger. ¥his leased facility houses the Company'sjah executive offices, including its
sales, administration and finance operations.

The Company's Houba, Inc. subsidiary owns approéin@5,000 square feet of building space on agprately 30 acres of land in Culver,
Indiana, which includes a 15,000 square foot martufang facility. This manufacturing facility housseparate plants for the production of
certain raw materials as well as finished dosagduymts in capsule and tablet form.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Beginning in 1992, actions were commenced agaiesCompany and numerous other pharmaceutical matnoéas in connection with the
alleged exposure to diethylstilbestrol ("DES"). Tdefense of all of such matters was assumed bgdingpany's insurance carrier, and a
substantial number have been settled by
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the carrier. Currently, several actions remain pemaith the Company as a defendant, and the inseraarrier is defending each action. The
Company does not believe any of such actions aieha material impact on the Company's financiatitmn.

The Company is named as a defendant in an actiittedrAlfred Kohn v. Halsey Drug Co. in the Suprei@ourt of New York, Bronx
County. The plaintiff seeks damages of $1 millionlireach of an alleged oral contract to pay adfitsdfee for a business transaction
involving the Company. Discovery in this action legen completed. It is the Company's expectatiditetéor summary judgment in this
action. In the event the Company is unsuccessfis imotion for summary judgment, a trial on thisi@n will follow. The Company does not
believe this action will have a material impacttba Company's financial condition.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
No matters were submitted to a vote of securitglérd during the fourth quarter of 20t
PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY AND R ELATED SECURITY HOLDER
MATTERS
MARKET AND MARKET PRICES OF COMMON STOCK

Set forth below for the periods indicated are tigd land low bid price for the Company's Common Effoc trading in the Common Stock on
the OTC Bulletin Board as reported by the OTC Bull8oard.

BID PRICE*

PERIOD HIGH LOW
2001 Fiscal Year

First Quarter......cccooovvvvvvciiiiiieieeeenees 1.24 .69

Second QUarer....cccvveeeeeveeeeeeeeeieeeeeeeee 245 1.01

Third Quarter........ccccooovvvvvvciiiiiieeeees 341 1.81

Fourth Quarter........cooovvvviviiiieenes 35 151
2002 Fiscal Year

FirstQuarter........cccooovvvvvcvvvnieieeeeeees 24 15

Second QUarter....cccvveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeieeeeeeeee 275 1.3

Third Quarter........ccccoovevevvciiiiiieeeees 1.95 1.05

Fourth Quarter........cooovvvveviiiieeneee. 1.85 .68
2003 Fiscal Year

First Quarter........cccooovvvvvcvivniiieeeeeee. 1.09 .82

* Such over-the-counter market quotations reflatgr-dealer prices, without retail mark-up, markvdoor commission and may not
necessarily represent actual transactions.

HOLDERS

There were approximately 750 holders of recorchef@ompany's common stock on March 31, 2003. Tumsber, however, does not reflect
the ultimate number of beneficial holders of thar(pany's common stock.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The payment of cash dividends from current earnisgsibject to the discretion of the Board of Dices and is dependent upon many factors,
including the Company's earnings, its capital neetbits general financial condition. The termshaf Company's 5% convertible senior
secured debentures and the Loan Agreement withdWatohibit the Company from paying cash divideridee Company does not intend to
pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.
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RECENT SALES OF UNREGISTERED SECURITIES
During the quarter ended December 31, 2002, thegaosnissued the following securities which were negiistered under the Securities Act:

(i) 10% convertible promissory notes in the aggtegmaincipal amount $2,500,000 (the "Bridge NoteésS)ied to bridge lenders (the "Bridge
Lenders") on each of October 1, November 4, NoveriBeNovember 21, and December 5, 2002.

(i) Common Stock purchase warrants (the "Bridgefafats”) issued to the Bridge Lenders on each oblaar 1, November 4, November 12,
November 21, and December 5, 2002 exercisablenfaggregate of 168,554 shares of the Company's @on3tock at exercise pric
ranging from $1.28 to $1.77 per share;

(iii) 5% Convertible Senior Secured Debenturedhmaggregate principal amount of $26,394,000 ([Bebentures") on December 20, 2002.
The Debentures were issued in consideration fdr pasceeds of $10,500,000 and the surrender arcltation of Bridge Notes issued
during 2001 and 2002 in the aggregate principalamof $15,894,000. The Debentures are converiitdtethe Company's Common Stock
a price of $.34 per share; and

(iv) 5,970,083 shares of the Company's Common Sgstled on December 20, 2002 in exchange for constomk purchase warrants
exercisable for an aggregate of 8,145,734 sharteedfompany's Common Stock (the "Warrant RecapeShand together with the Bridge
Notes, the Bridge Warrants and the Debenturesaolkly, the "Securities"

Each of the holders of the Securities is an Acteeldinvestor as defined in Rule 501(a) of Regutabopromulgated under the Securities Act.
Each of the Securities was issued without registmainder the Securities Act in reliance upon $ecti(2) of the Securities Act and
Regulation D promulgated thereunder.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The selected consolidated financial data presemmétie following pages for the years ended Decer@beP002, 2000, 1999 and 1998 are
derived from the Company's audited Consolidatedréial Statements. The Consolidated Financial Seatés as of December 31, 2002 and
December 31, 2001, and for each of the years ithileeyear period ended December 31, 2002, and the répdon, are included elsewh
herein. The selected financial information as af &or the years ended December 31, 1999 and 1@98aaived from the audited
Consolidated Financial Statements of the Companypresented herein.

The information set forth below is qualified byeegnce to, and should be read in conjunction it Consolidated Financial Statements and
related notes thereto included elsewhere in thipoRend "ltem 7. Management's Discussion and Asiglyf Financial Condition and Results
of Operations."

YEA RS ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
(IN THOUSA NDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

OPERATING DATA:
Net product revenues............ $ 8,205 $16,9 29 $20,223 $11,420 $ 8,841
Operating Costs
Cost of manufacturing........... $12,535 14,8 57 18,743 15,316 12,712
Research and development........ $ 1,517 1,3 27 1,821 1,075 651
Selling, general and
administrative expenses....... $ 7216 6,6 16 6,208 7,383 8,078
Plant shutdown costs............ $ (126) 68 53 3,220
Interest expense................ $ 4,728 39 13 3,699 2,946 1,388
Interest income................. $ 15 69 662 95 103
Amortization of deferred debt
discount and private offering
(o0 1) TR $12,558 2,5 91 2,448 1,825 661
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YEA RS ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
(IN THOUSA NDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

Loss on extinguishments of

debt......cccovveiiiiien $ 11,985
Investment in joint venture..... $ - (2 02) (57) --
Other (income) expense.......... $ 3,248 ( 13) (101) (187) (1,822)
Loss before income tax

benefit........coeviiins $(45,441) (12,5 63) (12,043) (20,063) (12,724)
Income tax benefit.............. $ - - (389) - -
Net 10SS...ccovveveiiiaiiinne $(45,441) $(12,5 63) $(11,654) $(20,063) $(12,724)
Basic and diluted loss per

common share................. $ (298) $ (. 84) $ (.80) $ (1.40) $ (.92)

Weighted average number of
outstanding shares............ 15,262 15,0 22 14503 14,326 13,813

DECEMBER 31,

2002 2001 2000 1999 1998

(IN THOUSAN DS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)
BALANCE SHEET DATA:
Working capital

(deficiency)........c....... $ 5933 $ (8,2 76) $ (5,061) $(5,181) $(6,665)
Total assets........ccee.ee. $ 19,364 11,0 69 15,209 12,495 16,413
Total liabilities............. $ 31,632 76,5 05 68,558 54,869 45,366
Accumulated deficit........... $(146,942) (1015 01) (88,938) (77,284) (57,221)
Stockholders' equity

(deficit).....ccoverannnen. $(12,268) (65,4 36) (53,349) (42,374) (28,953)

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Certain statements set forth under this captiorstitoe "forward-looking statements” within the mesy of the Reform Act. See "Special
Note Regarding Forwa-Looking Statements" on page 2 of this Report fistiional factors relating to such Statements.

OVERVIEW

The Company reported a net loss of $45,441,00@ ®&8%per share for the year ended December 31, @0@@mpared to a net loss of
$12,563,000 or $.84 per share for 2001. Includetkirproduct revenues for 2001 was $8.5 millioa ¢dtal $13.5 million earned from
Watson Pharmaceuticals representing the sum cfgbend and the final payments for a product ANDW &y the Company to Watson in
March, 2000. Excluding the payments made by Watsdhe Company for a product ANDA, net revenuedlieryear ended December 31,
2001 representing product sales, were approxim&&K29,000.

The Company reduced its loss from operations b§32,000 to $12,937,000 in 2002 as compared to 32000 for 2001 after adjusting for
the $8,500,000 of product development revenuessdam?2001. This was achieved even after increiasesearch and development exper
and selling, general and administrative expensasg 002 of $190,000 and $600,000, respectively.

The Company had the following significant achievatsen 2002:
- Received approval from the DEA to manufactureeSictte Il to V controlled substances at the ComaBylver, Indiana facility.
- Completed a debenture offering in the principabant of approximately $26,394,000.

- Recapitalized common stock purchase warrantesadile for approximately 8,145,000 shares in exghdor approximately 5,970,000
shares of Common Stock.
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- Extended the maturity date of the Company's fean agreement with Watson from March 31, 2003 &rd¥1 31, 2006.

- Extended the maturity date of the Company's antiihg 5% Convertible Senior Secured Debenturéseimggregate principal amount of
approximately $50,723,000 from March 15, 2003 tadfe31, 2006.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
NET REVENUES

Net product revenues for 2002 of $8,205,000 reptese decrease of $224,000 in product sales asarechpo $8,429,000 in 2001 an
decrease of $8,500,000 in product development im&im 2002 as compared to 2001. The Company hrad@&&8,500,000 in product
development revenues from Watson in 2001 relatirthe Company's sale of a product ANDA to Watson.

Net product revenues for 2001 of $16,929,000 repmssa decrease of $3,294,000 as compared toawigirevenues for 2000. Net prod
revenues for 2001 are comprised of sales of predotdling $8,429,000 and revenues from productldgwment of $8,500,000. The
Company had $5,000,000 of product development tev@n2000. The decrease in sales of productsriswtable primarily to raw material
shortages required for the manufacture of two prtxdu

COST OF MANUFACTURING

The Company's cost of manufacturing for 2002 w&&94.6f net product sales versus 176% of net prosiales for 2001 after adjustment of
$8,500,000 for product development revenues in 208& improvement in 2002 is due primarily to trensition of both outside packaging
and laboratory services to internal departmentsing2001, the Company utilized both third partgleging operations and laboratory
services.

The Company's cost of manufacturing for 2001 imptbto 88% of net product sales versus 93% of reetymt sales for 2000. The
improvement in 2001 is due primarily to the additaf the $8,500,000 of product development revembe.development costs associated
with this revenue were substantially incurred iangeprior to 2000 and were expensed at that tile.cbst of manufacturing for 2001 on
product sales alone was 176% due primarily to urttdized productive capacity and the significamefil costs associated with pharmaceutical
production regardless of sales volume.

RESEARCH & DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES

For 2002, research and development expenses andaorfsd, 517,000 as compared to $1,327,000 for 206é.increase of $190,000 or 14%
reflects development expenses incurred on a nuofly@ojects including the development of the Conya@piate Synthesis Technologies.

For 2001, research and development expenses andaorfsé, 327,000 as compared to $1,821,000 for 2006.decrease of $494,000 or 27%
primarily reflects the absence of $500,000 in cassociated with licensing a codeine technologd0@0. Such codeine license agreement has
since been terminated by the Company.

The Company expects research and development eegotmsicrease in 2003 as compared to 2002 consigith its plans to develop and
manufacture APIs and finished dosage products rozating the Opiate Synthesis Technologies antédrré¢habilitation of certain product
ANDAs acquired from Barr.

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Selling, general and administrative costs were 1,00 (88% of net product revenue) for 2002 comgpan $6,616,000 (78% of net product
revenue) for 2001 after adjustment of $8,500,000raduct development revenues in 2001. This ineré&aprimarily due to added legal
expenses incurred for patent research and regylatatters associated with the DEA manufacturingiemubrt license registrations on
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the Opiate Synthesis Technologies, as well asa@se®in product marketing expenses and corporstieaince premiums.

Selling, general and administrative costs were BR0 (39% of net product revenue) for 2001 coegpén $6,208,000 (31% of net product
sales) for 2000. This increase is primarily duéhtvadded legal expenses associated with the CRyativesis Technologies.

INTEREST EXPENSE, NET OF INTEREST INCOME

Interest expense, net of interest income for 20@&ased by $869,000 or 22.6% over that of 200&atifg interest on Bridge Loan
borrowings under the Galen Bridge Loan Agreementiriy 2002, the Company borrowed an aggregate $02)B0 under the Galen Bridge
Loan Agreement.

Interest expense, net of interest income for 2@@feased by $807,000 or 26.6% over that of 2008atiig interest on borrowings under the
Watson Term Loan. During 2001, the Company borroareddditional $5,500,000 under the Watson TernnLoa

AMORTIZATION OF DEFERRED DEBT DISCOUNT, AND PRIVATE OFFERING COSTS

In 2002, 2001 and 2000 the Company issued warearttsncurred costs associated with private placésrand bridge financings. The value
of warrants issued in 2002, 2001, and 2000, asméted by use of the Black-Scholes valuation modek approximately $5,115,000,
$310,000, and $125,000 respectively. The Comparwyriad private offering costs of approximately $1,@00 in 2002. The private
placements and bridge financings included benéficiaversion features with an estimated fair valti§78,364,000 in 2002. The value of the
warrants, private offering costs, and beneficialvarsion features are being amortized over theofifihe underlying debentures and notes. In
conjunction with the December 2002 private placeneéthe remaining unamortized balance of privdferang costs from 1999 was written-
off. Amortization expense of deferred debt discaamd private offering costs was $12,558,000, $2(B%1, and $2,448,000 in 2002, 2001,
and 2000, respectively. At December 31, 2002, thinany recorded debt discount of $73,955,000 wiviltbe amortized to expense over
the remaining life of the related debentures thioMgrch 31, 2006.

Loss on Extinguishment of Debt

In 2002, the Company recorded a loss on the exshguent of debt of $11,985,000 which representdahesalue of 10,700,665 warrants t
the Company issued to Watson in consideration ak@res extension of the maturity date of the Wafsemm Loan.

Other Income (Expense)

In 2002, the Company recorded a charge to earmin$2,282,000 in connection with the issuance 826,083 shares of common stock in
exchange for 8,145,736 warrants. The Company elsarded a charge to earning of $863,000 as a mefstile modification of the terms of
certain outstanding warrants to purchase commaksto

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

At December 31, 2002, the Company had cash andezpshalents of $9,211,000 as compared to $422900@cember 31, 2001. The
Company had working capital of $5,933,000 at Decani, 2002.

In addition to the other strategic alliance tramisas with Watson completed on March 29, 2000,Gbenpany and Watson executed a Loan
Agreement providing for Watson's extension of a,$Q2@,000 term loan to the Company (the "Watson Tlesan"). On December 20, 2002,
the Company and Watson amended the Watson Termtbd@nincrease the principal amount of the Wat$emm Loan from $17,500,000 to
$21,401,331 to reflect the Company's then outstenpayment obligation of $3,901,331 to Watson uniderterms of the Company's Core
Products Supply Agreement with Watson, (ii) incestiee interest rate under the Watson Term Loan fsame plus 2.5% to prime plus 4.5
and (iii) extend the
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maturity date of the Watson Term Loan from March3&103 to March 31, 2006. The Watson Term Loarmdsiged by a first lien on all of the
Company's assets, senior to the liens securirggltadr Company indebtedness. The net proceeds d¥/#igon Term Loan were used in par
satisfy certain bridge loans made by Galen Partitiells.P. ("Galen") to the Company during 2000 satisfy Company's payment obligations
under the Settlement Agreement with the landloriisoBrooklyn, New York facility, to fund capitafiprovements and to fund the Compat
working capital requirements.

As described under Item 1, Recent Events-Debe@ife¥ing, on December 20, 2002, the Company coraglatprivate offering of 5%
convertible senior secured debentures (the "200&bBtares") in the principal amount $26,394,000 (tb#ering"). The 2002 Debentures
were issued pursuant to a certain Debenture Puedhgieement dated December 20, 2002 (the "Purdhgi@ement”) by and among the
Company, Care Capital Investments II, LP ("Careit@#ip, Essex Woodlands Health Ventures V, L.P.98&x"), Galen and each of the
purchasers listed on the signature page thereto.

The 2002 Debentures, issued at par, will becomeaddepayable as to principal on March 31, 200&r&dt on the principal amount of the
2002 Debentures, at the rate of 5% per annum yislp@ on a quarterly basis. With the exceptiorhef2002 Debentures issued to Care
Capital, interest will be paid by the Company'sié&tce of a debenture instrument substantially idainib the 2002 Debentures issued in the
Offering, in the principal amount equal to the aext interest for each quarterly period (the "lrgeEebentures”). The 2002 Debentures
issued to Care Capital provide that fifty perc&f%) of the interest payment under such 2002 Debesitvill be satisfied in cash with the
balance satisfied by the Company's issuance ofdst®ebentures.

The Debentures issued to each of Care Capital asexare convertible at any time after issuanceshares of the Company's Common
Stock. The 2002 Debentures issued to Galen anattiee investors in the Offering (excluding Care &d@mnd Essex) are convertible at any
time after the approval of the Company's sharemslded debentureholders of an amendment to the &uytgpCertificate of Incorporation to
increase its authorized shares of Common Stock 80/800,000 shares to such number of shares dgpsbwitle sufficient authorized shares
to permit the conversion of the 2002 DebenturestaedCompany's other outstanding convertible sgesriSubject to the foregoing, the 2002
Debentures are convertible into shares of CommoaokSit a price per share (the "Conversion Price$.84. Until such time as the Company
completes a Subsequent Material Offering (as défbedow) the Conversion Price is subject to adjestinfrom time to time, to equal the
consideration per share received by the Companigsf@ommon Stock, or the conversion/exercise graeshare of the Company's Common
Stock issuable under rights or option for the pasehof, or stock or other securities convertibte,ifommon Stock ("Convertible
Securities"), if lower than the then applicable Gension Price. Following the Company's completiba Subsequent Material Offering, the
Conversion Price is subject to adjustment from timgme on a weighted-average dilution basis. Ad&quent Material Offering” is the
grant or issuance of Common Stock or Convertibleutes by the Company during any six (6) monthiguefor an aggregate gross
consideration of at least $10,000,000. Assuming:thmersion of the 2002 Debentures at the init@h@rsion Price of $.34 per share, the
2002 Debentures are convertible into an aggredaapproximately 77,629,000 shares of Common Stock.

The Interest Debentures are convertible at anyéifteg issuance into shares of Common Stock atce per share equal to the average of the
closing bid and asked prices of the Common Stockhie twenty (20) trading days immediately precgdime applicable interest payment date
under the 2002 Debentures, as reported by the theeGounter ("OTC") Bulletin Board.

The Purchase Agreement provides that the holdetteed?002 Debentures shall have the right to veteaat of a single class with all holders
of the Company's Common Stock on all matters tedted upon by such stockholders. Each 2002 Debefmbiger shall have such number of
votes as shall equal the number of votes he woaNg had if such holder converted the entire oudétanprincipal amount of his 2002
Debenture into shares of Common Stock immediatety o the record date relating to such vote; fded, however, that any Debentures
initially held by Care Capital shall, for so long they are held by Care Capital, have no votintsig

21



The 2002 Debentures are secured by a lien onsdtasf the Company, tangible and intangible. ditawh, each of Houba, Inc. and Halsey
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., each a wholly-owned subsidiithe Company, has executed in favor of theléid of the 2002 Debentures an
unconditional agreement of guarantee of the Conipaligations under the Purchase Agreement. Eaalagtee is secured by all assets of
such subsidiary, and, in the case of Houba, Inca tmortgage lien on its Culver, Indiana real estht addition, the Company has pledged the
stock of each such subsidiary to the holders o20@2 Debentures to further secured its obligatiomder the Purchase Agreement.

In accordance with the terms of a Subordinationeggrent dated December 20, 2002 between the Comip@nyolders of the 2002
Debentures, the holders of the Existing DebentanesWatson, the liens on the Company's and itsdiabies' assets as well as the payment
priority of the 2002 Debenture are

() subordinate to the Company's lien and paymetgations in favor of Watson under the Watson Té&xan, and (ii) senior to the
Company's lien and payment obligations in favohafiers of the Existing Debentures in the aggrepgdteipal amount of approximately
$50,724,000.

Of the $26,394,000 in Debentures issued in therDffeapproximately $15,894,000 Debentures wengeidsn exchange for the surrender
like amount of principal and accrued interest an@ompany's outstanding 10% convertible promiseotgs issued pursuant to various
working capital bridge loan transactions with Gadenl the certain other lenders during the periothfAugust 15, 2001 through and
including December 20, 2002.

The development and commercialization of APIs anidlied dosage products incorporating the Opiatdt®gis Technologies are subject to
various factors, many of which are outside the Camyfs control. Specifically, the Opiate Synthesisfihologies have been tested only in
laboratory settings and will need to be successfigltaled up” in order to be commercially viablewiich no assurance can be given.
Additionally, the Company must satisfy, and conéiia maintain compliance with, the DEA's requiretadar the maintenance of its
Manufacturing Registration and the issuance anat@aance of the Import Registration. The proceseeking the Import Registration and
contesting opposition proceedings, as well as tmtirruing development of the Opiate Synthesis Teldgies, will likely continue through
2004. The Company is currently unable to providge assurance that the Opiate Synthesis Technolagielse commercially viable or that
the Company will succeed in obtaining the ImporgR&ation. The Company is committing the substdmtiajority of its resources, available
capital and cash flow from operations to the dgwalent of the Opiate Synthesis Technologies andeadceipt of the Import Registration.
The failure of the Company to successfully deveat@pOpiate Synthesis Technologies or to obtairriport Registration will have a mater
adverse effect on the Company's operations anddiabcondition. The Company's cash flow and lihig®urces of available financing make
it uncertain that the Company will have sufficieapital to continue to fund operations or to otieeacomplete the development of the Og
Synthesis Technologies, to obtain required DEA apgls and to fund the capital improvements necgdsathe manufacture of APIs and
finished dosage products incorporating the Opigtet®sis Technologies.

The Company has budgeted approximately $2,500/0Q003 for the continued development and commeézeid@dn of the Opiate Synthesis
Technologies. Of such amount, approximately $2@@Drelates to capital expenditures for facilitpnovements and the purchase of
equipment at the Company's Culver, Indiana faciigproximately $300,000 relates to capital expemnels for environmental compliance
waste discharge storage tanks at the Culver facditd approximately $200,000 relates to the lézzd and related expenses for the OALJ
hearing and third party opposition proceedingsannection with the Company's application for thepdm Registration. Until such time as
Company successfully develops and commercializesfimshed dosage products and APIs, of which tloarebe no assurance, the majority
of the Company's revenues are expected to be defriom the Core Products Supply Agreement with \&atsvith the balance of the
Company's revenues derived from a combination@fQbmpany's own selling efforts for the Compangi® products, which sales efforts
anticipated to commence in the second quarter @8 28nd the Company's manufacture of non-core tedar third parties. The Company
estimates that during 2003 and 2004, the Compalhgavitinue to incur operating losses and negatagh flow. The Company believes that
the net proceeds of the Debenture Offering comgleteDecember 20, 2002 will provide the workingitamecessary to fund operating
losses only through June 2003.
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At the Company's request, on May 5, 2003, the Campaceived a letter executed by each of Care @la@alen and Essex (the "Majority
2002 Debentureholders") advising that the Maja2id2 Debentureholders would provide funding to niieetCompany's 2003 capital
requirements, up to an aggregate amount not toeeb®8.6 million (the "Letter of Support"). The Lestof Support provides that the amour
any funding provided by the Majority 2002 Debenhglelers would be reduced to the extent of any fugdibtained by the Company from
third-party sources during 2003. The Letter of Supfurther provides that the terms of any fundimgvided by the Majority 2002
Debentureholders will be subject to negotiatiowaen the Company and the Majority 2002 Debentudshslat the time of any such
funding. The terms of any such funding will be sdbjto approval by those directors of the Compaay are unaffiliated with the Majority
2002 Debentureholders. While the terms of any fogdd meet the Company's 2003 capital requirermraetsurrently unknown, it is likely
that such terms will result in significant addite@dmilution to holders of the Company's Common 8tdic consideration for the issuance of
Letter of Support, the Company authorized the isseaf warrants to the Majority 2002 Debenturehddxercisable for an aggregate of
645,000 shares of the Company's Common Stock exentise price of $.34 per share (which is equinvtaie the conversion price of the 2002
Debentures), subject to downward adjustment tolghaaconsideration per share received by the Comfiar its Common Stock, or the
conversion/exercise price per share of the Compalgmmon Stock issuable under convertible secsritiea third party investment if lower
than the exercise price of the warrants.

The Company believes that the remaining net praceéthe 2002 Debenture Offering, along with theding to be provided under the Letter
of Support combined with cash flow from operationdl be sufficient to satisfy the Company's worginapital requirements through January
1, 2004.

Failure to obtain a third party investment or taale agreement with the Majority 2002 Debenturehsloa mutually acceptable terms to fund
the Company's capital requirements for 2003 widluiee the Company to (i) significantly curtail ptoed commercialization efforts, including
the development and commercialization of the Oftethesis Technologies, (ii) if available, obthinding through arrangements with
collaborative partners or others on terms that reguire the Company to relinquish certain rightgsrOpiate Synthesis Technologies, which
the Company could otherwise pursue on its ownhairwould significantly dilute the Company's stockiers, (iii) significantly scale back or
terminate operations, and/or (iv) seek relief urafgslicable bankruptcy laws. Any extended delaghitaining necessary financing will result
in the cessation of the Company's continuing deraknt efforts relating to its Opiate Synthesis Tedbgies and will have a material adve
effect on the Company's financial condition andiltssof operations.
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The following table presents the Company's expecésth requirements for contractual obligationstautting as of December 31, 2002:

DUE AS OF DUE AS OF
12/31/04  12/31/06
DUE AS OF AND AND DUE
TOTAL  12/31/ 03 12/31/05  12/31/07 THEREAFTER

(IN THOUSANDS)

debentures.................... $77,118 $ - - % - $77,118 $--
Term loan payable............... 21,401 - - - 21,401
Department of justice

settlement.................... 761 30 0 461
Capital leases.................. 73 3 3 40
Operating leases................ 1,068 84 4 224
Employment agreements........... 1,247 53 5 712

Total Contractual Cash
Obligations................... $101,668 $1,71

N

$1,437 $98,519 $--

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Financial Reporting Release No. 60, which was salddy the Securities and Exchange Commission ("BiE@ecember 2001, requires all
companies to include a discussion of critical aotiog policies or methods used in the preparatidinancial statements. Note A of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, asaoted in this Annual Report on Form-K, includes a summary of the Company's
significant accounting policies and methods usettiénpreparation of the financial statements. Bppring these financial statements, the
Company has made its best estimates and judgmiecgstain amounts included in the financial statataegiving due consideration to
materiality. The application of these accountintjgies involves the exercise of judgment and usassumptions as to future uncertainties
and, as a result, actual results could differ ftbese estimates. The Company does not believeithargreat likelihood that materially
different amounts would be reported under diffeniditions or using different assumptions. The @any's critical accounting policies are
as follows:

REVENUE RECOGNITION

The Company recognizes revenue, net of sales ditssamd allowances, when title to the product passeustomers, which generally occurs
upon shipment. The Company established sales jpoasifor estimated chargebacks, discounts, reba®sns, pricing adjustments and other
sales allowances concurrently with the recognitibrevenue. The sales provisions are establisheeldbapon consideration of a variety of
factors, including but not limited to, actual retumnd historical experience by product type, thalmer and timing of competitive products
approved for sale, the expected market for theympastimated customer inventory levels by prodoiite declines and current and
projected economic conditions and levels of contipeti Actual product return, chargebacks and otfadées allowances incurred are, however,
dependent upon future events.

Management continually monitors the factors thfiience sales allowance estimates and makes adjntrto these provisions when
allowances may differ from established allowances.

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE-TRADE AND ALLOWANCE ACCOUNTS

The Company's accounts receivable-trade are doedustomers engaged in the distribution of pharmméca products. Credit is extended
based on evaluation of a customers' financial ¢cmrdand, generally, collateral is not requiredcéints receivable are due within 30 days
and are stated at amounts due from customers adibafances for doubtful accounts, returns, tergealiints, and other allowances. Accounts
outstanding longer than the contractual paymenideare considered past due. Estimates that ararudetermining these allowances are
based on the Company's historical experience, mutmends, credit policy and a percentage of itdaats receivable by aging category. In
determining these percentages, the
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Company looks at the credit quality of its custorin@se as well as changes in its credit policies. Gmpany continuously monitors
collections and payments from its customers. Theaany writes off accounts receivable when they bexancollectible, and payments
subsequently received on such receivables aretedei bad debt expense.

INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or eftarkith cost determined on the first-in, first-dn#tsis. In evaluating whether inventory is
stated at the lower of cost or market, managemamgiders such factors as the amount of inventoryaomd, remaining shelf life and current
and expected market conditions, including levelsarfipetition. As appropriate, the Company recordsipions to reduce inventories to their
net realizable value.

INCOME TAXES

The Company accounts for income taxes under théitiamethod in accordance with Statement of FriahAccounting Standards No. 109
("SFAS No. 109"), "Accounting for Income Taxes."ddém this method, deferred tax assets and lialsildie determined based on differences
between financial reporting and tax bases of assetdiabilities and are measured using the endatethtes and laws that will be in effect
when the differences are expected to reverse. datiah allowance is established if it is more likdan not that all, or some portion, of
deferred tax assets will not be realized. The Caweas recorded a full valuation allowance to redite deferred tax assets to the amount
that is more likely than not to be realized. White Company has considered future taxable incoragsassing the need for the valuation
allowance, in the event the Company were to detezrthiat it would be able to realize its deferredassets in the future in excess of its net
recorded amount, an adjustment to the deferredsagt would increase income in the period suchrd@etation was made.

STOCK COMPENSATION

The Company accounts for stock-based compensatiog the intrinsic value method in accordance Witcounting Principles Board
Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Hayees" and related Interpretations ("APB No. 251y has adopted the disclosure
provisions of Statement of Financial Accountingri8i@rds No. 148, "Accounting for Stock-Based Comptaos -- Transition and Disclosure,
an amendment of FASB Statement No. 123" ("SFASINS8."). Under APB No. 25, when the exercise pricthefCompany's employee stock
options equals the market price of the underlytoglson the date of grant, no compensation expsnszognized. Accordingly, no
compensation expense has been recognized in tsel@ated financial statements in connection wittplyee stock option grants. If the
Company were to include the cost of stock-based@map compensation in the financial statementsCidwapany's operating results would
decline based on the fair value of the stock-baseployee compensation.

DEFERRED DEBT DISCOUNT

Debt discount resulting from the issuance of stwakrants in connection with the issuance of sulmarigid debt and other notes payable as
well as beneficial conversion features containecbinvertible debt instruments is recorded as aatastuof the related obligations and is
amortized over the remaining life of the relatetigatiions. Debt discount related to the stock waisassued is determined by a calculation
which is based on the relative fair values ascriloeslich warrants determined by an independenatialuor management's use of the Black-
Scholes valuation model. Inherent in the Black-$&hwoaluation model are assumptions made by maragamgarding the estimated life of
the warrant, the estimated volatility of the Comgamommon stock and the expected dividend yield.

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In July 2001, the Financial Accounting StandardsiBiq"FASB") issued Statement of Financial AccougtStandards No. 142, "Goodwill
and Other Intangible Assets." ("SFAS No. 142"). SHRo. 142
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requires that goodwill and intangible assets witleffinite useful lives no longer be amortized, instead be tested for impairment at least
annually in accordance with the provisions of S 142. SFAS No. 142 also requires that intanggisteets with definite useful lives be
amortized over their respective estimated usefeklito their estimated residual values, and reuvddi@eimpairment in accordance with
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No, 1&&counting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Ad¢s&nd for Long-Lived Assets to be
Disposed Of," as amended. The Company adopteddivisipns of SFAS No. 142 effective January 1, 200% adoption of SFAS No. 142
had no effect on the financial position or resofteperations of the Company.

In October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144 "Actimg for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-LivAdsets" ("SFAS No. 144").
SFAS No. 144 requires that long-lived assets besared at the lower of carrying amount or fair vadkss cost to sell, whether reported in
continuing operations or in discontinued operatjdreerefore, discontinued operations will no longemeasured at net realizable value or
include amounts for operating losses that have/@pbdccurred. SFAS No. 144 is effective for finaaitatements issued for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2001 and, generallig be applied prospectively. The adoption of SRS 144 had no effect on the
Company's financial position or results of openagio

In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145 ("FSH&. 145"), "Rescission of FASB statements No. 4add 64, Amendment of FASB
Statement No. 13, and Technical Corrections.” Stagement eliminates the requirement to reportgyaimd losses from extinguishment of
debt as extraordinary unless they meet the critériPB Opinion 30. SFAS No. 145 also requires $adseback accounting for certain lease
modifications that have economic effects that arélar to sale-leaseback transactions. The chargjated to lease accounting are effective
for transactions occurring after May 15, 2002 drald¢hanges related to debt extinguishment areteféefor fiscal years beginning after May
15, 2002. The impact of adopting the provisionateal to debt extinguishments during the year efmember 31, 2002. The adoption did
not have a material impact on the Company's fir@msition or results of operations.

In January 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretaiio. 46 ("FIN No. 46") "Consolidation of Variablleterest Entities.” In general, a
variable interest entity is a corporation, parthgrstrust, or any other legal structure used fasibess purposes that either (a) does not have
equity investors with voting rights or (b) has dgumnvestors that do not provide sufficient finaadaiesources for the entity to support its
activities. A variable interest entity often hofitsancial assets, including loans or receivableal estate or other property. A variable interest
entity may be essentially passive or it may engagetivities on behalf of another company. Untlny a company general has included
another entity in its consolidated financial stageis only if it controlled the entity through vagiimterests. FIN No. 46 changes that by
requiring a variable interest entity to be consatidl by a company if that company is subject tagrity of the risk of loss from the variable
interest entity's activities or entitled to receavenajority of the entity's residual returns ortbdiIN No. 46's consolidation requirements apply
immediately to variable interest entities createdayuired after January 31, 2003. The consolidagouirements apply to older entities in
first fiscal year or interim period beginning afteme 15, 2003. Certain of the disclosure requirgsnapply to all financial statements issued
after January 31, 2003, regardless of when thabirinterest entity was established. The Compasyadopted FIN No. 46 effective January
31, 2003. The Company does not anticipate thaadogtion of FIN 46 will have a material impact twe Company's consolidated financial
condition or results of operations taken as a whole

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

The Company's capital expenditures during 2002120@ 2000 were $287,000, $1,544,000 and $2,962r880ectively. The capital
expenditures during these periods is attributablapital improvements to the Company's CongersaNd Culver, Indiana facilities. In ord
for the Company to receive the Manufacturing Regiiin, specific improvements were made for seguanitd related items to the Culver,
Indiana facility. Additionally, expenditures wereade to significantly improve and expand the manuféeg capabilities of both Congers, |
locations. The Company has budgeted for capitatedijpures approximately $2,500,000 in fiscal 200ortion of such amounts will be
funded from the net proceeds of the Debenture Dffewith the balance from third party financinglte sought by the Company during 2C
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IMPACT OF INFLATION

The Company believes that inflation did not haweaderial impact on its operations for the pericglsorted. Significant increases in labor,
employee benefits and other expenses could hawaexial adverse effect on the Company's performance

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
The response to this item is submitted as a sepaeation of this Report commencing on page F-1.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTAN TS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
Not Applicable.

PART IlI
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE RE GISTRANT

THE DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY ARE AS FOLLOWS:

NAME AGE POSITION

Michael K. Reicher................... 56 Chairm an of the Board of Directors and Chief
Execut ive Officer

Vijai Kumar..........ccocoeeeenne 55 Chief Operations Officer

Peter A. Clemens.................... 50 Vice P resident, Chief Financial Officer and
Direct or

Bruce F. WessoN..........cccceee..... 60 Direct or

Alan Smith.......cccccoiiiiis 73 Direct or

William A. Sumner.................... 65 Direct or

William Skelly.........cccvvveeeens 52 Direct or

Srini Conjeevaram.................... 44 Direct or

Zubeen Shroff..........cccocueee. 38 Direct or

Joel D. Liffmann.............c....... 42 Direct or

Jerry Karabelas..................... 50 Direct or

Immanuel Thangaraj................... 32 Direct or

James Emigh........cccceeiieenne 46 Vice P resident -- Sales and Marketing

Phyllis A. Lambridis................. 40 Vice P resident -- Corporate Compliance

Carol Whitney...... ... 56 ViceP resident -- Administration

Robert Seiser.........cccccevvuueee. 39 Treasu rer and Corporate Controller

MICHAEL K. REICHER has been Chairman of the Boafdaectors since June 29, 2000 and Chief Execufiffecer and a Director of the
Company since February 19, 1998. In 1980, Mr. Reiébunded UDL Laboratories, Inc., a manufactufdiionan generic pharmaceuticals,
and served as its President through February 18%&bruary 1996, UDL Laboratories, Inc. was pusgthby Mylan Laboratories, Inc., and
Mr. Reicher remained in the office of Presideniljaining the Company in February 1998.

VIJAI KUMAR has been Chief Operations Officer oEtRompany since November 2002. From 1996 to 200XMmar was President &
CEO of Pharmalogix Inc., a pharmaceutical reseanthdevelopment company. From 1992 to 1996 Mr. Kunzes Director, Research and
Development for the Warner Chilcott Division of Vidar Lambert. In that capacity, he coordinatedeahnical aspects of the Division
responsible for cGMP compliance, formulation depetent, analytical development and clinical and gigealence studies. Mr. Kumar hol
B.Sc. in Chemistry from the University of Lucknolmdia, a D.Pharm. from the College of Pharmacy, Nomihi, an M.B.A. from Fairleigh
Dickinson University and an M.S. in Industrial Pimacy from Long Island University.

PETER A. CLEMENS has been the Vice President aridf@linancial Officer of the Company since Februa®d8 and a Director of the
Company since June 1998. From February, 1988 joimihg the Company, Mr. Clemens was employed byMa&hufacturing Co., Inc.

("TC™ which, through its various subsidiaries afidisions, manufactures generic pharmaceuticatijstrial coatings and flexible packaging.
Mr. Clemens was TC's President from February, 1888ugh February, 1998. Prior to that time, he hleédposition of Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer.

BRUCE F. WESSON has been a Director of the Comgamge March 1998. Mr. Wesson is President of GAlgsociates, a health care
venture firm, and a General Partner of Galen Pestiie L.P. Prior to
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January 1991, he was Senior Vice President and §flag®irector of Smith Barney, Harris Upham & Cocl, an investment banking firm.
He currently serves on the Boards of Witco Corporata publicly traded company, and several priyateld companies. Mr. Wesson earned
a degree from Colgate University and a Mastersusfifiess Administration from Columbia University.

ALAN J. SMITH, PH.D. has been a Director of the Gmany since 1995. Since 1991, Dr. Smith has beearsagement consultant
specializing in pharmaceutical quality managemeuality control, quality assurance and auditing, flood and Drug Administration's
Current Good Manufacturing Practice regulations tetinology training, documentary systems and ltaprogramming. From 1985 to
1991, he was Corporate Director of Quality affénsWhitehall Laboratories, a Division of Americ&tome Products Corporation. Dr. Smith
holds B.Sc. and Ph.D. degrees from the Univerdityomdon.

WILLIAM A. SUMNER has been a Director of the Compagince August 1997. From 1974 until his retiremart995, Mr. Sumner held
various positions within Hoechst-Roussel Pharmacaist Inc., a manufacturer and distributor of phaceutical products, including Vice-
President and General Manager, Dermatology Diviiom 1991 through 1995, Vice President, Strat®yisiness Development, from 1989
to 1991 and Vice President, Marketing from 198%389. Since his retirement from Hoechst-RoussetrRaeeuticals, Inc. in 1995, Mr.
Sumner has acted as a consultant to various erititifie pharmaceutical field.

WILLIAM SKELLY has been a Director of the Companynee May 1996 and served as Chairman of the ComfyanyOctober 1996
through June 2000. Since 1990, Mr. Skelly has skageChairman, President and Chief Executive Qffi€€entral Biomedia, Inc. and its
subsidiary SERA, Inc., companies involved in themah health industry including veterinary biologe@nd custom manufacturing of animal
sera products. From 1985 to 1990, Mr. Skelly seag®resident of Martec Pharmaceutical, Inc., @ilbigor and manufacturer of human
generic prescription pharmaceuticals.

SRINI CONJEEVARAM has been a Director of the Compaimce March 1998. Mr. Conjeevaram is Chief FinainOfficer of Galen
Associates, a health care venture firm, and a GéRartner of Galen Partners Ill, L.P. Prior toukay 1991, he was an Associate in
Corporate Finance at Smith Barney, Harris Uphama&16c. from 1989 to 1990 and a Senior Project Begi for General Motors
Corporation from 1982 to 1987. Mr. Conjeevaram ssr@s a Director of Derma Sciences, Inc., a pytiiaded company. He earned a
Bachelor of Science degree in Mechanical Engingdriom Madras University, a Masters of Science dedgn Mechanical Engineering from
Stanford University, and a Masters of Business Adstriation from Indiana University.

ZUBEEN SHROFF has been a Director of the Compamgesiune 1998. Mr. Shroff is a General Partneralé®GPartners Ill, L.P. He joined
Galen Associates, a health care venture firm, mudey 1997 from The Wilkerson Group, a leading ew of management consulting
services to the health care industry. Prior to Wikkerson Group, he worked for Schering-Plough ing&ional from 1989 to 1993 in a variety
of staff and line management positions and as bé&gheringPlough France's biotech franchise. Mr. Shroff reegia Bachelor of Science
Biological Sciences from Boston University in 198&d a Masters of Business Administration from Thigavton School in 1988. Mr. Shroff
serves as a Director of AmericasDoctor.com and Enbtedical Corporation.

JOEL D. LIFFMANN has been a Director of the Compaimce 1999. Mr. Liffmann is a General Partner cd¢le Partners, L.P. Prior to
joining Oracle Partners in 1996, Mr. Liffmann waen®r Vice President of Business Development atdk-Medco, Inc. Prior to such time,
Mr. Liffmann was Vice President/Business DeveloptragrMedco Containment Services and Vice PresideByuity Research and later was
Vice President of Corporate Finance at Drexel Bamti.ambert. Mr. Liffmann holds a degree from Bodtbriversity.

JERRY KARABELAS has been a Director of the Compaimgce December 2002. Mr. Karabelas was Head oftheak and CEO of
Worldwide Pharmaceuticals for Novartis AG from 1988il July 2000. Prior to joining Novartis, Mr. Kabelas was Executive Vice Presic
of SmithKline Beecham. From July 2000 until Decem®@01, Mr. Karabelas was the Founder and Chairofiéime Novartis Bio Venture
Fund. Since
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November 2001 he has been a Partner with CareaCapiC. Mr. Karabelas holds a Ph.D. in pharmacotiasefrom the Massachuse
College of Pharmacy and serves as a Director oéBkgrma Plc., Human Genome Sciences, Nitromed,ysreatd Renova.

IMMANUEL THANGARAJ has been a Director of the Compasince December 2002. Mr. Thangaraj has beenreailiag Director of

Essex Woodlands Health Ventures, a venture cdpitalspecializing in the healthcare industry, sid@97. Prior to joining Essex Woodlands
Health Ventures, he helped form a telecommunicagemwices company, for which he served as its Q®BOThangaraj also worked as an
Associate for ARCH Venture Partners, LP and margagire of its portfolio companies, a medical infotima technology company. Mr.
Thangaraj holds a Bachelor of Arts and a MasteBusiness Administration from the University of Cajo and serves as a Director of
iKnowMed Systems, Sound ID and CBR Systems.

JAMES EMIGH has been Vice President of Sales antkétang since November 2002. Mr. Emigh joined the®any in May, 1998, servit

first as Executive Director of Customer Relationd ghen as Vice President of Operations until Ndven2002. From 1991 until joining the
Company, Mr. Emigh was employed by Organon, Inpharmaceutical company, in various managementiposiand most recently as its

Director of Managed Care and Trade Relations. Muigh holds a Bachelor of Pharmacy from Washingt@ieSUniversity and a Masters of
Business Administration from George Mason Univegrsit

PHYLLIS A. LAMBRIDIS has been Vice President of @orate Compliance since March 19, 2001. From 1988 joining the Company,
Ms. Lambridis was employed by Schein Pharmaceutisal (subsequently acquired by Watson Pharmagagdstilnc. in 2000) as its Director,
Corporate Quality Standards, Policies & Systemant1t987 to 1998 Ms. Lambridis was employed by Batroratories, Inc. in a number of
quality and regulatory positions, most recenthpaector of Regulatory Compliance. Ms. Lambrididdwa Masters of Science in
Bacteriology from Wagner College and a BacheloAr$ in Microbiology from Rutgers College.

CAROL WHITNEY has been Vice President of Adminisima since April 1998. From 1992 until joining t@®mpany, Ms. Whitney served
as Director of Human Resources for UDL Laboratgties., a generic pharmaceutical manufacturer &xtat Rockford, lllinois.

ROBERT SEISER has been Corporate Controller andshirer since March 1998. From 1992 until joining @ompany, Mr. Seiser served as
Treasurer and Corporate Controller of TC Manufaotu€o., Inc., a privately held company based iafston, Illinois. Mr. Seiser is a
Certified Public Accountant and earned a B.B.A.rdegrom Loyola University of Chicago.

SECTION 16(A) BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP REPORTING COMRNCE

Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act 04188 amended, requires the Company's Directorgxerltive officers, and persons who
own beneficially more than ten percent (10%) of@mnmon Stock of the Company, to file reports ohevship and changes of ownership
with the Commission and, during the period in which Company's common stock was traded on the Aarebtock Exchange, the AMEX.
Copies of all filed reports are required to be fsined to the Company pursuant to Section 16(a)ed@aslely on the reports received by the
Company and on written representations from repgmersons, the Company believes that the Direataesutive officers and greater than
ten percent (10%) beneficial owners complied wittsaction 16(a) filing requirements during the yeaded December 31, 2002, except that
(i) a Form 3 filing requirement for Mr. Vijai Kumdollowing his appointment as the Company's Chipéfations Officer was filed late (ii) a
Form 4 filing requirement by each of Galen Partiby4 .P. and Galen Partners International Il1IPL,.each a beneficial owner of in excess of
10% of the Company's Common Stock, were filed lkaitel, (iii) a Form 3 filing requirement by Mr. Desmhdams, a beneficial owner of in
excess of 10% of the Company's Common Stock, hielseam filed to date.
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ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The following table sets forth a summary of the pemsation paid by the Company for services renderatl capacities to the Company
during the fiscal years ended December 31, 20021 20:d 2000 to the Company's Chief Executive Offécel the Company's next four most
highly compensated executive officers (collectivehe "named executive officers") whose total aheompensation for 2002 exceeded
$100,000:

SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE

LONG TERM COMPENSATION
ANNUAL CO MPENSATION -
------------------------------- SECURITIES
OTHER UNDERLYING
ANNUAL STOCK ALL OTHER
NAME AND PRINCIPAL POSITION YEAR SALARY BONU S COMPENSATION OPTIONS COMPENSATION

Michael K. Reicher....... 2002 $200,000 O -- - --

Chairman and Chief 2001 191,346 O -- -- --
Executive Officer 2000 175,000 O -- 100,000

Gerald F. Price()....... 2002 $163,654 0 -- -- --
President and Chief 2001 176,346 O -- -- --
Operating Officer 2000 49,846 O - 850,000

Peter A. Clemens......... 2002 $155,000 O -- -- -
Vice President and Chief 2001 149,807 O -- -- -
Financial Officer 2000 140,000 O -- 100,000

Phyllis A. Lambridis(2)... 2002 $166,006 0 - - -
Vice President -- 2001 115,384 O -- 75,000 --
Corporate Compliance

James Emigh.............. 2002 $139,565 O - - -
Vice President -- 2001 125,000 O -- 25,000 --
Operations 2000 125,000 O -- 90,000 -

(1) Mr. Price's services as President and Chief@jmg Officer ceased effective November 7, 2002
(2) Ms. Lambridis was appointed Vice Presidentergdrate Compliance effective March 19, 2001.
OTHER COMPENSATORY ARRANGEMENTS

Executive Officers and key employees participatméadical and disability insurance plans providedltmon-union employees of the
Company. The Company also provided automobilegtaim of its executive Officers. Although the Caany is unable to assign a precise
value to the possible personal benefit derived ftieenuse of the automobiles, the Company beligvats &s to each officer, such personal
benefit amount is less than the lesser of $6,00M®&6 of such officer's compensation reported aliiee Summary Compensation Table.

EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENTS

Michael K. Reicher is employed pursuant to an Emplent Agreement effective as of March 10, 1998 chtafter giving effect to
amendments dated May 24, 2000 and May 4, 2001jgasthat Mr. Reicher will serve as the CompanyigeCExecutive Officer for a term
expiring April 30, 2005. The Agreement provides &orannual base salary of $200,000 plus the payaiem annual bonus to be determined
based on the satisfaction of such targets, comditto parameters as may be set from time to tinthdoCompensation Committee of the
Board of Directors. No bonus was paid for fiscad20 The Employment Agreement also provides forgttamt of stock options on March 10,
1998 to purchase 1,000,000 shares of the Comp@oysnon Stock at an exercise price of $2.375 paedinaepresenting the closing price for
the Company's common stock as reported by the Aarei$tock Exchange ("AMEX") on the day precedirgdhant of the option), which
options vest in equal increments of 62,500 optlwaras at the end of each quarterly period duriegeim of the Agreement (as such vesting
schedule may be amended by mutual agreement between
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Mr. Reicher and the Board of Directors). The Empieynt Agreement also permits the Company to repsecttee vested portion of Mr.
Reicher's options upon his termination for causedfined in the Agreement) or his resignationépthan for "Good Reason" as defined
therein), at a purchase price equal to the positifference, if any, between the average of thesi@ip Price of the Company's common stock
for the five trading days prior to the date of teration or resignation, multiplied by the numbermgtion shares which, as of the date of
termination, are vested under the option. The Eymptnt Agreement contains standard termination gions, including upon death,
disability, for cause (as defined in the Agreemami) without cause. In the event the Employmeneagrent is terminated by the Company
without cause or by Mr. Reicher for Good Reasordédmed in the Agreement), the Company is requiogoiay Mr. Reicher an amount equal
to $350,000 or twice his then base salary, whichesvgreater, payable in 24 equal monthly instafiteeand to continue to provide Mr.
Reicher coverage under the Company's then exibgngfit plans, including medical and life insurgrfoe a term of 24 months. The
Employment Agreement permits Mr. Reicher to terrrerthe Agreement in the event of a change of cbatrd for Good Reason (as defined
in the Agreement). The Agreement also restrictsRéicher from disclosing, disseminating or usingHis personal benefit or for the benefit
of others confidential or proprietary informaticas(defined in the Employment Agreement) and, pexithe Company has not breached the
terms of the Employment Agreement, from competiiittp the Company at any time prior to two yearsrate earlier to occur of the
expiration of the term and the termination of higpéoyment.

Peter A. Clemens is employed pursuant to an Empdoyragreement effective as of March 10, 1998, whifthr giving effect to amendmer
dated June 28, 2000 and May 4, 2001, providesMhaClemens will serve as the Company's Vice Peaggidnd Chief Financial Officer for a
term expiring April 30, 2005. The Employment Agremmhprovides an annual base salary of $155,000tp&ipayment of an annual bonus to
be determined based on the satisfaction of sugletsrconditions or parameters as may be deternfiosdtime to time by the Compensation
Committee of the Board of Directors. No bonus waisl fior fiscal 2002. The Employment Agreement gdsavides for the grant of stock
options on March 10, 1998 to purchase 300,000 stafrthe Company's common stock at an exercise pfi§2.375 per share, which options
vest in equal increments of 25,000 option sharéiseaénd of each quarterly period during the tefithe Employment Agreement (as such
vesting schedule may be amended by mutual agreeshhit Clemens and the Board of Directors). Thaa@ing terms of Mr. Clemens'
Employment Agreement with the Company are substiytdentical to that of Mr. Reicher.

Vijai Kumar is employed pursuant to an Employmegtéement effective as of November 18, 2002, whidviges that Mr. Kumar will

serve as the Company's Chief Operations Officeafiarm expiring November 18, 2004. The Employnfeggreement provides an annual
base salary of $180,000 plus the payment of anafianus to be determined based on the satisfagtisuch targets, conditions or
parameters as may be determined from time to tiyrtbd Compensation Committee of the Board of DoectThe Employment Agreement
also provides for the grant of stock options on &mber 18, 2002 to purchase 400,000 shares of thgn@uy's common stock at an exercise
price of $1.125 per share, which options vest uma¢ncrements of 100,000 annually. The Employnfegreement permits the Company to
repurchase the vested portion of Mr. Kumar's ogtigpon his termination for cause (as defined inAtheeement) or his resignation, at a
purchase price equal to the positive differencanif, between the average of the closing prica@fdompany's common stock for the five
trading days prior to the date of termination aigaation, multiplied by the number of option sksandich, as of the date of termination, are
vested under the option. The Employment Agreementains standard termination provisions, includipgn death, disability, for cause (as
defined in the Agreement) and without cause. Th@layment Agreement also provides that in the ewéatchange of control (as defined in
the Agreement), if Mr. Kumar's employment with tBempany is terminated without cause, he is entitheltis base salary for the lesser of (i)
the remaining term of the Agreement, and (ii) orary The Agreement also restricts Mr. Kumar frosthtising, disseminating or using for
his personal benefit or the benefit of others atenitial or proprietary information (as definedlie tAgreement) and, provided the Company
has not breached the terms of the Employment Ageegrfrom competing with the Company at any timemto one year after the earlier to
occur of the expiration of the term and the termiaraof his employment.
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COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS

Directors who are employees of the Company reagivadditional or special remuneration for theivgas as Directors. Directors who are
not employees of the Company receive an annuat gfayptions to purchase 10,000 shares of the Cagipaommon stock (15,000 share:
the case of the Chairman of the Board) and $50@doh meeting attended ($250 in the case of tefeplnaeetings). The Company also
reimburses Directors for travel and lodging expsngeny, incurred in connection with attendancBa@ard meetings. Directors who serve on
any of the Committees established by the Boardifdibrs receive $250 for each Committee meetitended unless held on the day of a
Board meeting.

STOCK OPTION PLANS

The Company currently maintains two stock opticamgladopted in 1995 and 1998, respectively. Thepaagnin the past has used, and will
continue to use, stock options to attract and mekay employees in the belief that employee stackership and stock-related compensation
devices encourage a community of interest betwewiayees and shareholders.

The 1995 Stock Option Plan. In September 1995Ctmapany established the 1995 Halsey Drug Co. Staxk Option and Restricted Stock
Purchase Plan (the "1995 Stock Option Plan™). Utlter1 995 Stock Option Plan, the Company may grptibns to purchase up to 1,000,(
shares of the Company's Common Stock. IncentivekSdptions ("ISO's") may be granted to employeethefCompany and its subsidiaries
and nongqualified options may be granted to employeescthirs and other persons employed by, or perforreargices for, the Company &
its subsidiaries. Subject to the 1995 Stock Opfitam, the Stock Option Committee determines thegmerto whom grants are made and the
vesting, timing, amounts and other terms of suemizr An employee may not receive ISO's exercisatday one calendar year for shares
with a fair market value on the date of grant iness of $100,000. No quantity limitations applytte grant of non-qualified stock options.

As of March 31, 2003, ISO's to purchase 689,81 8shand non-qualified options to purchase 257, 7@0@es have been granted under the
1995 Stock Option Plan, leaving 52,407 shares aviailfor grant under the Plan. The average peedhaarcise price for all outstanding
options under the 1995 Stock Option Plan is appnaiely $1.44. No exercise price of an ISO was sletsa than 100% of the fair market
value of the underlying Common Stock, except fangs made to any person who owned stock possessirggthan 10% of the total voting
power of the Company, in which case the exercigepras set at not less than 110% of the fair ntarkdkeie of the underlying Common
Stock.

The 1998 Stock Option Plan. The 1998 Stock Optian ®as adopted by the Board of Directors in Ap&98 and approved by the
Company's shareholders in June 1998. The 1998 &iptikn Plan was amended by the Board of DiredtoApril 1999 to increase the
number of shares available for the grant of optiomder the Plan from 2,600,000 to 3,600,000 shaies Company's shareholders ratified
Plan amendment on August 19, 1999. The 1998 Statlo®Plan was further amended by Board of DirectorApril, 2001 to increase the
number of shares available for grant of optionseurtde Plan from 3,600,000 to 8,100,000 shares Cidmpany's shareholders ratified the
Plan amendment on June 14, 2001. The 1998 StodkrOPlan permits the grant of incentive stock ami¢'1SO's") and non-qualified stock
options to purchase shares of the Company's Con8tank. As of March 31, 2003, ISO's to purchase 3,85l shares and non-qualified
options to purchase 1,562,466 shares have beetedrander the 1998 Stock Option Plan, leaving 4 B8lshares available for grant under
the Plan. The average per share exercise priclfoutstanding options under the 1998 Stock Opfitam is approximately $1.97. No
exercise price of an ISO was set at less than 1@Q%e fair market value of the underlying Commaac®, except for grants made to any
person who owned stock possessing more than 1QBe abtal voting power of the Company, in whichectse exercise price was set at not
less than 110% of the fair market value of the ulyd® Common Stock. Subject to the terms of th@8.Stock Option Plan, the Stock Opt
Committee determines the person's to whom graetsiade and the vesting, timing, amounts, and a¢ners of such grant. An employee
may not receive ISO's exercisable in any one caleyelar for shares with a fair market value ondhe of grant in excess of $100,000. No
guantity limitations applied to the grant of nonatjfied stock options.
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SECURITIES AUTHORIZED FOR ISSUANCE UNDER EQUITY COM PENSATION PLANS

The following table includes information as of Det®er 31, 2002 relating to the Company's 1995 S@jutkon Plan and 1998 Stock Option
Plan, which comprise all of the equity compensafitams of the Company. The table provides the nurabsecurities to be issued upon the
exercise of outstanding options under such pldmsweighted-average exercise price of such outstgraptions and the number of securities
remaining available for future issuance under sglity compensation plans:

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

NUMBER OF SECURITIES

NUMBER OF SECURITIES TO WEIGHTED-AVERAGE REMAINING AVAILABLE FOR

BE ISSUED UPON EXERCISE E XERCISE PRICE OF FUTURE ISSUANCE UNDER EQUIT Y

OF OUTSTANDING OPTIONS, OU TSTANDING OPTIONS, = COMPENSATION PLANS (EXCLUDI NG
PLAN CATEGORY WARRANTS AND RIGHTS WA RRANTS AND RIGHTS SECURITIES REFLECTED IN COLUMN  (A))

(A) (B) ©)
Equity Compensation
Plans Approved by
Security Holders... 5,008,950 $1.79 3,928,590
Equity Compensation
Plans Not Approved

by Security
Holders............ 0 0 0
TOTAL........... 5,008,950 $1.79 3,928,590

AGGREGATE OPTION EXERCISES IN LAST FISCAL YEAR
AND FISCAL YEAR END OPTION VALUES

No stock options were granted to or exercised byndmed executive officers during 2002. The foltayviable presents information regard
the value of options outstanding at December 30220r each of the named executive officers.

NUMBER O F SECURITIES VALUE OF UNEXERCISED
UNDERLYIN G UNEXERCISED IN-THE-MONEY OPTIONS
OPTIONS AT FISCAL YEAR END AT FISCAL YEAR END(2)

NAME EXERCISABLE UNEXERCISABLE EXERCISABLE UNEXERCISABLE

Michael K. Reicher.................... 1,225,000 200,000 $ - $ -

Gerald F. Price(1)....cccccccvveennn. 425,000 425,000 26,000 26,000

Peter A. Clemens............cc...... 487,500 137,500 - --

Phyllis Lambridis...........cccceeee.. 18,750 56,250 --

James Emigh..........ccccoiivinnnns 83,250 67,750 --

(1) Mr. Price's services as President and Chiet&jmg Officer ceased effective November 7, 2002.
(2) Value is based upon the average of the cldsidignd ask price of $.96 per share at Decembe2B12.
COMPENSATION COMMITTEE INTERLOCKS AND INSIDER PARTI CIPATION

The Company's Compensation Committee consistedestid. Wesson, Conjeevaram, Skelly and Reichemglfisical 2002. During 2002,
except for Mr. Reicher, the Company's Chairman@higf Executive Officer, there were no CompensaGommittee interlocks or insider
participation in compensation decisions.
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The following table sets forth information regamglithe beneficial ownership of the Common Stoclgfaspril 1, 2003 for individuals or
entities in the following categories: (i) each loé tCompany's Directors and nominees for Direct@yghe Chief Executive Officer and the
next four highest paid executive officers of ther@@any whose total annual compensation for 2002esbax $100,000 (the "named executive
officers™); (iii) all Directors and executive offics as a group; and (iv) each person known by dmpgany to be a beneficial owner of more
than 5% of the Common Stock. Unless indicated etlsey, each of the shareholders has sole votingraedtment power with respect to the
shares beneficially owned.

AMOUNT PERCENT
NAME OF BENEFICIAL OWNER OWNED(1) OF CLASS

Galen Partners lll, L.P. ovvvvvvveieieeeeeees 33,402,140(2) 61.8%
610 Fifth Avenue, 5th Floor
New York, New York 10020

Galen Partners International lll, L.P. ..cccccooc.. L 3,416,559(3) 14.0%
610 Fifth Avenue, 5th Floor
New York, New York 10020

Oracle Strategic Partners, L.P. .....ccooeeeeeee. Ll 9,262,797(4) 34.8%
712 Fifth Ave, 45th Floor
New York, New York 10019

Care Capital Investments Il, LP........ccccccceeee.. L. 14,705,882(5) 41.2%
c/o Care Capital, L.L.C.
Princeton Overlook One
100 Overlook Center, Suite 102
Princeton, New Jersey 08540

Essex Woodlands Health Ventures V, L.P. .......... ... 14,705,882(6) 41.2%
c/o Essex Woodlands Health Ventures V, L.L.C.
190 South LaSalle Street, Suite 2800
Chicago, lllinois 60603

Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. .......ccoocveeeeeeeee. L 10,700,665(7) 33.7%
311 Bonnie Circle
Corona, California 92880

Dennis Adams......ccoccevviiieeiniiiieeeeieeee 2,317,230(8) 10.4%
c/o Delaware Investment Advisors
One Commerce Square
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19103

Hemant K. Shah and Varsha H. Shah............... .. ... 1,748,403(9) 8.0%
29 Christy Drive
Warren, New Jersey 07059

Bernard Selz.....cccoccvviveiiiiiiiiieeee 872,957(10) 4.1%
c/o Furman Selz
230 Park Avenue
New York, New York 10069

Michael and Susan Weisbrot.........ccccocooceeeee. L 1,491,714(11) 6.9%
1136 Rock Creek Road
Gladwyne, Pennsylvania 19035

Michael K. Reicher.........ccoovevenicicnne L 1,559,074(12) 6.9%

William Skelly...... T, 200,000(13) *
Bruce F. WeSSON......cccovvvviiiiiiiiiiiiiieee -- *
Srini Conjeevaram......ccoceeevicieeeesiieees . - *
Alan J. Smith......ccoooiiiiiiiiiie. 108,530(14) *
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AMOUNT PERCENT

NAME OF BENEFICIAL OWNER OWNED(1) OF CLASS
William A. SUMNEr...cccoovvveiiiiiiiiiiieee 50,000(15) *
Zubeen Shroff.......ccoovvviiiiiiiiee - *
Peter A. Clemens........ccccovvveieniccneenneee 722,294(16) 3.3%
_— *

Joel D. Liffmann......ccccoccvevvcncnniciees
Jerry Karabelas.....
Immanuel Thangar
Phyllis Lambridis.......
James Emigh.......ccccooiiiiiiiiniine,

All Directors and Officers as a Group (17 persons).

_— *
56,250(17)  *
. 154,750(18) *
3,097,008(19) 13%

* Represents less than 1% of the outstanding sluditb® Company's Common Stock.

(1) The information with respect to Hemant K. Shald VVarsha H. Shah, Dennis Adams, Bernard SelMaclthel and Susan Weisbrot and
Watson Pharmaceuticals, is based upon filings thighCommission and/or information provided to ttwarpany.

(2) Includes (i) 18,524,915 shares issuable upowesion of 1998 Debentures and 1999 Debentui§$,483,034 shares issuable upon
exercise of 1998 Warrants and 1999 Warrants 51,500 shares issuable upon exercise of comtook purchase warrants issued in
connection with the 2001/2002 Galen Bridge Loaiv3,3,937,678 shares issuable upon conversion bebwires issued in lieu of quarterly
cash interest payments, and (v) 150,000 sharesdubjcurrently exercisable stock options.

(3) Includes (i) 1,966,652 shares issuable upowemion of 1998 Debentures and 1999 Debenturg¢$88,157 shares issuable upon exel
of 1998 Warrants and 1999 Warrants, (iii) 525,54&rss issuable upon exercise of common stock pseclvarrants issued in connection v
the 2001/2002 Galen Bridge Loans, and (iv) 418 #%es issuable upon conversion of Debenturesdssulieu of quarterly cash interest
payments.

(4) Includes (i) 7,122,508 shares issuable uponemion of the 1999 Debentures, and (ii) 1,227 didres issuable upon conversion of
Debentures issued in lieu of quarterly cash intggagments, and (iii) 30,000 shares subject toertily exercisable stock options.

(5) Includes 14,705,882 shares issuable upon csioveof 2002 Debentures.

(6) Includes 14,705,882 shares issuable upon csioveof 2002 Debentures.

(7) Includes 10,700,665 shares issuable upon eseofithe Watson Warrant.

(8) Includes 1,296,698 shares issuable upon coioveo$ 1998 Debentures and 1999 Debentures.
(9) Includes 916,403 shares issuable upon conveddi®998 Debentures and 1999 Debentures.
(10) Includes 512,714 shares issuable upon comreadi1l998 Debentures and 1999 Debentures
(11) Includes 679,726 shares issuable upon comrecdi1998 Debentures and 1999 Debentures.

(12) Includes (i) 266,502 shares issuable upon emin of 1998 Debentures,
(i) 62,213 shares issuable upon conversion of Delves issued in lieu of quarterly interest payraemtd (iii) 1,343,750 shares subject to
currently exercisable stock options.

(13) Includes 200,000 shares subject to currexidyasable stock options.

(14) Includes (i) 50,000 shares subject to curyestercisable Common Stock Purchase Options andiAj@52 shares issuable upon
conversion of Debentures.

(15) Includes 50,000 shares subject to currentiy@sable stock options.

(16) Includes (i) 211,821 shares issuable upon emin of 1998 Debentures,
(i) 35,678 shares issuable upon conversion of Delres issued in lieu of quarterly interest payragand (iii) 568,750 shares subject to
currently exercisable stock options.

(17) Includes 31,250 shares subject to currentiya@sgable stock option
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(18) Includes 109,750 shares subject to currextdya@sable stock options.

(19) Includes 3,723,126 shares which Directorsea@tutive officers have the right to acquire wittiie next 60 days through the conversion
of Debentures and the exercise of outstanding siptikns.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS

On March 10, 1998, the Company completed a prigHezing of securities (the "Galen Offering") to I&a Partners 1ll, L.P., Galen Partners
International, L.P., Galen Employee Fund Ill, L.@ollectively "Galen") and each of the purchadisted on the signature page to a certain
Debenture and Warrant Purchase Agreement (the "R88&hase Agreement") dated March 10, 1998 (ingdusf Galen, collectively the
"Galen Investor Group"). The securities issueca®alen Offering consisted of 5% convertible sesexured debentures (the "1998
Debentures") and common stock purchase warrargs'{#98 Warrants"). After giving effect to the Coamy's issuance of additional
debentures to Galen in satisfaction of interestpyts under the 1998 Debentures and the 1999 Deberdescribed below, as well as the
2002 Debentures issued to Galen in the 2002 Detwe@tfiering (as further described below), an aggte@f approximately 123,302,173
shares are issuable to Galen upon conversion sfamating convertible debentures and exercise stanting common stock purchase
warrants issued to Galen. See "ltem

12 -- Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owsiand Management."

Each of Messrs. Wesson, Conjeevaram and Shroff,baenof the Board of Directors, are designees@f3hlen Investor Group pursuant to
the terms of the 1998 Purchase Agreement whichigeesyamong other things, that the Company musimaimand appoint to the Board of
Directors, subject to shareholder approval, thessghees of the Galen Investor Group for 2003 tamoddesignees of the Galen Investor
Group thereafter, for so long as the 1998 Debestanel 1998 Warrants remain outstanding. Each osMe¥/esson, Conjeevaram and St
is a General Partner of Galen Associates, anafilbf each of the Galen entities included in tiaée@® Investor Group.

The Company secured bridge financing from Galencanthin other lenders in the aggregate principaunt of approximately $15,277,761,
funded through numerous bridge loan transactiomsglthe period from August 15, 2001 through Decenf002 (collectively, the
"2001/2002 Galen Bridge Loans"). Approximately 14,186 in aggregate principal amount of the 200022Galen Bridge Loans was
advanced by Galen with a balance of approximate87$75 advanced by certain members of the Galastar Group. As part of the clos
of the 2002 Debenture Offering, as defined andipiex)below, the Company issued 2002 DebenturesterGn the aggregate principal
amount $15,483,731 in exchange for the surrendarik® amount of principal and accrued intereshtbutstanding under the 10%
Convertible Promissory Notes ("Convertible Notas$ued to Galen in the 2001/2002 Galen Bridge Lo@risr to the surrender of the
Convertible Notes for 2002 Debentures issued ir20@2 Debenture Offering, the 2001/2002 Galen Bridgans accrued interest at the rate
of 10% per annum and were secured by a lien ah@lCompany's assets. In consideration for thensida of the 2001/2002 Galen Bridge
Loans, the Company issued Common Stock purchagamtato Galen to purchase an aggregate of 6,49%j@es of the Company's
Common Stock. The warrants issued pursuant to@h&/2002 Galen Bridge Loans have an exercise pgoal to the fair market value of 1
Company's Common Stock on the date of issuancecbf warrants and are substantially identical te¢higsued in the Galen Offering. The
2001/2002 Galen Bridge Loans were obtained by tm@any in order to provide necessary working chpita

Galen controls approximately 85.7% of the Compawgtig securities (or approximately 55.9% aftesimyy effect to the conversion of other
convertible securities issued by the Company). Eldaf the 1998 Debentures and the 1999 Debenfasetefined in the paragraph below)
are permitted to vote on all matters submitted vote of shareholders, voting together with holddreommon stock as one class and having
such number of votes as equals the number of vepessented by the Common Stock that would be esdjuipon conversion of such
debentures into common stock. In addition, in agaoce with the terms of the 2002 Debenture Offeimg Company is obligated to seek
shareholder approval to amend its Certificate obtporation to grant voting rights to the holdefrshe 2002 Debentures. Assuming the
receipt of shareholder approval to the Companyttificate of Incorporation to grant such votinghtg, holders of the
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2002 Debentures, including Galen, would be peruhiitevote on all matters submitted to a vote ofshalders of the Company, voting
together with holders of Common Stock as one @asshaving such number of votes as equal the nigmieotes represented by the
Common Stock that would be acquired upon conversidhe 2002 Debenture into Common Stock. Assurttiegeceipt of shareholder
approval to the Company's Certificate of Incorporato grant voting rights to the holders of 2002b@ntures, Galen would control
approximately 85.7% of the Company's voting semgifor approximately 55.9% after giving effectite conversion of other convertible
securities issued by the Company). Accordingly,eBalossesses sufficient voting rights to contrelrtbmination and election of the board of
directors of the Company without the need to cant®debentures into common stock.

On May 26, 1999, the Company completed a privaeriofy of securities for an aggregate purchaseefap to approximately $22.8 millic
(the "Oracle Offering"). The securities issuedhia Oracle Offering consist of 5% convertible sesiecured debentures (the "1999
Debentures™) and common stock purchase warrargs'{#09 Warrants"). The 1999 Debentures and 199@ahts were issued by the
Company pursuant to a certain Debenture and WaPianthase Agreement dated May 26, 1999 (the "198&hBse Agreement") by and
among the Company, Oracle Strategic Partners,(I(Pacle™") and such other investors in the Galefe@fg electing to participate in the
Oracle Offering (inclusive of Oracle, collectivethe "Oracle Investor Group"). On the closing dzftéhe Oracle Offering, the Company
issued an aggregate of approximately $12,862,0@@imcipal amount of 1999 Debentures. In accordavite the Oracle Purchase
Agreement, Oracle funded an additional $5 millioweistment installment on July 27, 1999. Pursuaahtagreement reached between the
Company and Oracle on March 20, 2000, the finahfiBon investment to be made to Oracle under 8@91Purchase Agreement has been
waived.

The holders of the 1999 Debentures (including @Jaate permitted to vote on all matters submitted tote of shareholders of the Comp:
voting together with holders of common stock as dass and having such number of votes as equalsumber of votes represented by the
common stock that would be acquired upon conversidhe 1999 Debentures into Common Stock. AccaigirOracle controls
approximately 34.8% of the Company's voting semgivithout the need to convert the 1999 DebentmtesCommon Stock. The Oracle
Purchase Agreement also provides that the Compaisy mominate and appoint to the Board of Directeubject to shareholder approval,
designee of the Oracle Investor Group for so lasitha 1999 Debentures and 1999 Warrants remaitaadisg. Mr. Joel D. Liffmann, a
current member of the Board of Directors, is agiesé of the Oracle Investor Group and is a Gefagher of Oracle Partners, L.P.

On December 20, 2002, the Company completed atproféering of securities for an approximate aggtegurchase price of $26,394,000
(the "2002 Debenture Offering™). The securitiesigbin the 2002 Debenture Offering consisted ofca¥vertible senior secured debentures
(the "2002 Debentures"). The Debentures were isbyeéde Company pursuant to a certain Debentureh@se Agreement dated December
20, 2002 (the "2002 Purchase Agreement") by anchgrttte Company, Care Capital Investments I, LPaf@3Capital”), Essex Woodlands
Health Ventures V, L.P. ("Essex"), Galen and eddhe purchasers listed on the signature pagetthéeellectively, the "2002 Debenture
Investor Group").

The 2002 Purchase Agreement provides that the feotdehe 2002 Debentures shall have the righbte &s part of a single class with all
holders of the Company's Common Stock on all mattebe voted on by such stockholders. Each 20@2ftare holder shall have such
number of votes as shall equal the number of vmesould have had if such holder converted theeptitstanding principal amount of his
2002 Debenture into shares of Common Stock immelgligrior to the record date relating to such vpteyvided, however, that any 2002
Debentures held by Care Capital shall, for so lasithey are held by Care Capital, have no votigigtsi In accordance with the terms of the
2002 Purchase Agreement, the Company will seelebbéter approval at its 2003 Annual Meeting of 8hatders to amend its Certificate of
Incorporation to provide as-converted voting rigiatshe holders of the 2002 Debentures. Assumiageheipt of shareholder approval, Essex
would control approximately 41.2% of the Compamygting securities (without giving effect to the emnsion of other convertible securities
issued by the Company).
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The 2002 Purchase Agreement also provides thatafaCare Capital and Essex has the right to deségmee person for nomination to be a
member of the Company's Board of Directors as @fcthsing date of the 2002 Debenture Offering émtively, the "Designees"). The
Purchase Agreement further provides that the Desigishall be, if so requested by such Designeis isole discretion, appointed to the
Company's Executive Committee, Compensation Coraendhd any other Committee of the Board of DirectAccordingly, effective as of
the closing of the 2002 Purchase Agreement, thedBaofDirectors appointed each of Jerry Karabeftablanmanuel Thangaraj to the
Company's Board of Directors. Mr. Karabelas is a€sal Partner of Care Capital Investments Il, LRuffitiate of Care Capital, LLC. Mr.
Thangaraj is a Managing Director of Essex Woodldtealth Ventures V, an affiliate of Essex. The Camphas agreed to nominate and
appoint to the Board of Directors, subject to shal@er approval, one designee of each of the Capit& and Essex for so long as each h
the 2002 Debentures.

As part of the closing of the 2002 Purchase Agregmbe Company and the purchasers of the 2002 idetss, including Care, Essex and
Galen, executed a certain Debentureholders Agreepnewiding, among other things, that the appr@fahe holders of at least sixty six and
two-thirds percent (66 2/3%) of the aggregate fpaicamount of the 2002 Debentures is requireditbaize (a) any modification of the
rights of the holders of the 2002 Debentures, (ly)iasuance of securities of the Company which ssrkor or pari passu to the 2002
Debentures, (c) any dividends or distributionsanredemption of, any securities ranking juniopiiority to the 2002 Debentures, other than
dividends or distributions payable in the Compa@gsnmon Stock or cash interest paid to individnakstors in the Company's 1998
Debentures and 1999 Debentures (collectively, Ehasting Debentures"), (d) the merger or consoiaabf the Company, the sale, transfer,
lease or other disposition of all or substantialljthe Company's consolidated assets, or thedaiign, recapitalization or reorganization of
the Company, other than any such transaction whereash, securities and/or other liquid considamaeceived for the voting stock of the
Company in such transaction is at least four (g8 the then applicable conversion price of th&2D&bentures, (e) any increase in the
number of members comprising the Company's Boaf@irefctors above eleven (11) members, and (f) tmsemmation of a strategic
alliance, business combination, licensing arrangeéreother corporate partnering involving the &ste by the Company of in excess of
$10,000,000 in equity securities of the Company.

The Debentureholders Agreement further providesthgaholders of at least sixty six and two-thipgscent (66 2/3%) of the aggregate
principal amount of the 2002 Debentures and Exdgsbebentures is required in order to authorizeafg)amendment to the Company's
Certificate of Incorporation, (b) dividends or distitions on, or redemptions of, any securitiekiag junior to the Existing Debentures, other
than distributions or dividends payable in the Camps capital stock or cash interest paid to imligi investors in the Existing Debentures,
(c) any issuance of the Company's securities rgng@mior or pari passu to the Existing Debentward,(d) the completion of any transaction
described in subsections (d), (e) and (f) in treceding paragraph.

As part of the closing of the 2002 Purchase Agredgneach of Galen, Oracle, Michael Reicher, the gamy's Chief Executive Officer, and
Peter Clemens, the Company's Chief Financial Qfficellectively, the "Voting Agreement Parties")ezxted a Voting Agreement dated
December 20, 2002 pursuant to which each agreeotéoall of their respective voting securities lné {Company in favor of the amendments
to the Company's Charter to increase the Companytwrized shares in order to permit the conversfahe 2002 Debentures and the
Company's other outstanding convertible securitiad,to provide voting rights to the holders of #®2 Debentures. The voting securities
held by the Voting Agreement Parties representggnegate of approximately 64.3% of the voting riglider the Company's outstanding
voting securities.

As part of the closing of the 2002 Debenture Offgyithe Company's term loan agreement (the "Wdtean Agreement") with Watson
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("Watson") was amended tex{gnd the maturity date of the Watson Loan Ageanfrom March 31, 2003 to March
31, 2006, and (i) increase the principal amourthefWatson Loan Agreement from $17,500,000 to4211,331 (the "Watson Term Loan")
reflect the inclusion of approximately $3,901,33ied by the Company to Watson under a product suggrigement between the parties. In
consideration for the amendment to the Watson lAgnreement, the Company issued to Watson a Commaok $turchase Warrant
exercisable for 10,700,665 shares of the
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Company's Common Stock (the "Watson Warrant"). Watson Warrant has a term expiring December 319 20@ has an exercise price of
$.34 per share. After giving effect to the termsid@eserved Share Waiver (as defined and desdrilikd paragraph below) the Watson
Warrant is immediately exercisable for approxima®3.7% of the Company's Common Stock (withoutrggvéffect to the conversion of
other convertible securities issued by the Compentyuding those issued to Galen).

In furtherance of the completion of the 2002 DebenOffering, each of the Company, Galen, Oracleeapital, Essex and Watson
executed a certain Reserved Share Waiver Agreetia¢edi December 20, 2002 (the "Reserved Share Agr@®mnUnder the terms of the
Reserved Share Agreement, each of Galen and Qrattierized the release of shares previously reddryeéhe Company for issuance under
the 1998 Debentures, 1999 Debentures, 1998 Warandt§999 Warrants previously issued to Galen aiaatl®, in order to provide sufficient
authorized and unreserved shares to permit theecsion of the 2002 Debentures issued to each @& Capital and Essex as well as the
exercise of the Watson Warrant. As a consequene®, ia the absence of the approval of the amendtoghe Company's Charter described
in Proposal 2 to this Proxy Statement, an aggrenfad®,112,429 shares of the Company's authorizedr@on Stock have been reserved for
issuance in the event of the conversion of the ZDé2entures issued to each of Care Capital andkEsgkin the event Watson's exercise of
the Watson Warrant.

On December 20, 2002, as part of the completich@®R002 Debenture Offering, the Company consunuhthateterms of a Warrant
Recapitalization Agreement (the "Recapitalizatiggréement”) between the Company and certain hotifeas aggregate of 8,145,736
Common Stock Purchase Warrants issued by the Con{grursuant to the 1998 Purchase Agreement"{tB88 Warrants"),

(i) pursuant to the 1999 Purchase Agreement (1889 Warrants"), and (iii) pursuant to various gadoan transactions during the period
from 1998 through 2002 (the "Bridge Loan Warrarast] collectively with the 1998 Warrants and 1999 i\ats, the "Recapitalization
Warrants"). As part of the closing of the Recapitation Agreement, the warrantholders a party tioesarrendered to the Company for
cancellation the Recapitalization Warrants in exgfeafor the issuance of an aggregate of 5,970,08%s of Common Stock.

Each of Oracle, Michael and Susan Weisbrot, DeAdems, Bernard Selz and Hemant and Varsha Shalfitialte own in excess of 5% of
the Company's voting securities. (See "Security @wainip of Certain Beneficial Owners and ManagenmeBtich of such security holders
participated in the Recapitalization Agreement.dlraurrendered 4,786,956 Recapitalization Warranégchange for 3,649,461 shares of
Common Stock. Michael and Susan Weisbrot surreddes&,319 Recapitalization Warrants in exchangé@ar,727 shares of Common
Stock. Dennis Adams surrendered 913,034 Recagitaliz Warrants in exchange for 608,844 shares afrfGon Stock. Bernard Selz
surrendered 489,765 Recapitalization Warrants amaxge for 360,243 shares of Common Stock. HenmehVarsha Shah surrendered
741,388 Recapitalization Warrants in exchange &t, 427 shares of Common Stock.

In addition to their participation in the Recapitation Agreement, Michael and Susan Weisbrot agich&d Selz surrendered their 10%
Convertible Promissory Notes (issued by the Comgamguant to the 2001/2002 Galen Bridge Loans)k aticrued and unpaid interest in the
aggregate amount of $40,590 and $342,454, respbctin exchange for a 2002 Debenture in a likagipal amount. Hemant and Varsha
Shah surrendered their 10% Convertible Notes t&Ctimapany on December 20, 2002 for payment in fulil®8,535.

ITEM 14. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Within the 90 days prior to the date of this reptite Company carried out an evaluation, undestipervision and with the participation of
the Company's management, including the Comparhief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officerf,the effectiveness of the design
and operation of the Company's disclosure contmatsprocedures pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 138dskd upon that evaluation, the
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Offiancluded that the Company's disclosure contradspsiocedures are effective in timely
alerting them to material information relating ke tCompany (including its consolidated subsidianieguired to be included in the
Company's periodic Securities and
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Exchange Commission filings. No significant changese made in the Company's internal controls atler factors that could significantly
affect these controls subsequent to the date afakialuation.

Disclosure controls and procedures are those derana other procedures that are designed to etisaraformation required to be disclos
by the Company in the reports that it files or sitbrander the Exchange Act is recorded, processedmarized and reported, within the time
periods specified in the Securities and Exchangar@ission's rules and forms. Disclosure controlsnodedures include, without limitatic
controls and procedures designed to ensure thamattion required to be disclosed by the Compartiigreports that it files or submits
under the Exchange Act is accumulated and commigaida the Company's management, including the @owlp principal executive offic
and principal financial officer, as appropriateattmw timely decisions regarding required disclasu

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT S, CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENT
SCHEDULES AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

(a)(1) Consolidated Financial Statements -- SeeXrid Financial Statements.
(a)(2) Consolidated Financial Statement Schedul8ge Index to Financial Statements
(b) Reports on Form 8-K

On December 27, 2002, the Company filed a CurreqolR on Form 8-K. The Form 8-K described the catiph of private offering of
securities for an aggregate purchase price of $26080 (the "Offering"). The securities issuedha Offering consisted of 5% Convertible
Senior Secured Debentures (the "Debentures"”). Eieitures were issued by the Company pursuantedan Debenture Purchase
Agreement dated December 20, 2002 (the "PurchasseAgent") by and among the Company, Care Capiakstments I, Essex Woodlands
Health Ventures V, L.P., Galen Partners Ill, L.Rd @ach of the purchasers listed on the signatge fhereto.

The Form 8-K also described the amendment to thep@ay's term loan agreement with Watson pursuawhioh the principal amount of
the Company's term loan from Watson was increased $17,500,000 to $21,401,331 to reflect the isic of approximately $3,901,331
owed by the Company to Watson under a product guagreement between the parties. The term loareagmet with Watson was also
amended to extend the maturity date from Marc2803 to March 31, 2006.

Finally, the Form & described the completion of a Warrant Recapitdilin Agreement dated December 20, 2002 pursuamhiich commol
stock purchase warrants exercisable for an aggreda, 145,736 shares were recapitalized for aneggde of 5,970,083 shares of common
stock.

(c) Exhibits

The following exhibits are included as a part aé thnnual Report on Form 10-K or incorporated heisy reference.

EXHIBIT

NUMBER DOCUMENT

3.1 Certificate of Incorporation and amendm ents (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registr ant's Annual Report
on 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999).

3.2 Restated Bylaws (incorporated by refere nce to Exhibit 3.1 to
the Registrant's Quarterly Report on Fo rm 10-Q for the
quarter ended June 30, 1993).

3.3 Restated By-Laws (incorporated by refer ence to Exhibit 3.3
to the Registrant's Annual Report Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 1998 (the "1998 Form 10-K").

4.1 Form of 5% Convertible Senior Secured D ebenture
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 .1tothe
Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K dated December 20,

2002 (the "December 2002 Form 8-K")).
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EXHIBIT

NUMBER DOCUMENT

10.1 Credit Agreement, dated as of December
Registrant and The Chase Manhattan Bank
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Reg
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
(the "1992 Form 10-K")).

10.2 Amendment Two, dated as of January 12,
Agreement among the Registrant and The
N.A., together with forms of Stock Warr
Rights Agreement (incorporated by refer
to the Registrant's Annual Report on Fo
ended December 31, 1993 (the "1993 Form

10.3 Amendment Three, dated as of May 31, 19
Agreement among the Registrant and The
NL.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhi
Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 1
ended March 31, 1994).

10.4 Amendment Four, dated as of July 1994,
among the Registrant and The Chase Manh
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 6
Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 1
ended June 30, 1994).

10.5 Amendment Five, dated as of March 21, 1
Agreement among the Registrant and The
NL.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhi
Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K
(the "March 8-K")).

10.5(1) Form of Warrants issued to The Bank of
Manhattan Bank, N.A. and the Israel Dis
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1
Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K
December 31, 1995 (the "1995 Form 10-K"

10.5(2) Letter Agreement, dated July 10, 1995,
Co., Inc., The Chase Manhattan Bank, N.
York and Israel Discount Bank of New Yo
reference to Exhibit 6(a) to the Regist
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter end
"June 10-Q")).

10.5(3) Letter Agreement, dated November 16, 19
Co., Inc., The Chase Manhattan Bank, N.
York and Israel Discount Bank of New Yo
reference to Exhibit 10.25(iv) to the 1

10.5(4) Amendment 6, dated as of August 6, 1996
among Halsey Drug Co., Inc., The Chase
The Bank of New York and Israel Discoun
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1
1 to the Registrant's Quarterly Report
quarter ended June 30, 1996 (the "June

10.5(5) Letter Agreement, dated March 25, 1997
Co., Inc., The Chase Manhattan Bank, as
interest to The Chase Manhattan Bank (N
The Bank of New York and Israel Discoun

10.6 Agreement Regarding Release of Security
of March 21, 1995 by and among the Comp
Chemical Acquisition, Inc. and The Chas
NL.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhi
8-K).

10.7 Consulting Agreement dated as of Septem
Registrant and Joseph F. Limongelli (in
reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the 1993 F

10.8 Employment Agreement, dated as of Janua
the Registrant and Rosendo Ferran (inco
to Exhibit 10.2 to the 1992 Form 10-K).

10.10(1) Halsey Drug Co., Inc. 1984 Stock Option
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1
10-K).

10.10(2) Halsey Drug Co., Inc. 1995 Stock Option
Purchase Plan (incorporated by referenc
the Registrant's Registration Statement
No. 33-98396).

10.10(3) Halsey Drug Co., Inc. Non-Employee Dire
Plan.

10.11  Leases, effective February 13, 1989 and
respectively, among the Registrant and
Sue Ackerman, Lee Hinderstein, Thelma H
Marilyn Weiss (incorporated by referenc
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Form 10-K for the year ended December 3
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NUMBER

10.12

DOCUMENT
Lease, effective as of April 15, 1988,
and Milton J. Ackerman, Sue Ackerman, L
Thelma Hinderstein and Marilyn Weiss, a
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1
Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K
December 31, 1987).

10.12(l) Lease, as of October 31, 1994, among Re

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

J. Ackerman, Sue Ackerman, Lee Hinderst
Hinderstein and Marilyn Weiss, together
Consolidation and Extension Agreement (
reference to Exhibit 10.12(i) to the 19

Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of Ma
Mallinckrodt Chemical Acquisition, Inc.
Mallinckrodt Chemical, Inc., as guarant
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1
8-K).

Toll Manufacturing Agreement for APAP/O
dated as of March 21, 1995 between Acqu
Registrant (incorporated by reference t
March 8-K).

Capsule ANDA Option Agreement dated as
between Acquisition and the Registrant
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the March

Tablet ANDA Noncompetition Agreement da
1995 between the Registrant and Acquisi
reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the March

Subordinated Non-Negotiable Promissory
amount of $1,200,00 dated March 21, 199
Registrant to Acquisition (incorporated
Exhibit 10.5 to the March 8-K).

Term Note Security Agreement dated as o
among the Company, Houba, Inc. and Acqu
by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Mar

Amendment dated March 21, 1995 to Subor
dated as of July 21, 1994 between Malli
Inc., Mallinckrodt Chemical Acquisition
Registrant, The Chase Manhattan Bank (N
Israel Discount Bank of New York, The B
The Chase Manhattan Bank (National Asso
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1
8-K).

Agreement dated as of March 30, 1995 be
and Zatpack, Inc. (incorporated by refe
10.10 to the March 8-K).

Waiver and Termination Agreement dated
between Zuellig Group, W.A., Inc. and |
Corporation (incorporated by reference
the March 8-K).

Convertible Subordinated Note of the Re
December 1, 1994 issued to Zatpack, Inc
reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the March

Agreement dated as of March 30, 1995 am
Indiana Fine Chemicals Corporation, Zue
Inc., Houba Inc., Zetapharm, Inc. and Z
Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhi
March 8-K).

Supply Agreement dated as of March 30,
Inc. and ZetaPharm, Inc. (incorporated
Exhibit 10.14 to the March 8-K).

Form of 10% Convertible Subordinated De
by reference to Exhibit 6(a) to the Jun

Form of Redeemable Common Stock Purchas
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 6
10-Q).

Form of 10% Convertible Subordinated De
by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Regi
Report on Form 8-K dated December 4, 19
8-K")).

Form of Redeemable Common Stock Purchas
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4
8-K).

Form of 10% Convertible Subordinated De
by reference to Exhibit 99 to the June
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10.32

10.33

10.34

10.35

10.36

10.37

10.38

10.39

10.40

10.41

10.42

10.43

10.44

10.45

10.46

10.47

10.48

10.49

DOCUMENT
Form of Redeemable Common Stock Purchas
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4
to the June 1996 10-Q).

Form of 5% Convertible Senior Secured D
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4
Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K
(the "March 1998 8-K")).

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant (
reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the March 1

Debenture and Warrant Purchase Agreemen
1998, by and among the Registrant, Gale
and the other Purchasers listed on the
thereto (incorporated by reference to E
March 1998 8-K).

Form of General Security Agreement of H
dated March 10, 1998 (incorporated by r
10.2 to the March 1998 8-K).

Form of Agreement of Guaranty of Subsid
Co., Inc. dated March 10, 1998 (incorpo
Exhibit 10.3 to the March 1998 8-K).

Form of Guarantor General Security Agre
1998 (incorporated by reference to Exhi
1998 8-K).

Stock Pledge Agreement dated March 10,
the Registrant and Galen Partners I,
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1
8-K).

Form of Irrevocable Proxy Agreement (in
reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the March

Agency Letter Agreement dated March 10,
the Purchasers a party to the Debenture
Agreement, dated March 10, 1998 (incorp
to Exhibit 10.7 to the March 1998 8-K).

Press Release of Registrant dated March
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 9
8-K).

Current Report on Form 8-K as filed by
the Securities and Exchange Commission

Letter Agreement between the Registrant
Department of Justice dated March 27, 1
restructuring of the fine assessed by t
Justice under the Plea Agreement dated

Employment Agreement dated as of March
Registrant and Michael K. Reicher (inco
to Exhibit 10.43 to the Registrant's An
10-K for the year ended December 31, 19
10-K").

Employment Agreement dated as of March
Registrant and Peter Clemens (incorpora
Exhibit 10.44 to the 1997 Form 10-K.

Amended, Restated and Consolidated Brid
dated as of December 2, 1998 between th
Partners IlIl, L.P., Galen Partners Inte
Galen Employee Fund lll, L.P. and the o
thereto (incorporated by reference to E
1998 Form 10-K).

First Amendment to Amended, Restated an
Loan Agreement dated December 7, 1998 b
and the lenders listed on the signature
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1
10-K).

Second Amendment to Amended, Restated a
Bridge Loan Agreement dated March 8, 19
Company and the lenders listed on the s
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1
10-K).

Form of 10% Convertible Secured Note du
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1
10-K).

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant i
Amended, Restated and Consolidated Brid
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1
10-K).
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Amended and Restated General Security A
December 2, 1998 between the Company an
L.P., as Agent (incorporated by referen
to the 1998 Form 10-K).

Subordination Agreement dated December
Registrant and Galen Partners lll, L.P.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1
10-K).

Agency Letter Agreement dated December
the lenders a party to the Amended, Res
Consolidated Bridge Loan Agreement, as
by reference to Exhibit 10.52 to the 19

Lease Agreement dated March 17, 1999 be
and Par Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorpor
Exhibit 10.53 to the 1998 Form 10-K).

Lease Agreement dated September 1, 1998
Registrant and Crimson Ridge Partners (
reference to Exhibit 10.54 to the 1998

Manufacturing and Supply Agreement date
between the Registrant and Par Pharmace
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1
10-K).

Halsey Drug Co., Inc. 1998 Stock Option
by reference to Exhibit 10.56 to the 19

Loan Agreement dated March 29, 2000 bet
and Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incor
to Exhibit 10.57 to the Registrant's Cu
8-K dated March 29, 2000 (the "March 20

Amendment to Loan Agreement dated March
Registrant and Watson Pharmaceuticals,
reference to Exhibit 10.58 to the March

Secured Promissory Note in the principa
$17,500,000 issued by the Registrant, a
of Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. dated M
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1
2000 8-K).

Watson Security Agreement dated March 2
Registrant and Watson Pharmaceuticals,
reference to Exhibit 10.60 to the March

Stock Pledge Agreement dated March 29,
Registrant and Watson Pharmaceuticals,
reference to Exhibit 10.61 to the March

Watson Guarantee dated March 29, 2000 b
and Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc., as th
favor of Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (
reference to Exhibit 10.62 to the March

Watson's Guarantors Security Agreement
between Halsey Pharmaceuticals, Inc., H
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorporated by
10.63 to the March 2000 8-K).

Subordination Agreement dated March 29,
the Registrant, Watson Pharmaceuticals,
of the Registrant's outstanding 5% conv
due March 10, 2003. (incorporated by re
10.64 to the March 2000 8-K).+

Real Estate Mortgage dated March 29, 20
Inc. and Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (
reference to Exhibit 10.65 to the March

Subordination Agreement by and among Ho
Partners, Ill, L.P., Oracle Strategic P
Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (incorpora
Exhibit 10.66 to the March 2000 8-K).

Product Purchase Agreement dated March
Registrant and Watson Pharmaceuticals,
reference to Exhibit 10.67 to the March

Finished Goods Supply Agreement dated M
the Registrant and Watson Pharmaceutica
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1
2000 8-K).+

Active Ingredient Supply Agreement date
between the Registrant and Watson Pharm
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1
2000 8-K).+

Right of First Negotiation Agreement da
between the Registrant and Watson Pharm
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1
2000 8-K).+
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Finished Goods Supply Agreement (Core P
29, 2000 between the Registrant and Wat
Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhi
March 2000 8-K).+

Debenture and Warrant Purchase Agreemen
by and among the Registrant, Oracle Str
and the other purchasers listed on the
thereto (the "Oracle Purchase Agreement
reference to Exhibit 10.72 to the Regis
on Form 10-K for the year ended Decembe

Form of 5% Convertible Senior Secured D
pursuant to the Oracle Purchase Agreeme
reference to Exhibit 10.73 to the Regis
on Form 10-K for the year ended Decembe

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant i
Oracle Purchase Agreement (incorporated
Exhibit 10.74 to the Registrant's Annua
for the year ended December 31, 1999).

Lease Termination and Settlement Agreem
2000 between the Registrant and Atlanti
in respect of the Registrant's Brooklyn
facility (incorporated by reference to
Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K
December 31, 1999).

Debenture Purchase Agreement dated Dece
among Halsey Drug Co., Inc., Care Capit
LP, Essex Woodlands Health Ventures V,
purchasers listed on the signature page
Debentureholders") (incorporated by ref
10.1 to the December 2002 Form 8-K).

Form of General Security Agreement date
between the Registrant and the 2002 Deb
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1
2002 Form 8-K).

Form of Agreement of Guaranty of Subsid
Co., Inc. dated December 20, 2002 betwe
Halsey Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and the 20
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1
2002 Form 8-K).

Form of Guarantor General Security Agre
Guarantors and the 2002 Debentureholder
2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhi
December 2002 Form 8-K).

Stock Pledge Agreement dated December 2
between Halsey Drug Co., Inc. and Galen
as agent (incorporated by reference to
December 2002 Form 8-K).

Voting Agreement dated December 20, 200
reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Decemb

Debentureholders Agreement dated Decemb
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1
2002 Form 8-K).

Amendment to Debenture and Warrant Purc
between Halsey Drug Co., Inc., Galen Pa
other signatories thereto, dated Decemb
the Debenture and Warrant Purchase Agre
1998 between the Company, Galen Partner
other signatories thereto (incorporated
Exhibit 10.8 to the December 2002 Form

Amendment to Debenture and Warrant Purc
between Halsey Drug Co., Inc., Oracle S
L.P. and the other signatories thereto,

2002, amending the Debenture and Warran
dated May 26, 1999 between the Company,
Partners, L.P. and the other signatorie
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1
2002 Form 8-K).

Amended and Restated 5% Convertible Sen
due March 31, 2006 (incorporated by ref
10.10 to the December 2002 Form 8-K).
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10.86

DOCUMENT
Second Amendment to Loan Agreement date
between Halsey Drug Co., Inc. and Watso
Inc., amending the Loan Agreement dated
between Halsey Drug Co., Inc. and Watso
Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhi
December 2002 Form 8-K).

d December 20, 2002,
n Pharmaceuticals,
March 29, 2000

n Pharmaceuticals,
bit 10.11 to the

10.87  Amended and Restated Secured Promissory Note dated December
20, 2002, issued by Halsey Drug Co., In c. in favor of Watson
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. in the principal amount $17,500,000
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1 0.12 to the December
2002 Form 8-K).

10.88  Second Amendment to Finished Goods Supp ly Agreement (Core
Products) dated December 20, 2002, betw een Halsey Drug Co.,
Inc. and Watson Pharmaceuticals, Inc. a mending the Finished
Goods Supply Agreement (Core Products) dated March 29, 2000
2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhi bit 10.13 to the
December 2002 Form 8-K).

10.89  Watson Common Stock Purchase Warrant da ted December 20, 2002
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1 0.14 to the December
2002 Form 8-K).

10.90 Registration Rights Agreement dated Dec ember 20, 2002
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1 0.15 to the December
2002 Form 8-K).

10.91  Warrant Recapitalization Agreement date d December 20, 2002
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1 0.15 to the December
2002 Form 8-K).

21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

*23.1 Consent of Grant Thornton LLP, independ ent certified public
accountants.

*99.1 Certification of Periodic Report by Chi ef Executive Officer
pursuant to Rule 13a-14 and 15d-14 of t he Securities
Exchange Act of 1934.

*99.2 Certification of Periodic Report by Chi ef Financial Officer
pursuant to Rule 13a-14 and 15d-14 of t he Securities
Exchange Act of 1934.

*99.3 Certification of Periodic Report by Chi ef Executive Officer.

*99.4 Certification of Periodic Report by Chi ef Financial Officer.

* Filed herewith.

+ A portion of this exhibit has been omitted pursua an application for confidential treatmentguant to Rule 24b-2 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regiigthas duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduatyp authorized.

HALSEY DRUG CO,, INC.

By: /'s/ M CHAEL RElI CHER

M chael Rei cher,
Chai rman and Chi ef Executive O ficer
(Principal Executive Oficer)

Date: May 6, 2003

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe following persons on behalf of
the registrant and in the capacities and on thesdatlicated.

/s/ WILLIAM G. SKELLY Director May 6, 2003

William G. Skelly

/s/ MICHAEL REICHER Chief Executive Officer and Director May 6, 2003
( Principal Executive Officer)

Michael Reicher

/sl PETER CLEMENS Vice P resident, Chief Financial Officer May 6, 2003
(Pri ncipal Financial and Accounting
Peter Clemens Officer) and Director
/s/ ALAN J. SMITH Director May 6, 2003
Alan J. Smith
/sl BRUCE F. WESSON Director May 6, 2003

Bruce F. Wesson

/s/ WILLIAM SUMNER Director May 6, 2003

William Sumner

/s/ SRINI CONJEEVARAM Director May 6, 2003

Srini Conjeevaram

/sl ZUBEEN SHROFF Director May 6, 2003

Zubeen Shroff

/s/ JOEL LIFFMANN Director May 6, 2003

Joel Liffmann

/sl JERRY KARABELAS Director May 6, 2003

Jerry Karabelas

/sl IMMANUEL THANGARAJ Director May 6, 2003

Immanuel Thangaraj
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

Board of Directors and Stockholders
HALSEY DRUG CO., INC.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Halsey Drug Co., Inc. and Subsidiasesf December 31, 2002 and 2001,
and the related consolidated statements of opaestgtockholders' equity (deficit) and cash floasdach of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2002. These financial stateraemthe responsibility of the Company's managen@ut responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based omodits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditagdards generally accepted in the United StdtAmerica. Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reabtmassurance about whether the financial statsnaes free of material misstatement. An
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidsnpporting the amounts and disclosures in then6ig statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and &ignifestimates made by management, as well asatirgj the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits providesgonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referealove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated financial position of Halsey
Drug Co., Inc. and Subsidiaries as of DecembeB@2 and 2001, and the consolidated results aof tiperations and their consolidated cash
flows for each of the three years in the periodeehbDecember 31, 2002, in conformity with accounpngciples generally accepted in the
United States of America.

We have also audited the consolidated financiaéstant schedule listed in the Index at Iltem 15fa)(Rour opinion, this schedule, when
considered in relation to the basic consolidatedritial statements taken as a whole, presentg, fairall material respects, the information
set forth therein.

GRANT THORNTON LLP

New York, New York
February 26, 2003, except for Note B, as to whighdate is May 5, 2003
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HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

DECEMBER 31,

2002 2001
(IN THOUSANDS)
CURRENT ASSETS
CasSh..covicii e $9,211 $ 442
Accounts receivable -- trade, net of allowances o f $14 and
$347 in 2002 and 2001, respectively.......... . ... 610 367
INVENONIES...vvveeiivieeeeeeeeeee e 2,285 2,729
Prepaid expenses and other current assets........ ... 394 238
Total current assets.........ccccceeveeveeeeee 12,500 3,776
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET.....ccoocccceees. e 5,367 5,998

DEFERRED PRIVATE OFFERING COSTS, net of accumulated
amortization of $9 and $1,471 in 2002 and 2001,
respectively....oovvviiiiiiiiiieeeeeeees 1,032 672
OTHER ASSETS AND DEPOSITS.....coovviiiiieieeeees 465 623

The accompanying notes are an integral part obteegements.
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HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (CONTINUED)

DECEMBER 31,

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER
SHARE DATA)
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current maturities of notes payable and capital | ease
obligations.......ccccovvveiiviiiieenee. $ 33 $ 2,568
Accounts payable.... — 3,119 2,979
Accrued eXpPensSesS......ccccvvvvvvvcciiiiiieeee 3,115 6,205

Department of Justice settlement................ . ... 300 300
Total current liabilities.........cccceeeeee.. L 6,567 12,052
TERM NOTE PAYABLE......coooiiiiiiiiieiceeeeee 21,401 17,500
CONVERTIBLE SUBORDINATED DEBENTURES................ . oeees 77,118 48,534
Less: debt discount.........ccocvvvvvveveee. L (73,955) (2,355)

CAPITAL LEASE OBLIGATIONS......c.cceviiiiiieene
DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE SETTLEMENT......ccooovvveees. . 461 774
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Common stock -- $.01 par value; authorized, 80,00 0 shares;
issued and outstanding, 21,035 shares and 15,0 65 shares
in 2002 and 2001, respectively.......coeeee.. 211 151
Additional paid-in capital........cccccccoveeeee. L 148,611 35,914
Accumulated deficit.........ooovvcvcviveeee. (161,090) (101,501)

$ 19,364 $ 11,069

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktetements.
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HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2002 2001 2000

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)
Product sales.........ccccoeeeeiiiennnen. . $ 8,205 $ 8429 $15,223
Product development revenues.......cccccceeveveeee. -- 8,500 5,000

Net product revenues........c.ccceceeeeeeeeee 8,205 16,929 20,223
Operating costs
Cost of manufacturing......cccccceeveeeevenes L 12,535 14,857 18,743
Research and development.........ccccocoveeee. L 1,517 1,327 1,821
Selling, general and administrative expenses..... ... 7,216 6,616 6,208
Plant shutdown CcOStS.......ccovvvvvveviice. (126) 68 53
Loss from operationS.......cccceeeeeeeveeeeees L (12,937) (5,939) (6,602)
Other income (expense)
Interest eXpense......cccocvvvveviciveeenneeee (4,728) (3,913) (3,699)
Interest income.....ccoeeeviiiieiiieeeeee 15 69 662
Amortization of deferred debt discount and privat e
offering CostS.......oovvvvccvviiieie. (12,558) (2,591) (2,448)
Loss on extinguishment of debt................... L (29,278) - -
Investment in joint venture — - (202) (57)
Other income (EXPeNnSe)....ccccceveeeeeveveveeeeee (103) 13 101
Loss before income tax benefit..........ccooeecec... L (59,589) (12,563) (12,043)
Income tax benefit.........cooovceeeeveeeee. - -- 389
NET LOSS...cooiiiiiiieiiieeieeieeeee $(59,589) $(12,563) $(11,654)
Basic and diluted loss per common share........... . ... $(390) $ (84) $ (.80)
Weighted average number of outstanding shares...... ... 15,262 15,021 14,503

The accompanying notes are an integral part okteegements.
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HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEF ICIT)

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002, 2001 AND 2000
COMMON STOCK,
$.01 PAR VALUE ADDITIONAL TREASURY
--------------- PAID-IN  ACCUMULATED STOCK,
SHARES AMOUNT CAPITAL DEFICIT ATCOST TOTAL
(IN THOUSANDS)
Balance at January 1, 2000........ 14,830 $148 $35751 $(77,284) $(989) $(42,374)
Issuance of shares in payment of
interest........cccceveeennne 90 1 251 252
Conversion of debentures.......... 9 12 12
Deferred private issuance costs... 125 125
Issuance of shares in payment of
legal fees......cccceevunnen. 12 15 15
Issuance of shares in payment of
accounts payable................ 20 23 23
Reissuance of treasury stock...... (737) 989 252
Net loss for the year ended
December 31, 2000............... (11,654) (11,654)
Balance at December 31, 2000...... 14,961 149 35,440 (88,938) - (53,349)
Issuance of shares in payment of
interest........ccoccoveeennns 52 1 69 70
Exercise of stock options......... 52 1 95 96
Issuance of warrants in connection
with debt.........cccccevnne 310 310

Net loss for the year ended

December 31, 2001 (12,563) (12,563)
Balance at December 31, 2001...... 15,065 151 35,914  (101,501) - (65,436)
Issuance of common stock in

exchange for warrants........... 5,970 60 2,222 2,282
Issuance of warrants and

beneficial conversion features

in connection with debt......... 95,464 95,464
Modification of terms of existing

warrantS.......coeeeeeeeeeeens 15,011 15,011
Net loss for the year ended

December 31, 2002............... (59,589) (59,589)
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2002...... 21,035 $211 $148,611 $(161,090) $ -- $(12,268)

The accompanying notes are an integral part obteegements.



HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2002 2001 2000

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE DATA)
Cash flows from operating activities

NEtIOSS..cviiiiiiiic e $(59,589) $(12,563) $(11,654)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash use din
operating activities
Depreciation and amortization.................. ... 835 861 644
Amortization of deferred debt discount and pri vate
offering CostS......ccovvevviiiiecenneeee 12,558 2,591 2,448
Amortization of deferred product acquisition ¢ osts..... 37 35 61
Provision for losses on accounts receivable... ... 101 318 129
(Gain) loss on disposal of assets............... ... 28 68 (93)
Common stock issued for legal expense......... . ... -- -- 15
Common stock issued for trade payables........ ... - - 23
Debentures and stock issued for interest expen se....... 2,191 2,154 1,858
Loss on debt extinguishment................... ... 29,278 - --
Write-own of investment in affiliate.......... . ... - 202 57
Changes in assets and liabilities
Accounts Receivable.........ccoccceeeeeeee.. L (2,170) (382) (906)
INVeNtories.....coocvevvceieiieeeeee 444 40 732
Prepaid expenses and other current assets... ... (156) 952 (809)

Other assets and deposits.........ccoeeeeee. Ll 121 (174) (38)
Accounts payable - 853 2,324 388
Accrued eXpenses......ccccovvvevcinvnineeee 3,010 1,484 474

Total adjustments.......cccovvevvcceeeene 47,130 10,473 4,983
Net cash used in operating activities......... ... (12,459) (2,090) (6,671)
Cash flows from investing activities
Capital expenditures.........ccccoveeevvceeee. (287) (1,544) (2,962)
Capital contribution to joint venture............ .. -- (89) (170)
Net proceeds from sale of assets................. ..~ ... 16 28 93
Net cash used in investing activities......... . ... (271) (1,605) (3,039)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of notes payable.......... . ... 12,500 7,700 13,800
Payments to Department of Justice............... .~ .. (313) (301) (300)
Exercise of stock options........cccccvveeeee. L -- 96 --
Repayment of debentures............coevvveeeeeee. L - (2,200) --
Payments on notes payable and capital lease oblig ations...  (147) (1,855) (4,006)
Proceeds from issuance of convertible subordinate d
debentures.....ccccovveivcciieiiie 10,500 - -
Reissuance of treasury stocK........ccccceeeeeee. L -- -- 252
Deferred private offering costs........ccoeeee.e. L (1,041) - (125)
Net cash provided by financing activities..... ... 21,499 3,440 9,621
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIV ALENTS... 8,769 (255) (89)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year..... ... 442 697 786
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year.......... ... $ 9211 $ 442 $ 697

The accompanying notes are an integral part obteegements.
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HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS -- (CONTINUED )
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002, 2001 AND 2000
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE DATA)

Supplemental disclosures of noncash investing erah¢ing activities:
Year ended December 31, 2002

1. The Company issued 5,970,083 shares of commak at result of recapitalization of warrants toghase 8,145,736 shares of common
stock and recorded a charge to earnings of $2128a@nnection with this transaction.

2. The Company issued 10,700,665 warrants wittstimated relative fair value of $11,985 in connaetivith the extension of a note
payable.

3. The Company issued $15,885 in debentures inagmgehfor like amounts of notes payable and acdntedest.
4. The Company's convertible debentures contaieeéfitial conversion features, which were valuefi7at,619.
5. The Company issued $2,191 of debentures as payohkke amounts of debenture accrued interest.

6. The Company has repaid $1,826 of indebtedneiform of product deliveries.

7. The Company issued approximately 2,120,000 wégnaith an estimated relative fair value of $2,412onnection with the refinancing of
existing bridge loans in January and May 2002.

8. The Company issued 600,000 warrants with amastid relative fair value of $948 for the lendirgnenitment of a bridge loan.

9. The Company issued approximately 1,535,000 wégnaith an estimated relative fair value of $1,#%8onnection with the issuance of
bridge loans.

10. The Company's bridge loans contained beneficiaVersion features, which were valued at $3,745.
11. Equipment financed through capital leases aggeel approximately $35.
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HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS -- (CONTINUED )
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002, 2001 AND 2000
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE DATA)

Year ended December 31, 2001

1. The Company issued 51,924 shares of common a®plyment for approximately $70 in debenturewssetinterest.

2. The Company issued 187,500 warrants with amestid relative fair value of $310 in connectionhwitie issuance of bridge loans.
3. The Company issued $2,085 of debentures as payohkke amounts of debenture accrued interest.

4. The Company has repaid $3,979 of indebtednetbeiform of product deliveries.

5. Equipment financed through capital leases aggegigapproximately $79.

6. The Company issued $300 in notes payable inaggehfor $300 in debentures that matured.

Year ended December 31, 2000

1. The Company issued 89,638 and 32,000 sharemmhon stock as payment for $252 in debenture addnierest and $38 in trade
payables and legal expenses.

2. The Company issued warrants to purchase 125/08@s of common stock for the extension of th&2ZBalen Bridge Loan(s) maturity
dates and recorded $125 as deferred private issuwnsts. The issuance costs were fully expensédgi2@00.

3. The Company issued $1,858 of debentures as pryfordike amounts of debenture accrued interest.
4. Debentures of $12 were converted into 8,834eshaff the Company's common stock.
5. The Company has paid $1,003 of indebtednesgiform of product deliveries.
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HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2002, 2001 AND 2000

NOTE A -- DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Halsey Drug Co., Inc. (the "Company" or "HalseyNew York corporation established in 1935, andutssidiaries, are engaged in the
development, manufacture, sale, and distributiogenferic drugs and active pharmaceutical ingregli€AtP1s"). During the last several ye:
the Company has sought to diversify its businegesigh strategic acquisitions and alliances anolih the development of technologies
the synthesis and production of APIs intended &be 0 third parties as well as for use by the Camypand others as raw materials in the
manufacture of finished drug forms.

A summary of the significant accounting policiesisistently applied in the preparation of the accanyjing consolidated financial stateme
follows.

1. Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presstor

The consolidated financial statements include te®ants of the Company and its wholly-owned subsiés, Houba, Inc., and Halsey
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. All material intercompanyaartts and transactions have been eliminated. D@®3g, the Company dissolved all of
inactive subsidiaries with the exception of Hal®&armaceuticals, Inc. The dissolution of the inectiubsidiaries had no impact on the
consolidated financial position, results of opemasi or cash flows of the Company.

2. Statements of Cash Flows

For purposes of the statements of cash flows, tiragany considers all highly liquid debt instrumemtschased with an original maturity of
three months or less to be cash equivalents. Thep@oy paid no substantial income taxes for thesyeaded December 31, 2002, 2001 and
2000. In addition, the Company paid interest ofrapjmately $136,000, $683,000 and $1,253,000 ferytrars ended December 31, 2002,
2001 and 2000, respectively.

3. Accounts Receivable-Trade and Allowance Accounts

The Company's accounts receivable-trade are duedustomers engaged in the distribution of pharmigca products. Credit is extended
based on evaluation of a customer's financial ¢cmrdand, generally, collateral is not requiredcéints receivable are due within 30 days
and are stated at amounts due from customers ibaefances for doubtful accounts, returns, tersealints, and other allowances. Accounts
outstanding longer than the contractual paymentgeare considered past due. Estimates that ara@rugdetermining these allowances are
based on the Company's historical experience, mutmends, credit policy and a percentage of itdaats receivable by aging category. In
determining these percentages, the Company loake atredit quality of its customer base as weltlznges in its credit policies. The
Company continuously monitors collections and paytsi&om its customers. The Company writes off aot® receivable when they become
uncollectible, and payments subsequently receivesuch receivables are credited to bad debt expense

Changes in the Company's allowance accounts dofi@ss:

2002 2001
(IN THOUSANDS)
Beginning balance........c...ccoccovvvevcceeeeee. L $347 $315
Provision for losses on accounts receivable...... ... 101 402
Allowances paid.......ccccoceeevvcieieenieeees (434) (286)
RECOVENES. ..t - (84)
Ending balance........ccoocovvviiiiiiicien. $14 $347
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HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (CONT INUED)
DECEMBER 31, 2002, 2001 AND 2000

4. Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or etaakd include material, labor and manufacturingrbgad. The first-in, first-out method is
used to determine the cost of inventories. In eatalg whether inventory is stated at the loweragtor market, management considers such
factors as the amount of inventory on hand, remgishelf life and current and expected market d@rdi, including levels of competition.

5. Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cestdecumulated depreciation and amortization. Majprovements are capitalized and
maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurepdeation and amortization are provided for iroants sufficient to relate the cost of
depreciable assets to operations over their estihrggrvice lives, principally on a straight-linesisa The estimated lives used in determining
depreciation and amortization are:

Building and building improvements....... 20-39y ears

Machinery and equipment.................. 3-10 ye ars

Leasehold improvements................... Shorter of the life of the lease or the
service life of the asset

6. Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment wienevents or changes in circumstances indicateahging value may not be
recoverable. Impairment is measured by compariagé#nrying value of the long-lived assets to thareged undiscounted future cash flows
expected to result from use of the assets and ultgirate disposition. To the extent impairment basurred, the carrying amount of the asset
would be written down to an amount to reflect thie ¥alue of the asset. See Note K for the impaitnebarge related to the write-off of
leasehold improvements of the Company's Brooklyew N ork plant, which closed in March 2001.

7. Deferred Private Offering Costs

Deferred private offering costs represent costsrigel by the Company in conjunction with securiegptfinancing. The Company incurred
approximately $1,041,000 in deferred private offgrcosts during the year ended December 31, 206@njunction with a private offering of
securities. (See Notes B and H.) Deferred privéfering costs are amortized to interest expense thelife of the related obligations.

8. Deferred Debt Discount

Debt discount resulting from the issuance of stwakrants in connection with the issuance of sulmarigid debt and other notes payable as
well as beneficial conversion features containecbinvertible debt instruments (Notes H and I) sorded as a reduction of the related
obligations and is amortized over the remaining dif the related obligations. Debt discount reldtethe stock warrants issued is determined
by a calculation which is based on the relativefalues ascribed to such warrants determined bgdependent valuation or management's
use of the Black-Scholes valuation model. Inheiretite Black-Scholes valuation model are assumptinade by management regarding the
estimated life of the warrant, the estimated vhtatof the Company's common stock and the expedieidend yield.

9. Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue, net of sales ditsand allowances, when title to the product masseustomers, which generally occurs
upon shipment. The Company established sales jpwasifor estimated chargebacks, discounts, reba®sns, pricing adjustments and other
sales allowances concurrently with the
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HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (CONT INUED)
DECEMBER 31, 2002, 2001 AND 2000

recognition of revenue. The sales provisions at@déished based upon consideration of a variefaaibrs, including, but not limited to,
actual return and historical experience by prodym, the number and timing of competitive prodwagiproved for sale, the expected market
for the product, estimated customer inventory Iewsi product, price declines and current and ptegeeconomic conditions and levels of
competition. Actual product return, chargebacks atiher sales allowances incurred are, however,rakge upon future events.

10. Shipping and Handling Costs
The Company includes all shipping and handling expe incurred as a component of cost of manufacfuri
11. Research and Development Costs

All research and development costs, including paymeelated to licensing agreements on productsrutelelopment and research
consulting agreements, are expensed when incurred.

12. Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Adsiegiicosts charged to operations for the yearsceBedeember 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000
were approximately $288,000, $39,000 and $31,0a&pactively.

13. Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under théitiamethod in accordance with Statement of FriahAccounting Standards No. 109
("SFAS No. 109"), "Accounting for Income Taxes."ddm this method, deferred tax assets and liatsldie determined based on differences
between financial reporting and tax bases of assgtdiabilities and are measured using the enaatethtes and laws that will be in effect
when the differences are expected to reverse. datiah allowance is established if it is more likdan not that all, or some portion, of
deferred tax assets will not be realized. The Cameas recorded a full valuation allowance to reditg deferred tax assets to the amount
that is more likely than not to be realized. While Company has considered future taxable incorassessing the need for the valuation
allowance, in the event the Company were to detezrthiat it would be able to realize its deferredassets in the future in excess of its net
recorded amount, an adjustment to the deferredsagt would increase income in the period suchrd@tation was made.

14. Earnings (Loss) Per Share

The computation of basic earnings (loss) per sbhcemmon stock is based upon the weighted averag#er of common shares
outstanding during the period. Diluted earningsgtere is based on basic earnings per share atifostihe effect of other potentially diluti
securities. Excluded from the 2002, 2001 and 2@@0putation are approximately 200,368,000, 52,97 50,636,000, respectively, of
outstanding warrants and options and the effecoofertible debentures outstanding which would Hzeen antidilutive.

15. Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has two stock-based employee compengatins, which are described more fully in NoteTHe Company accounts for stock-
based compensation using the intrinsic value meithedcordance with Accounting Principles Board g No. 25, "Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees," and related InterpretatithBB No. 25") and has adopted the disclosure prongsof Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 148, "Accounting for StBd@sed Compensation -- Transition and Disclosurggmaendment of FASB Statement
No. 123." Under APB No. 25, when the exercise pocthe Company's employee stock options equalsntindet price of the underlyir

stock on the date of grant, no compensation
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HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (CONT INUED)
DECEMBER 31, 2002, 2001 AND 2000

expense is recognized. Accordingly, no compensatiqense has been recognized in the consolidataddial statements in connection with
employee stock option grants.

The following table illustrates the effect on netéme and earnings per share had the Company @pipidair value recognition provisions
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No, 128counting for Stock-Based Compensation," taktbased employee compensation.

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,

2002 2001 2000

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE DATA)

Net loss, as reported.........ccccoceeereeennnne. .. $(59,589) $(12,563) $(11,654)
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation
expense determined under fair value-based method

forall awards..........ccoeoevvviciiiiiinnnns .. (1,047) (1,679) (2,099)
Pro forma net 10Ss........cccooveiiiiiiiinenns .. $(60,636) $(14,242) $(13,753)
Loss per share:

Basic and diluted -- as reported................. . $(390) $ (84) $ (.80)

Basic and diluted -- pro forma................... . $(B97) $ (95 $ (.95

Pro forma compensation expense may not be indeafifuture disclosures because they do not takeeifiect pro forma compensation
expense related to grants before 1995. For purpmfssstimating the fair value of each option ondlage of grant, the Company utilized the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model.

The Black-Scholes option valuation model was deuetibfor use in estimating the fair value of tradptions, which have no vesting
restrictions and are fully transferable. In additioption valuation models require the input ofiygsubjective assumptions including the
expected stock price volatility. Because the Comgfsaemployee stock options have characteristigsfggntly different from those of traded
options and because changes in the subjective agsutmptions can materially affect the fair valsineate, in management's opinion, the
existing models do not necessarily provide a rédiaingle measure of the fair value of its employeek options.

The weighted-average option fair values and therapsons used to estimate these values are asvillo

GRANTS ISSUED DURING

Expected life (years).....coooeevevvcvvneeneeee L 10 10 10
Risk-free interestrate........ccccoeevvvvevveeeeee L 46% 53% 7.0%
Expected volatility............coovevccveeeeee. 88% 86% 73%
Dividend yield........cccooevvvvvvnniiieaiee 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Weighted-average option fair value............... ... $1.12 $1.87 $1.38

Equity instruments issued to nonemployees in exghdor goods, fees and services are accountedhfteruhe fair value-based method of
SFAS No. 123.

16. Use of Estimates in Consolidated Financialebt&ints

In preparing consolidated financial statementsoinfarmity with accounting principles generally aptad in the United States of America,
management makes estimates and assumptions thett taié reported amounts of assets and liabiiiesdisclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the consolidated finahsitatements, as well as the reported amountsvehues and expenses during the reporting
period. Actual results could differ from those psites.
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HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (CONT INUED)
DECEMBER 31, 2002, 2001 AND 2000

17. New Accounting Pronouncements

In July 2001, the Financial Accounting Standardaifiq("FASB") issued Statement of Financial Accongtbtandards ("SFAS") No. 142,
"Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets." SFAS No2Iéquires that goodwill and intangible assets wittefinite useful lives no longer be
amortized, but instead be tested for impairmefeast annually in accordance with the provisionSIBAS No. 142. SFAS No. 142 also
requires that intangible assets with definite ulsiafas be amortized over their respective estimatseful lives to their estimated residual
values, and reviewed for impairment in accordanitk Statement of Financial Accounting Standards N&i., "Accounting for the
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-LivAdsets to be Disposed Of," as amended. The Comgduopted the provisions of SFAS
No. 142 effective January 1, 2002. The adoptioS8EAS No. 142 had no effect on the financial positio results of operations of tl
Company.

In October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, bhating for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-LivAssets." SFAS No. 144 requires
that longtived assets be measured at the lower of carryimguat or fair value less cost to sell, whether regabin continuing operations or
discontinued operations. Therefore, discontinueatatpons will no longer be measured at net real&aalue or include amounts for operat
losses that have not yet occurred. SFAS No. 1éfféstive for financial statements issued for flsggars beginning after December 15, 2001
and, generally, is to be applied prospectively. &tleption of SFAS No. 144 had no effect on the Camy{s financial position or results of
operations.

In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145, "Resitin of FASB Statements No. 4, 44, and 64, Amemtime-FASB Statement No. 13,
and Technical Corrections." This statement elingadhe requirement to report gains and losses éximguishment of debt as extraordinary
unless they meet the criteria of APB Opinion 30ASHo. 145 also requires sale-leaseback accoufdmeertain lease modifications that
have economic effects that are similar to saleeleask transactions. The changes related to leasei@ing are effective for transactions
occurring after May 15, 2002 and the changes reletelebt extinguishment are effective for fiscahgs beginning after May 15, 2002. The
impact of adopting the provisions related to lemsmounting did not have a material impact on them@any's financial position or results of
operations. The Company early adopted the prowsielated to debt extinguishments during the yrded December 31, 2002. The adof
did not have a material impact on the Companyaiinal position or results of operations.

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, "Actingrfor Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal iities.” SFAS No. 146 nullifies
Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 94-3 andnegythiat a liability for a cost associated witheait or disposal activity be recognized
when the liability is incurred. This statement aéstablishes that fair value is the objective fitidl measurement of the liability. SFAS No.
146 is effective for exit or disposal activitieattare initiated after December 31, 2002. The imp#athe adoption of SFAS No. 146 is not
expected to have a material impact on the Compdingiscial position or results of operations.

In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148¢cbAnting for Stock-Based Compensation -- Transiéind Disclosure, an amendment
of FASB Statement No. 123." SFAS No. 148 amendsSRA. 123, "Accounting for Stock-Based Compensdtitmprovide alternative
methods of transition for an entity that voluntaghanges to the fair value-based method of acowyfdr stock-based employee
compensation. It also amends the disclosure panssof that Statement to require prominent disesibout the effects on reported net
income of an entity's accounting policy decisiorithwespect to stock-based employee compensatima Cbmpany has chosen to continue to
account for stock-based compensation using thiméntrvalue method prescribed in APB Opinion Noa?8l related interpretations as
provided for under SFAS No. 148. Accordingly, comgegtion expense is only recognized when the magdae of the Company's stock at
the date of the grant exceeds the amount an emplowst pay to acquire the stock. The Company hagted the annual disclosure
provisions of SFAS No. 148 in its financial repdids the year
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HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (CONT INUED)
DECEMBER 31, 2002, 2001 AND 2000

ended December 31, 2002 and will adopt the intélisnlosure provisions for its financial reports foe quarter ended March 31, 2003. The
adoption of SFAS No. 148 did not have a materiglaot on the Company's financial position or resoiitsperations.

In November 2002, the FASB issued FASB Interpretallo. 45, "Guarantor's Accounting and Disclosuegtitrements for Guarantees,
Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness b@t." FIN No. 45 requires that upon issuancegiarantee, a guarantor must recognize a
liability for the fair value of an obligation assedhunder a guarantee. FIN No. 45 also requiregiaddi disclosures by a guarantor in its
interim and annual financial statements about tiigations associated with guarantees issued. @tagnition provisions of FIN No. 45 are
effective for any guarantees issued or modifiedrdftecember 31, 2002. The disclosure requiremeatsféective for financial statements of
interim or annual periods ending after December20B2. The adoption of the disclosure requiremehEN No. 45 did not have a material
impact on the Company's financial position or rssaf operations. The Company is currently evahgathe effects of the recognition
provision of FIN No. 45, but does not expect thegthn to have a material impact on the Compaiiyantial position or results of
operations.

In January 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpratdio. 46 "Consolidation of Variable Interest Ew®titi" In general, a variable interest
entity is a corporation, partnership, trust, or attyer legal structure used for business purpdegseither (a) does not have equity investors
with voting rights or

(b) has equity investors that do not provide sigfit financial resources for the entity to supgitsractivities. A variable interest entity often
holds financial assets, including loans or recdemlreal estate or other property. A variablerggeentity may be essentially passive or it
may engage in activities on behalf of another camgpbintil now, a company generally has includedtheoentity in its consolidated
financial statements only if it controlled the énthrough voting interests. FIN No. 46 changes byarequiring a variable interest entity to be
consolidated by a company if that company is suligea majority of the risk of loss from the vafi@alinterest entity's activities or entitled to
receive a majority of the entity's residual retuon®oth. FIN No. 46's consolidation requirememtpla immediately to variable interest
entities created or acquired after January 31, 2008 consolidation requirements apply to oldeitiestin the first fiscal year or interim
period beginning after June 15, 2003. Certain efdisclosure requirements apply to all financiatesnents issued after January 31, 2003,
regardless of when the variable interest entity esiablished. The Company has adopted FIN No.fé6taefe January 31, 2003. The
Company does not anticipate that the adoption Nfif¥b. 46 will have a material impact on the Compampnsolidated financial condition or
results of operations taken as a whole.

18. Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made to thor paars' amounts to conform with the current gaaresentation.
NOTE B -- BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND LIQUIDITY MATTE RS

At December 31, 2002, the Company had cash anderpghalents of $9,211,000, working capital of apgmately $5,933,000 and a
stockholders' deficit of approximately $12,268,000e Company incurred a loss from operations of@pmately $12,937,000 and a net loss
of $59,589,000 during the year ended December@12.2

On December 20, 2002, the Company consummatedat@offering of securities for an approximate agaite purchase price of
$26,394,000 (the "2002 Debenture Offering"). Theusigies issued in the Offering consisted of 5%\westible senior secured debentures (the
"2002 Debentures"). Of the $26,394,000 in 2002 Délres issued in the 2002 Debenture Offering, apprately $15,894,000 of the 2002
Debentures were issued in exchange for the sur@idelike amount of principal and accrued intéres
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outstanding under Company's 10% convertible prasnyssotes issued pursuant to various working chpitdge loan transactions with Gal
Partners Ill, L.P., Galen International Ill, L.Balen Employee Fund Ill, L.P. (collectively, "Galgand certain other lenders, during the
period from August 15, 2001 through and includirecBmber 20, 2002. The 2002 Debentures, issued,aviidoecome due and payable as
to principal on March 31, 2006. Interest on thegipal amount of the 2002 Debentures, at the ia8tper annum, is payable on a quarterly
basis. Interest on the 2002 Debentures will betanbially paid by the Company's issuance of a delernnstrument substantial identical to
the 2002 Debentures issued in the 2002 Debentdeziy, in the principal amount equal to the acdrirgerest for each quarterly period. (
Note H)

Until such time as the Company successfully develoml commercializes new finished dosage productsetive pharmaceutical
ingredients, of which there can be no assuraneeCtimpany will continue to incur operating lossed aegative cash flow from operations.
The Company believes that the proceeds receivetei@002 Debenture Offering, will be sufficientsatisfy the Company's working capital
requirements only through June 2003. At the Comsamygjuest, on May 5, 2003, the Company receivettex executed by each of Care
Capital Investments Il, LP, Galen and Essex WoadtHatiealth Ventures V, L.P. (the "Majority 2002 Deheeholders") advising that the
Majority 2002 Debentureholders would provide furgdto meet the Company's 2003 capital requiremeptsy an aggregate amount not to
exceed $8.6 million (the "Letter of Support"). Tihetter of Support provides that the amount of amyding provided by the Majority 2002
Debentureholders would be reduced to the exteahpffunding obtained by the Company from third-padurces during 2003. The Letter of
Support further provides that the terms of any fnggrovided by the Majority 2002 Debentureholdeiit be subject to negotiation between
the Company and the Majority 2002 Debentureholdetke time of any such funding. The terms of amhsunding will be subject to
approval by those directors of the Company thauasdfiliated with the Majority 2002 DebenturehalsleWhile the terms of any funding to
meet the Company's 2003 capital requirements arerdly unknown, it is likely that such terms widisult in significant additional dilution to
holders of the Company's Common Stock. In consiaerdor the issuance of the Letter of Support, @mmpany authorized the issuance of
warrants to the Majority 2002 Debentureholders esable for an aggregate of 645,000 shares of ttrepany's Common Stock at an exer
price of $.34 per share (which is equivalent todbeversion price of the 2002 Debentures), suldedbwnward adjustment to equal the
consideration per share received by the Compangsf@ommon Stock, or the conversion/exercise geeshare of the Company's Common
Stock issuable under convertible securities, inira fparty investment if lower than the exercisie@of the warrants.

The Company believes that the remaining net praceéthe 2002 Debenture Offering, along with theding to be provided under the Letter
of Support combined with cash flow from operationdl, be sufficient to satisfy the Company's worginapital requirements through January
1, 2004.

Failure to obtain a third party investment or taale agreement with the Majority 2002 Debenturehsloa mutually acceptable terms to fund
the Company's capital requirements for 2003 wiluiee the Company (i) to delay or cease the coetimlevelopment of its licensed
technologies and the completion of planned capitpkenditures, (ii) to obtain funds through arrangeta with third parties on terms that may
require the Company to relinquish rights to iteffised technologies, which the Company would ottserwursue on its own or that would
dilute the Company's stockholders, (iii) signifidguscale back or terminate operations and/orgegk protection under applicable bankruj
laws. An extended delay or a cessation of the Cogip&ontinuing development efforts related tajgate synthesis technologies or delays
in obtaining required DEA approvals, will have atereal adverse effect on the Company's financiadétion and results of operations.

F-16



HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (CONT INUED)
DECEMBER 31, 2002, 2001 AND 2000

NOTE C -- STRATEGIC ALLIANCE WITH WATSON PHARMACEUT ICALS

On March 29, 2000, the Company completed variawadegiic alliance transactions with Watson Pharmiézas, Inc. ("Watson"). The
transactions provided for Watson's purchase oftaioepending abbreviated new drug application (DMN) from the Company, for Watsor
rights to negotiate for Halsey to manufacture amups/ certain identified future products to be deped by Halsey, for Watson's marketing
and sale of the Company's core products and fosdat extension of a $17,500,000 term loan to thragany.

(See Note I(a).)

1. Product Acquisition Agreement

The product acquisition portion of the transactiaith Watson provided for Halsey's sale of a pegdMNDA and related rights (the
"Product") to Watson for aggregate consideratiofix#,500,000 (the "Product Acquisition Agreememy.part of the execution of the
Product Acquisition Agreement, the Company and \WWaexecuted ten-year supply agreements coveringdiive pharmaceutical ingredient
("API") and finished dosage form of the Productquamt to which Halsey, at Watson's discretion, méinufacture and supply Watson's
requirements for the Product API and, where thelletbAPI is sourced from the Company, finished desarms of the Product. The
purchase price for the Product was payable in tim&gallments as certain milestones were achielbe first of such milestones was achie
in April of 2000, whereby the Company received FBgproval and Watson paid the Company $5,000,008ptil 2001, Watson remitted
$5,000,000 to the Company representing the secdedtone achievement. The third and last of thestilnes was achieved in July 2001,
whereby $3,500,000 was received from Watson.

2. Right of First Negotiation Agreement

The Company and Watson also executed a rightsifrfiggotiation agreement providing Watson withrst fight to negotiate the terms under
which the Company would manufacture and supplyagespecified APIs and finished dosage productsetdeveloped by the Company. The
right of first negotiation agreement provides thpbn Watson's exercise of its right to negotiatetie supply of a particular product, the
parties will negotiate the specific terms of thenofacturing and supply arrangement, including pricelusivity, minimum purchase
requirements, if any, territory and term. In them/Watson does not exercise its right of firstatigion upon receipt of written notice from
the Company as to its receipt of applicable govemtial approval relating to a covered product, dhevent the parties are unable to reach
agreement on the material terms of a supply arraegérelating to such product within sixty daysiétson's exercise of its right to negot
for such product, the Company may negotiate wittd tharties for the supply, marketing and salehef applicable product. The right of first
negotiation agreement has a term of ten yearsesutg extension in the absence of written notioenfeither party for two additional periods
of five years each. The right of first negotiatigreement applies only to API and finished dosagdyzts identified in the agreement and
does not otherwise prohibit the Company from devielp other APIs or finished dosage products fagliter third parties.

3. Core Products Supply Agreement

The Company and Watson also completed a manufagtarid supply agreement providing for Watson's etarg and sale of the Company's
existing core products portfolio (the "Core Prodgustipply Agreement"). The Core Products Supply &grent obligated Watson to purchase
a minimum amount of approximately $3,060,000 peartgr (the "Minimum Purchase Amount") in core pradurom the Company, through
September 30, 2001 (the "Minimum Purchase Peridd")he expiration of the initial Minimum PurchaBeriod, if Watson did not continue
satisfy the Minimum Purchase Amount, the Companuldi¢then be able to market and sell the core prisdut its own or through a third
party. On August 8, 2001, the Company and Watsecwed an amendment to the Core Products Supplefrgnt providing (i) for a
reduction of the Minimum Purchase Amount from $8,000 to $1,500,000 per quarter,
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(i) for an extension of the Minimum Purchase Péffimm the quarter ended September 30, 2001 tqubheer ended September 30, 2002,
(iii) for Watson to recover previous advance paytmenade under the Core Products Supply Agreemeheiform of the Company's
provision of products having a purchase price ofau$750,000 per quarter (such credit amount tm lexcess of Watson's $1,500,000
minimum quarterly purchase obligation), and (iv) ttlee Company's repayment to Watson of any remgiadvance payments made by
Watson under the Core Products Supply Agreemeudtydrich amount has not been recovered by proddistedies by the Company to
Watson as provided in Subsection (iii) above) io t®) equal monthly installments on October 1, 2808 November 1, 2002. The
Company's remaining advance payments from Watsoe $%901,331 at September 30, 2002. (See Not¢ I@-March 2003, the Company
notified Watson that the Company intended to contaeselling the core products independent of, aradidition to, Watson's efforts as
provided for under the Core Products Agreement.

4. Term Loan Agreement

The final component of the Company's strategiaade with Watson provided for Watson's extensioa $17,500,000 term loan to the
Company ("Watson Term Loan"). The loan was fundeish$tallments upon the Company's request for athaand the provision to Watson
of a supporting use of proceeds relating to each advance. The loan is secured by a first liealbof the Company's assets, senior to the
lien securing all other Company indebtedness, enaifloating rate of interest equal to prime us percent and had an initial maturity date
of March 31, 2003. As part of the Company's 200Bdp¢ure Offering (Note H), the Watson Term Loan waended to (1) extend the
maturity date to March 31, 2006, (2) increase titerest rate to prime plus four and one half pdraad (3) increase the principal amount by
$3,901,331 to reflect the inclusion of the Coredeieis Supply Agreement advance payments owed bgdhgany to Watson. In
consideration of the amendment to the Watson Tesam|.the Company issued to Watson a common stackase warrant ("Watson
Warrant") exercisable for 10,700,665 shares ofdbmpany's common stock at an exercise price of geB4hare. The warrant has a term
expiring December 31, 2009. The fair value of that¥@n Warrant on the date of grant, as calculadedjuhe Black-Scholes option-pricing
model, of $11,985,745 was charged to earnings @dale of grant as a loss on the extinguishmedebf. As of December 31, 2002, Watson
has advanced $21,401,331 to the Company under gtedWwW Term Loan.

(See Note I(a).)

NOTE D -- CARRYING AMOUNT AND FAIR VALUE OF FINANCI AL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalertsiacounts receivable approximates fair value duke short-term maturities of the
instruments. The fair value of the Company's actopayable, long-term and short-term debt cannatdtermined without incurring
excessive costs.

F-18



HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (CONT INUED)
DECEMBER 31, 2002, 2001 AND 2000

NOTE E -- INVENTORIES

Inventories consist of the following:

DECEMBER 31,

2002 2001

(IN THOUSANDS)
Finished goods........cccocovvviiiiiiieaeee. $ - $ 38
WOrK-IN-proCess......ccoovveeiniiiiieeiiiiieeeenee 831 1,076

1,454 1,615

Raw materialS......ccccccoevvevvviiiiiiiieee

NOTE F -- PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are summarized &snfsi

DECEMBER 31,

(IN THOUSANDS)
$9,120 $10,373

Construction in progresS.....cceveeeeeeeevveeeeee 157 730

Leasehold improvements........ccccccovcveeenneeee L 1,454 1,407

Building and building improvements.................. ... 2,813 2,343
44 44

13,588 14,897

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (inc luding
$15 in 2002 and $3 in 2001 of capitalized lease

amortization).......ccccoevvvveiccciiiiiiies (8,221) (8,899)

Included in machinery and equipment is equipmetwnaed under capitalized leases at December 32, 200 2001, of $114,000 and
$79,000, respectively. Depreciation and amortizaéigpense for the years ended December 31, 2002,801 2000 was approximately

$835,000, $861,000 and $644,000, respectively.
NOTE G -- ACCRUED EXPENSES

Accrued expenses are summarized as follows:

DECEMBER 31,

2002 2001

(IN THOUSANDS)
INTEIESt...eiiiiii e $ 988 $1,001
Accrued payroll and payroll taxes......cccccceeee.. L 497 177
Professional fees.......ccoocevvvvvvvcvvcceeeee. L 388 314
Deferred product obligation............ccccooeeeee.. L -- 3,645

1,242 1,068
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NOTE H -- CONVERTIBLE SUBORDINATED DEBENTURES AND S TOCK WARRANTS

At December 31, 2002 and 2001, convertible subatdihdebentures outstanding and related debt discelated to the following issuances
are as follows:

DECEMBER 31,

(IN THOUSANDS)
ISSUANCE OF DEBENTURES

1998 Debentures.......ccccvvveeeevvieeeeeeicees $ 30,215 $28,954
1999 Debentures......ccocvvvvveeeenieieeeeeeeeees 20,509 19,580
2002 Debentures......cccccvvveeeeiveiineeeeeeeeee 26,394 --

77,118 48,534
Less: Debt discount.........coccoeveevicceeeennes L (73,955) (2,355)

$ 3,163 $46,179

In March and June 1998, the Company consummateidate offering of securities for an aggregate pase price of approximately
$25,800,000 million (the "Galen Offering"). The géties issued in the Galen Offering consisted%f Gonvertible Senior Secured
Debentures (the "1998 Debentures") and Common Rackhase Warrants (the "1998 Warrants"). The I¥&8entures had an initial
conversion price of $1.404 per share, for an agdesgf up to approximately 18,376,068 shares oCii@pany's Common Stock. The 1998
Warrants were initially exercisable for an aggregatapproximately 5,500,084 shares of the Comgabgmmon Stock. Of such Warrants,
2,784,250 Warrants were exercisable at $1.404hmesand the remaining 2,715,834 Warrants werecisadrle at $2.279 per share. In
connection with the Galen Offering, the Companyimed offering costs of $1,236,000 for legal anekstment banker fees. These related
offering costs were amortized over the life of tekated debentures. Pursuant to certain provisionsained in the Watson Term Loan (see
Note I(a)), certain interest payments on the 198Bdhtures to investors, as agreed, are to be male form of additional debentures. As
December 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company has isslthtional debentures as payment of accrued interethe 1998 Debentures of
$4,427,000 and $3,166,000, respectively.

In May 1999, the Company consummated a privateiaffeof securities for an aggregate purchase pricpproximately $17,862,000(the
"Oracle Offering"). The securities issued in the@e Offering consisted of 5% Convertible SeniocuBed Debentures (the "1999
Debentures") and Common Stock Purchase Warra@s 1899 Warrants"). The 1999 Debentures had ailicionversion price of $1.404
share, for an aggregate of up to approximately22222 shares of the Company's Common Stock. T8 Warrants were initially
exercisable for an aggregate of approximately 3@@Bshares of the Company's Common Stock. Of $entiants, 1,804,301 Warrants were
exercisable at $1.404 per share and the remain8ugB01 Warrants were exercisable at $2.279 maesApproximately $7,037,000 of the
1999 Debentures were issued in exchange for thersier of a like amount of principal and accruddriest outstanding under the Company's
convertible promissory notes issued pursuant tmwuarbridge loans received in the aggregate amafu$it0,533,000 during the period from
August 1998 through and including May 1999 (the99 ®8ridge Loans"). In exchange for the credito@nging extensions on maturity dates
of the Company's 1999 Bridge Loans, the Companyeisvarrants to purchase 1,025,049 shares of thgp&uwy's common stock at exercise
prices ranging from $1.18 to $2.32. Pursuant ttageprovisions contained in the Watson Term Lasge(Note I(a)), certain interest paym:
on the 1999 Debentures to investors, as agreeth &emade in the form of additional debenturesoADecember 31, 2002 and 2001, the
Company has issued
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additional debentures as payment of accrued irterethe 1999 Debentures of $2,647,000 and $1,0081@spectively.

Each of the 1998 Debentures, 1999 Debentures, Wgg8ints and 1999 Warrants contain customary i protection. Specifically, ea
of such convertible securities provides that inglient the Company issues shares of its Commork Stagecurities convertible into Comm
Stock at a price less than the fair market valud@fCompany's Common Stock on the date of issudaicenarket value being equal to the
average of the closing bid and asked price foGbmpany's Common Stock as reported by the OveGtheiter Bulletin Board for the 20
trading days preceding the date of issuance),dheassion and exercise prices of the 1998 Debesita#99 Debentures, 1998 Warrants and
1999 Warrants are adjusted downward on a weightedage basis. In addition, once having determihechew conversion/exercise price of
such convertible securities, the holder of suchvedible securities is entitled to acquire uponwamsion or exercise of such instrument, the
number of shares of Common Stock obtained by myiltip the conversion/exercise price in effect immagely prior to such adjustment by
the number of shares of Common Stock acquirableddiately prior to such adjustments, and dividing pnoduct thereof by the new
conversion/exercise price.

On December 20, 2002, the Company consummatedat@offering of securities (the "2002 Debenturée€ifig") for an aggregate purchase
price of $26,394,000. The securities issued caedist 5% convertible senior secured debentures'#d@2 Debentures"). Of the 2002
Debentures, approximately $15,894,000 of Debentwege issued in exchange for the surrender ofdikeunt of principal and accrued
interest outstanding under various working cagitadge loan transactions during the period from ésidl5, 2001 through and including
December 20, 2002. (See Note I(b).) The 2002 Debesitvere issued at par, will become due and payabto principal on March 31, 2006
and interest is accrued at the rate of 5% per aranaris payable on a quarterly basis. Interest paysnon certain of the 2002 Debentures are
to be made in the form of additional debentures.

2002 Debentures issued to certain investors imgiggegate face amount of $10,000,000 are conveditdny time after issuance into shares
of the Company's Common Stock. The remainder o2@@2 Debentures are convertible at any time #ieeapproval of the Company's
shareholders and debentureholders to an amendotivd Company's Certificate of Incorporation tor@ase its authorized shares of Comi
Stock from 80,000,000 shares to such number okstas shall provide sufficient authorized shargmetait the conversion of the 2002
Debentures and the Company's other outstandingectiole securities. Subject to the foregoing, tB82Debentures are convertible into
shares of Common Stock at a price per share (tbavé&sion Price") of $.34. Until such time as them®any completes a Subsequent
Material Offering (as defined below) the Conversinice is subject to adjustment, from time to titoegqual the consideration per share
received by the Company for its Common Stock, erabnversion/exercise price per share of the Cogp&@ommon Stock issuable under
rights or option for the purchase of, or stock threo securities convertible into, Common Stock (i@ertible Securities"), if lower than the
then applicable Conversion Price. Following the @any's completion of a Subsequent Material Offerihg Conversion Price is subject to
adjustment from time to time on a weighted-avemiggion basis. A "Subsequent Material Offering'tie grant or issuance of Common
Stock or Convertible Securities by the Companymueny six (6) month period for an aggregate geossideration of at least $10,000,000.
The 2002 Debentures are initially convertible iatbaggregate of approximately 77,629,000 shar€oofmon Stock. Debentures that are
issued to pay interest on the 2002 Debenturescareectible at anytime after issuance into shargSahmon Stock at a price per share equal
to the average of the closing bid and asked poté&se Common Stock for the twenty (20) tradingslagmediately preceding the applicable
interest payment date under the 2002 Debenturespasted by the Over-the-Counter ("OTC") BulleBioard. As a condition of the 2002
Debenture Offering, the maturity of the 1998 Dehessg and 1999 Debentures was extended from MarchODB to March 31, 2006.
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The 2002 Purchase Agreement provides that the teotdehe 2002 Debentures shall have the righbte as part of a single class with all
holders of the Company's Common Stock on all mattebe voted on by such stockholders. Each 20@2iitare holder shall have such
number of votes as shall equal the number of ve¢esould have had if such holder converted theeptitstanding principal amount of his
2002 Debenture into shares of Common Stock immelgligtior to the record date relating to such vpteyided, however, that any
Debentures held by a certain investor shall, fdoag as they are held by that investor, have nimgaights.

As part of the completion of the 2002 Debenturee@ifig, the Company also amended its term loan aggeewith Watson and issued to
Watson a common stock purchase warrant for 10,880s6ares (the "Watson Warrant"). (See Note [{d)¢ exercise price of the Watson
Warrant is $.34 per share. The fair market valudefCompany's Common Stock on December 20, 2863jate of the closing of the 2002
Purchase Agreement (as calculated in accordanbehégtdefinition of fair market value containedfie 1998 Debentures, 1999 Debentures,
1998 Warrants and 1999 Warrants), was $.99 peeshAarthe conversion price of the 2002 Debentunelsexercise price of the Watson
Warrant were less than the fair market value ofGbepany's Common Stock on the date of issuantteed002 Debentures, the dilution
adjustment provisions contained in each of the 1988entures, 1999 Debentures, 1998 Warrants ar@l\A@®rants were triggered. As a
result, the conversion price of the 1998 Debentwas reduced from $1.34 per share to $.59 anddieecsion price of the 1999 Debentures
was reduced from $1.404 per share to $.61. Additipnthe exercise price of the 1998 Warrants veakiced from $1.34 per share to $.59 per
share and from $2.16 per share to $.95 per shheecdnversion price of the 1999 Warrants was redlfroen $1.404 per share to $ .61 per
share and from $2.285 per share to $1.00 per shA#ieg.giving effect to the Dilution Adjustment$ied number of shares issuable upon
conversion of the 1998 Debentures and 1999 Debemhas been increased by 41,184,184 shares of Co&tack, from 31,967,120 to
73,151,304 shares. In addition, the number of shigseiable upon exercise of the remaining 1998 aWigsrand 1999 Warrants, after taking
into effect the Warrant recapitalization, as diseasbelow, has been increased by 8,023,928 sliiames5,867,013 to 13,890,941 shares. /
condition of the 2002 Debenture Offering, the mifudate of the 1998 Debentures and 1999 Debentuassextended from March 15, 2003
to March 31, 2006. The Company recorded a chargaroings of $14,148,757 related to an increasieeifiair value of the warrants, as
calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricingdel, as a result of the modification of termshaf 1998 Warrants and 1999 Warrants.

The conversion features contained in the Comp&®p2 Debentures are considered to be benefictakthiolder as they allow the holder to
convert the 2002 Debentures to the Company's constoahk at conversion prices that were below therfearket value of the Company's
common stock on the date of issuance. The convefsaiures, as adjusted, contained in certaineCthmpany's 1998 Debentures and 1999
Debentures are also considered to beneficial thdhaer as they allow the holder to convert the8LB@bentures and 1999 Debentures to the
Company's common stock at conversion prices thes¢ Wwelow the fair market value of the Company's mmm stock on the date of issuance.
The estimated value of the beneficial conversi@tuiees contained in each of the 1998 Debentur&§ D@bentures and 2002 Debentures of
$74,618,817 has been recorded as debt discounis hrthg amortized to expense over the life ofdéabt.

The 2002 Debentures are secured by a lien onsdtasf the Company, tangible and intangible. hitaah, each of Houba, Inc. and Halsey
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. has executed in favor ohtiiders of the 2002 Debentures an unconditionaemgent of guarantee of the Company's
obligations under the Purchase Agreement. Eachagtes is secured by all assets of such subsidiagy,in the case of Houba, Inc., by a
mortgage lien on its Culver, Indiana real estateaddition, the Company has pledged the stock di sach subsidiary to the holders of the
2002 Debentures to further secure its obligatiorden the Purchase Agreement.
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In accordance with the terms of a Subordinationeggrent dated December 20, 2002 between the Comihanlyolders of the 2002
Debentures, the holders of the 1998 and 1999 Detenand Watson, the liens on the Company's asdlisidiaries’ assets as well as the
payment priority of the 2002 Debenture are

(i) subordinate to the Company's lien and paymetfigations in favor of Watson under the Watson Té&wan, and (i) senior to the
Company's lien and payment obligations in favohafiers of the 1998 and 1999 Debentures.

WARRANT RECAPITALIZATION

As part of the completion of the transactions cowgated in the 2002 Purchase Agreement, the Compamgummated the terms of a
Warrant Recapitalization Agreement dated DecemBgeRQ02 (the "Recapitalization Agreement”) betwdenCompany and certain holders
of an aggregate of 8,145,736 Common Stock Purdh&aseants issued by the Company (i) pursuant td 888 Purchase Agreement (the
"1998 Warrants"), (ii) pursuant to the 1999 Purehagreement (the "1999 Warrants"), and (iii) purdua various bridge loan transactions
during the period from 1998 through 2002 (the "Bad.oan Warrants" and collectively with the 1998rvdats and 1999 Warrants, the
"Recapitalization Warrants"). As part of the clgsof the Recapitalization Agreement, the warratdiéis surrendered to the Company for
cancellation the Recapitalization Warrants in exdeafor the issuance of an aggregate of 5,970,08%s of Common Stock. The Company
recorded a charge to earnings of $2,282,000, reptieg the fair value of excess shares of Commonkgranted, related to the warrant
recapitalization.

Certain other outstanding warrant agreements weudifiad as a result of dilution adjustment provi@acontained therein. The Company
recorded a charge to earnings of $863,000 relatad increase in the fair value of the warrantgasulated using the Black-Scholes option-
pricing model, as a result of the modification exfbs.

RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Certain of the 1998 Debentures and 1999 Debenareskeld by members of the Company's managemerB@ard of Directors. The
aggregate principal amount of such debentures pa®aimately $364,000 and $348,000 at Decembe2302 and 2001, respectively.
Interest expense on these debentures was apprexyr$af7,000, $17,000 and $16,000, for the yeargeémecember 31, 2002, 2001 and
2000, respectively, of which approximately $16,08605,000 and $10,000 was paid through the issuaindee debentures.

NOTE | -- NOTES PAYABLE AND STOCK WARRANTS
At December 31, 2002 and 2001, notes payable dedsid the following:

DECEMBER 31,

2002 2001

(IN THOUSANDS)
Term note payable(@)........cccceevveevvveevceeeee $21,401 $17,500
Bridge loans(b).....cocovviiviiiiiiiiieeeee $ -- $2,5500
Capital lease obligations.........cccccevveceeee. L 73 68

73 2,568

Less: Current maturities......cccoeeceveeeevceeee. L (33) (2,568)

$ 40 $
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(@) In connection with various strategic allian@ntsactions, Watson advanced $17,500,000 to thep@ayrunder a term loan. The loan is
secured by a first lien on all of the Company'stsssenior to the lien securing all other Compadgbtedness, and carries a floating rate of
interest equal to prime plus two percent and hadrainal maturity date of March 31, 2003. As pafrthe Company's 2002 Debenture
Offering, the Watson Term Loan was amended toXfierel the maturity date to March 31, 2006, (2) éase the interest rate to prime plus
four and one half percent and (3) increase thecjéh amount to $21,401,331 to reflect the inclnsid the Core Products Supply Agreement
advance payments. The interest rate at Decemb@082,was 8.75%. In consideration for the extensicthe maturity date of the Watson
Term Loan, the Company granted the Watson Warrsitribed in Notes C and H. The fair value of therarat on the date of grant, as
calculated using the Black-Scholes option-pricingdel, of $11,985,745 was charged to operationbeméate of grant as loss on the
extinguishment of debt.

(b) On August 15, 2001, the Company executed agBridban Agreement pursuant to which the Compargived $2,500,000 (the "2001
Bridge Loan"). The proceeds of the 2001 Bridge Laane used by the Company to satisfy in full thenpany's 10% convertible
subordinated debentures in the principal amouB2¢600,000 issued in August 1996 and which mataredugust 6, 2001. The 2001 Bridge
Loan bore interest at the rate of 10% per annure.Zl001 Bridge Loan was convertible into commonlkstica conversion price of $3.012 per
share, which conversion price equals the averagtny price of the Company's common stock for (hel@ys preceding the closing date. In
consideration for the extension of the 2001 Brilgan, the Company issued warrants expiring Augbst008, to purchase an aggregate of
187,500 shares of the Company's common stock exentise price of $3.012 per share. The relatitinaged fair value of the warrants,
$310,000, was recorded as additional debt discauehiwvas amortized over the life of the bridge loan.

During the period January 9, 2002 through DecerBb2002, the Company secured various bridge laatigei total principal amount of
$12,500,000 to fund the Company's working capéglirements. These loans bear interest at 10.0%npemm and were convertible at prices
ranging from $2.16 to $1.28 into a total of 7,38® %hares of the Company's common stock. The csiovefeatures contained in certain of
these bridge loans were considered to be beneficthle holder as they allowed the holder to caonther bridge loans to the Company's
common stock at conversion prices that were belmfdir market value of the Company's common stotkhe date of issuance. As
additional consideration for these bridge loans,@lompany issued warrants to purchase 4,255,148sshthe Company's common stock
with exercise prices ranging from $2.16 to $1.28 Telative estimated fair value of the warrant$mfL15,000 and the estimated value of the
conversion feature of $3,745,000 were recordediditianal debt discount and amortized over thedif¢he bridge loans.

At December 20, 2002, total bridge loans and actmierest outstanding equaled approximately $ZH@0, of which approximately
$15,894,000 was surrendered in exchange for th2 P@bentures and approximately $128,000 was repaig total number of warrants
issued in connection with these bridge loans wé421643. Under the terms of the warrant agreentbatsonversion price of each of these
warrants was adjusted to $.34.
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The following table summarizes information concegnoutstanding and exercisable stock purchase mtarra

WARRANTS OUTSTANDING

WEIGHTED-
NUMBER AVERAGE  WEIGHTED-
OUTSTANDING AT REMAINING  AVERAGE

RANGES OF DECEMBER 31, CONTRACTUAL EXERCISE
EXERCISE PRICES 2002 LIFE (YEARS) PRICE
$.34-81.00.......coociiiiiiiie e 32,925,445 4.68 $.55

NOTE J -- INCOME TAXES

Reconciliations between the Federal income taxaatethe Company's effective income tax rate werfelows:

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,
2002 2001 2000
AMOUNT % AMOUNT % AMOUNT %

(DO LLARS IN THOUSANDS)
Federal statutory rate....... $(20,260) (34.0)% $(4,271) (34.0)% $(4,095) (34.0)%
Loss for which no tax benefit
was provided............... 20,229 339 4,231 33.7 4,045 33.6
Federal tax carryback
refund........cccoeeeee. (389) (3.4)
Department of Justice
settlement................. 16 1 21 .2 26 2
Other.....ccocvevevennnnn. 15 .0 19 1 24 2
Actual tax benefit........... $ - % $ - % $ (389 (3.4)%

The Company has net operating loss carryforwardseggiting approximately $147,800,000, expiring migithe years 2011 through 2022.

The tax loss carryforwards of the Company andubsgliaries may be subject to limitation by Sec®®&2 of the Internal Revenue Code with
respect to the amount utilizable each year. Th#dition reduces the Company's ability to utiliz¢ aperating loss carryforwards included
above each year. The amount of the limitation labaen quantified by the Company.
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The components of the Company's deferred tax a@sddsities), pursuant to SFAS No. 109, are sumae as follows:

DECEMBER 31,

(IN THOUSANDS)
Deferred tax assets

Net operating loss carryforwards.........co...... . ... $66,484 $ 39,455
ASSEL rESEIVES....cooevieiiiiiiiiieeeeee 320 315
Research and development tax credit............... ... 29 104
Accrued eXpPenSesS.....cccccevvvevvvcciiiiiieiee 294 397
Capital loss carryforwards........ e 211 213
Depreciation and amortization..........cccc...... .. 378 408
Other. .o 73 56
Gross deferred tax assets.......cccovceveeeee. L 67,789 40,948
Deferred tax liabilities
Depreciation........ccovvvvvvvvvveiiineneeees (93)
Net deferred tax assets before valuation allow ance..... 67,696 40,948
Valuation allowance........c.cccooveeviiccens L. (67,696) (40,948)
Net deferred tax assets.......ccccceveeee. $ - 3

SFAS No. 109 requires a valuation allowance agalefdrred tax assets if, based on the weight dfabla evidence, it is more likely than r
that some or all of the deferred tax assets map@aoealized. The valuation allowance at DecemePB02 primarily pertains to
uncertainties with respect to future utilizationnet operating loss carryforwards.

NOTE K -- CESSATION AND RELOCATION OF BROOKLYN, NEW YORK PLANT OPERATIONS

The Company's formal decision to discontinue itsdkiyn, New York plant operations was initiatedlie fourth quarter of 1999 with
notification to its union. The Brooklyn operatioosased in March 2001. The total charge of appratein&3,220,000 resulting from
eliminating the Brooklyn operation taken in 1998ludes the lease termination payment of $1,150,8@bpvision of $200,000 for plant
repairs, the write-off of leasehold improvement$df778,000, severance and other costs for teredrernployees of $730,000, less deferred
rent previously expensed of $638,000.

During the year ended December 31, 2000, the Coynanorded a charge of approximately $53,000 remtasy additional severance costs.
During the year ended December 31, 2001, the Coynaorded a charge of approximately $68,000 remtasy loss on disposal of idle
fixed assets. During the year ended December 32,208e Company recorded a benefit of approximai&R6,000 representing a recovery
from the landlord related to the Company's provigib plant repair costs that were not utilized by landlord.

NOTE L -- INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURE AND IMPAIRMEN T CHARGE

The Company entered into a 50% joint venture inr&katy 2000 for the purpose of engaging in the dgwaknt, manufacture and marketing
of various products. The joint venture was accodifiee under the equity method. During the fourtlager of 2001, the Company recorded an
impairment charge of $151,000, as it was determihatlthe fair value of such investment was zeve, b the uncertainty of the joint
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venture's ability to raise additional capital olgenerate income from operations. During 2002 pténers in the joint venture began
proceedings to dissolve the entity.

NOTE M -- PRODUCT AGREEMENTS
1. Acquisition of Barr Laboratories, Inc. ANDA

On April 16, 1999, the Company completed an actjoisagreement with Barr Laboratories, Inc. ("Baptoviding for the Company's
purchase of the rights to 50 pharmaceutical prad({ibe "Barr Products"). Under the terms of theu&ition agreement with Barr, the
Company acquired all of Barr's rights in the BanwdRicts, including all related governmental appteymcluding ANDAS) and related
technical data and information. In considerationtfie acquisition of the Barr Products, the Compiaayed to Barr a common stock purchase
warrant exercisable for 500,000 shares of the Cogip@ommon stock having an exercise price of #5q&r share (the fair value of the
Common Stock on the date of issuance) and havtegraof five years. The Company valued the warrah®350,000 using the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model. Accordingly, the Ca@np recorded a deferred charge to be amortized ag@ense to the Company's
operations over a ten-year period, which is theneded life of the related ANDAs. The acquisitiagreement with Barr also allows Barr to
purchase any of the Barr Products manufacturetidy"ompany for a period of five years.

2. Commercialization and License Agreement

Effective September 27, 2000, the Company enteradain exclusive license for certain patented teldgy owned by Bio-Fine
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. ("Bibine") for the synthesis of codeine from morphiflee agreement provided for a fixed amount of $3,00G to be
paid out as certain milestones are achieved wittah of $500,000 paid during 2000. The agreemébsat provided for the grant of 50,000
warrants and an employment agreement, both comtingen FDA approval and the first commercial safeich has not yet occurred.

In November 2001, the Company notified Bioie of its election to immediately terminate tloenenercialization and license agreement. L
termination of this agreement, the contingent waraamd employment agreement expired.

NOTE N -- EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS
1. Employees' Pension Plan

The Company contributed approximately $19,000 &&I@0, in 2001 and 2000, respectively, to a multilyer pension plan for employe
covered by collective bargaining agreements. Tha@my has not made any contributions to this pldrssquent to April 1, 2001, since the
Company ceased operations at its Brooklyn, New Ykt in March 2001, whose employees were covieyatiis plan. (See Note K). This
plan was not administered by the Company and dmurttons were determined in accordance with prowsiof negotiated labor contracts.
Information with respect to the Company's propordi share of the excess, if any, of the actugriainputed value of vested benefits over
the total of the pension plan's net assets isvaitable from the plan's administrator.

The Multiemployer Pension Plan Amendments Act @@ &he "Act") significantly increased the pensiesponsibilities of participating
employers. Under the provision of the Act, if tHans terminate or the Company withdraws, the Comganld be subject to a "withdrawal
liability." As of December 31, 2002, the Company Im@t been notified of any withdrawal liability.
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2. 401(k) and Profit-sharing Plan

Effective October 1, 1998, the Company establishé@1(k) and profit-sharing plan for all employe#ser than those covered under
collective bargaining agreements. Eligible empleysmy elect to make a basic contribution of up.58/4lof their annual earnings. The plan
provides that the Company can make discretionatgmray contributions equal to 25% of the first 6%employee contributions for an
aggregate employee contribution of 1.5%, along witliscretionary profit-sharing contribution. Therfpany incurred no expense under the
plan in 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.

3. Stock Option Plans

In September 1995, the stockholders of the Compapyoved the adoption of a stock option and rdsttistock purchase plan (the "1995
Option Plan™). The 1995 Option Plan provides fa ¢fmanting of (i) nonqualified options to purchése Company's common stock at not less
than the fair market value on the date of the opgiant, (ii) incentive stock options to purchdse €Company's common stock at not less than
the fair market value on the date of the optiomgeand (iii) rights to purchase the Company's comstock on a "Restricted Stock" basis, as
defined, at not less than the fair market valu¢hendate the right is granted. The total numbeshafres which may be sold pursuant to options
and rights granted under the 1995 Option PlanG8,000. No option can be granted under the 193®Oplan after May 2005 and no

option can be outstanding for more than ten yefes iés grant. At December 31, 2002, 8,207 sharesavailable for grant under the 1995
Option Plan.

In June 1998, the stockholders of the Company aprthe adoption of a stock option and restrictedkspurchase plan (the "1998 Option
Plan™). The 1998 Option Plan provides for the granof (i) nonqualified options to purchase the Qamy's common stock at a price
determined by the Stock Option Committee, andr{@gntive stock options to purchase the Compamytsnecon stock at not less than the fair
market value on the date of the option grant. Adirgs of stock options have been at the fair marakete on the date of grant. In June 2001,
the shareholders of the Company approved a resoltdiincrease the total number of shares which Ineasold pursuant to options and rights
granted under the 1998 Option Plan to 8,100,0000pimn can be granted under the 1998 Option Fitan April 2008 and no option can be
outstanding for more than ten years after its grdhDecember 31, 2002, 3,920,383 options are alkglfor grant under the 1998 Option
Plan.

Transactions involving stock options under all glane summarized as follows:

WEIGHTED-
STOCK AVERAGE
OPTIONS EXERCISE
OUTSTANDING PRICE

Balance at January 1, 2000........ccccoocevevveeeee 2,610,219 $2.19
Granted.....oooovov 2,262,000 1.50
Forfeited.....coovvevviiiiie e (350,902) 2.04
Balance at December 31, 2000...........cccoeceeeee. 4,521,317 1.86
Granted.....ooovvvc 540,000 2.15
EXEercised......cccovvivimieiiiiiiieeieeeeeeeeeee (52,000) 1.84
Forfeited.....cooveeiiiiieieeeveeeeee (419,367) 2.29
Balance at December 31, 2001..........ccccvcveeee. L 4,589,950 1.85
Granted.....ooovov 470,000 1.29
Forfeited.....cooveeiiiiiiciicceeeeee (51,000) 2.28
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2002......cccccccevvvceees e, 5,008,950 $1.80
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The following table summarizes information concegncurrently outstanding and exercisable stockoogti

OPTIONS OUT STANDING
----------------------------------------- OPTIONS EXERCISABLE
WEIG HTED- e
NUMBER AVE RAGE  WEIGHTED- NUMBER WEIGHTED-
OUTSTANDING AT REMA INING AVERAGE EXERCISABLE AT AVERAGE
RANGES OF DECEMBER 31, CONTR ACTUAL EXERCISE DECEMBER 31, EXERCISE
EXERCISE PRICES 2002 LIFE (YEARS) PRICE 2002 PRICE
$.64-$1.88................ 2,766,500 7 .66 $1.30 1,362,875 $1.32
2.08-2.50.......cce... 2,193,850 6 .10 2.39 1,845,100 2.38
3.02-4.38................ 48,600 7 12 3.31 22,350 3.65
5,008,950 6 .97 $1.80 3,320,325 $1.94

NOTE O -- COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company occupies plant and office facilitied@mnoncancellable operating leases, which expivargous dates through June 2004.
These operating leases provide for scheduled leagéncreases over the term of the lease. Thedgaseide for payment of real estate taxes
based upon a percentage of the annual increaaddition, the Company rents certain equipment ungderating leases, generally for term
two years or less. Total rent expense for the yeaded December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 was appatedy $993,000, $986,000 and
$1,517,000, respectively.

LEASE OF CONGERS, NEW YORK FACILITY (BRENNER DRIVE LOCATION)

Effective March 22, 1999, the Company leased, Bsteaant, a pharmaceutical manufacturing facitigated in Congers, New York (the
"Brenner Drive Facility") from Par Pharmaceuticais;. ("Par") pursuant to an Agreement to Lease (tlease”). The Brenner Drive Facility
contains office, warehouse and manufacturing spadds approximately 35,000 square feet. The Lpeséddes for a term of three years,

with a two-year renewal option, and provides fonued fixed rent of $500,000 per year during thenany term of the Lease and $600,000 per
year during the option period. The Lease also cwertain manufacturing and related equipment ptesly used by Par in its operations

the Brenner Drive Facility (the "Leased Equipmeniti)connection with the execution of the Lease,@lmmpany and Par entered into a
certain Option Agreement pursuant to which the Camypmay purchase the Brenner Drive Facility and_gssed Equipment at any time
during the lease term for $5,000,000. The Compaiy $100,000 for the right to exercise the Optigreéement any time during the primary
term of three years. In March 2002, the Compang Pair $150,000 to secure the right to exercis©fteon Agreement through March 31,
2004.

As part of the execution of the Lease, the CompartyPar entered into a certain Manufacturing amplyuAgreement (the "M&S
Agreement") having a minimum term of twenty-seveanths. The M&S Agreement provided for the Compaanglstract manufacture of
certain designated products manufactured by
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Par at the Brenner Drive Facility prior to the effee date of the Lease. The M&S Agreement als@igiea that Par will purchase a minimum
of $1,150,000 in product during the initial eighteaonths of the Agreement. The M&S Agreement erideldily 2001 and was not renewed;
however, the Company continues to provide contratufacturing services to Par. The M&S Agreementhér provides that the Company
will not manufacture, supply, develop or distribthie designated products to be supplied by the @omp Par under the M&S Agreemen
or for any other person for a period of three yelafective April 2002, the restriction on the dsated products to be supplied by the
Company to Par was removed.

LEASE OF CONGERS, NEW YORK FACILITY (WELLS AVENUE L OCATION)

Effective July 1, 2000, the Company leased, astenlant, a facility located at 125 Wells Avenuen@ers, New York (the "Wells Avenue
Facility"). The Wells Avenue Facility contains afi, warehouse and manufacturing space and is apmtety 18,000 square feet. The lease
provides for a term of four years with an optiomreaew for an additional three years and providesihnual fixed rent of approximately
$127,000 per year during the first two years ofldase and approximately $135,000 per year duhadatst two years.

As of December 31, 2002, the approximate minimuntalecommitments under these operating leasessdialaws:

(IN
THOUSANDS)
Twelve months ending December 31,
2003 $ 844
2004 224
Total minimum payments required............... ... $1,068

EMPLOYMENT CONTRACTS

During March 1998, the Company entered into empkayntontracts with each of two new officers/ empkgy of the Company, which cover
a five-year and a three-year period, respectiveg contracts provide for, among other things:

(i) annual salaries of $175,000 and $140,000 tpdie over the five-year and three-year periodgeetvely, and (ii) an aggregate of
1,300,000 options to purchase the Company's stoak exercise price of $2.38 per common sharevitsttevenly over a three-to-five-year
service period and expire in ten years. In ApriD@Qthese contracts were extended to April 30, 2002001, the annual salaries under these
contracts were increased to $200,000 and $155r88pectively.

During November 2002, the Company entered intonapl@yment contract with a new officer/femployeelaf Company which covers a two-
year period. The contract calls for, among othergr (1) annual salary of $180,000 to be paid ¢hertwc-year period, and (2) an aggregate
of 400,000 options to purchase the Company's stbek exercise price of $1.15 per common sharevésitevenly over a four-year period.
The employment agreement automatically renewsuocessive one-year periods unless the Companyda®@0 days' notice of nonrenewal.

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE SETTLEMENT

On June 21, 1993, the Company entered into a Rieaefnent with the U.S. Department of Justice ((®J") to resolve the DOJ's
investigation into the manufacturing and recordpkeg practices of the Company's Brooklyn, New Yplknt. The Plea Agreement required
the Company to pay a fine of $2,500,000 over figarg in quarterly installments of $125,000, comnrenon or about September 15, 1993.
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As of February 28, 1998, the Company was in defafuthe payment terms of the Plea Agreement anchiede payments aggregating
$350,000. On May 8, 1998, the Company and the Dghéd the Letter Agreement serving to amend tha Rigreement relating to the terms
of the Company's satisfaction of the fine asseaséeér the Plea Agreement. Specifically, the Letigreement provided that the Company
will satisfy the remaining $2,150,000 of the fitedugh the monthly payments of $25,000 commenaimg 1, 1998, plus interest on such
outstanding balance (at the rate calculated putso&#t8 U.S.C. Section 1961 (5.319%). Such payrsemedule will result in the full
satisfaction of the DOJ fine in July 2005. The Eethgreement also provides certain restrictionshenpayment of salary or compensation to
any individual in excess of certain amounts withthiet written consent of the DOJ. In addition, tledteér Agreement requires the repaymel
the outstanding fine to the extent of 25% of thenPany's after-tax profit or 25% of the net proceetived by the Company on any sale of
a capital asset for a sum in excess of $10,00Mtifnvested in another capital asset. At Decer3lheR002, the Company is current in its
payment obligations, with a remaining obligatior5@61,000.

OTHER LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Beginning in 1992, actions were commenced agaimesCompany and numerous other pharmaceutical manuoéas, in connection with the
alleged exposure to diethylstilbestrol ("DES"). Tdefense of all of such matters was assumed bgdinepany's insurance carrier, and a
substantial number have been settled by the ca@iarently, several actions remain pending with@mpany as a defendant in the
Pennsylvania Court of Common Pleas, Philadelphiésiain, and the insurance carrier is defending eation. The Company and its legal
counsel do not believe any of such actions willdhaxmaterial impact on the Company's financial @@ The ultimate outcome of these
lawsuits cannot be determined at this time, andraéegly, no adjustment has been made to the cmlaet financial statements.

The Company is named as a defendant in an actiittedrAlfred Kohn v. Halsey Drug Co. in the Supre@ourt of New York, Bronx
County. The Plaintiff seeks damages of $1 milliontreach of an alleged oral contract to pay agfilsdfee for a business transaction
involving the Company. Discovery in this action legen completed. It is the Company's expectatiditetéor summary judgment in this
action. In the event the Company is unsuccessfits imotion for summary judgment, a trial on thisian will follow. The Company does not
believe this action will have a material impacttbea Company's financial condition. The ultimateconte of this lawsuit cannot be
determined at this time, and accordingly, no adjastt has been made to the consolidated finaneitdraents.

In addition, the Company is a party to legal mataising in the general conduct of business. Ttimate outcome of such matters is not
expected to have a material adverse effect on tlmep@ny's results of operations or financial positio

INDEMNIFICATIONS

Each of the purchase agreements for the Compa®9& Rebentures, 1999 Debentures and 2002 Debemimégns provisions by which the
Company is obligated to indemnify the purchaserthefdebentures for any losses, claims, damagédjties, obligations, penalties, awards,
judgments, expenses or disbursements arising autrelsulting from the breach of any representaticarranty or agreement of the Compi
related to the purchase of the debentures. Theseinification obligations do not include a limit

F-31



HALSEY DRUG CO., INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS -- (CONT INUED)
DECEMBER 31, 2002, 2001 AND 2000

on maximum potential future payments, nor are tlh@serecourse provisions or collateral that magetfthe cost. As of December 31, 2002,
the Company has not recorded a liability for anlgattions arising as a result of these indemnifaabbligations.

NOTE P -- SIGNIFICANT CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Through its strategic alliance with Watson, as used in Note C, the Company sells its portfolicare products under the Watson label for
distribution by Watson to drugstore chains and dvhiglesalers. The Company continues to performtdichcontract manufacturing of certain
non-core products for other customers. During 282 Company had net product revenues from twaousts in excess of 10% of total
product revenues, accounting for 85% and 13%, otisedy, of total product revenues, and 82% and dégpectively, of gross accounts
receivable at December 31, 2002. During 2001 afid 2he Company had net product revenues to orternes in excess of 10% of total
product revenues aggregating to 86% and 59%, régelsc of total product revenues. At December 3101, accounts receivable from this
customer aggregated 61% of gross accounts receivBi loss of these customers would have a mbéehi@rse impact on the Company.

During 2002, 2001 and 2000, the Company purchagpbaimately $1,264,000, $1,512,000 and $1,485r@8pectively, of its raw materia
representing approximately 26%, 25%, and 28% it gaar, of total raw material purchases from orppEer.

NOTE Q -- QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA

1ST 2N D 3RD 4TH
QUARTER QUAR TER QUARTER QUARTER YEAR
(AMOUNTSIN T HOUSANDS EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)
2002
NET PRODUCT REVENUES............. $1,881 $2, 258 $2,013 $ 2,053 $ 8,205
OPERATING LOSS......cccccvvnen. (2,888) (3, 379) (3,466) (3,204) (12,937)
NET LOSS.....ccoooiiiierenne. (5,479) (7, 340) (7,869) (38,901) (59,589)
LOSS PER SHARE -- BASIC AND
DILUTED......cceeovernnne. $ (.36) $ ( 49) $ (.52) $ (2.46) $ (3.90)
2001
Net product revenues............. $7966 $1, 962 $5,326 $ 1,675 $16,929
Operating income (l0ss).......... 1,431 (2, 985) (293) (4,092) (5,939)
Net [0SS......ccovvvvvenenne. (106) (4, 596) (1,903) (5,958) (12,563)
Loss per share -- basic and
diluted.......ccocoovrnnne $ (01) $ ( .30) $ (.113) $ (40) $ (.84)
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ADDITIONS ADDITIONS

BALANCE A T CHARGED TO CHARGED TO BALANCE AT
BEGINNING COSTSAND  OTHER END OF
DESCRIPTION OF PERIOD EXPENSES ACCOUNTS DEDUCTIONS PERIOD

(IN THOUSANDS)
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2002
ALLOWANCES -- ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE.... $ 347 $ 101 $ - $(434) $ 14

VALUATION ALLOWANCE -- DEFERRED TAX
ASSETS.....ccoiiiiiiiii, $40,948 $26,748 $ - $ - $67,696

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001

Allowances -- accounts receivable..... $ 315 $ 402 $ - $(370) $ 347
Valuation allowance -- deferred tax
ASSELS....veiieiecieeieeeeen $35,151 $5,797 $ - $ - $40,948
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2000
Allowances -- accounts receivable..... $ 425 $ - $ - $(110) $ 315
Valuation allowance -- deferred tax
ASSEtS...ciiiiiieccieeeieeeas $29,404 $5,747 $ -- $ -- $35,151
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EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

We have issued our report dated February 26, 20@®pt for Note B, as to which the date is May@2®accompanying the consolidated
financial statements and schedules included itheual Report of Halsey Drug Co., Inc. and Subsidgon Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2002. We hereby consent to the incatipa by reference of said report in the RegigiraStatements of Halsey Drug Co., Inc.
on Forms S-8 (Registration Nos. 333-63288 and 3588 pertaining to the 1998 Stock Option Plan #uied1995 Stock Option Plan.

GRANT THORNTON LLP

New York, New York
May 5, 2003



EXHIBIT 99.1

CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT PURSUANT TO RULES 13a-14 AND 15d-14
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

I, Michael K. Reicher, the Chief Executive OffiagrHalsey Drug Co., Inc., certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fKalsey Drug Co., Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report doésantain any untrue statement of a material dactmit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistarmces under which such statements were madmisleding with respect to the period
covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in thisnaial report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this annual report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officers araté responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as def
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for tigésteant and we have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoissure that material information relating te thgistrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others withase entities, particularly during the period inigh this annual report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registraliigdosure controls and procedures as of a datena®0 days prior to the filing date of this
annual report (the "Evaluation Date"); and

c) presented in this annual report our conclusadut the effectiveness of the disclosure containtsprocedures based on our evaluation as
of the Evaluation Date;

5. The registrant's other certifying officers artthive disclosed, based on our most recent evahjatighe registrant's auditors and the audit
committee of registrant's board of directors (aispas performing the equivalent function):

a. all significant deficiencies in the design oergiion of internal controls which could adversaffect the registrant's ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial data and tantified for the registrant's auditors any ena weaknesses in internal controls; and

b. any fraud, whether or not material, that invelmeanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant's internal
controls; and

6. The registrant's other certifying officers arfthive indicated in this annual report whether drthere were significant changes in internal
controls or in other factors that could signifidgreffect internal controls subsequent to the dditeur most recent evaluation, including any
corrective actions with regard to significant defitcies and material weaknesses.

Date: May 6, 2003

/'s/ M chael K. Reicher

M chael K. Reicher
Chi ef Executive O ficer



EXHIBIT 99.2

CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT PURSUANT TO RULES 13a-14 AND 15d-14
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

I, Peter A. Clemens, the Chief Financial OfficeH#lsey Drug Co., Inc., certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fKalsey Drug Co., Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report doésantain any untrue statement of a material dactmit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistarmces under which such statements were madmisleding with respect to the period
covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememid,other financial information included in thisnaial report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this annual report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officers araté responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as def
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for tigésteant and we have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedoissure that material information relating te thgistrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others withase entities, particularly during the period inigh this annual report is being prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registraliigdosure controls and procedures as of a datena®0 days prior to the filing date of this
annual report (the "Evaluation Date"); and

c) presented in this annual report our conclusadut the effectiveness of the disclosure containtsprocedures based on our evaluation as
of the Evaluation Date;

5. The registrant's other certifying officers artthive disclosed, based on our most recent evahjatighe registrant's auditors and the audit
committee of registrant's board of directors (aispas performing the equivalent function):

a) all significant deficiencies in the design oeogtion of internal controls which could adversaffect the registrant's ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial data and tantified for the registrant's auditors any ena weaknesses in internal controls; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that invelveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant's internal
controls; and

6. The registrant's other certifying officers arfthive indicated in this annual report whether drthere were significant changes in internal
controls or in other factors that could signifidgreffect internal controls subsequent to the dditeur most recent evaluation, including any
corrective actions with regard to significant diefitcies and material weaknesses.

Date: May 6, 2003

/sl Peter A Cl enens

Peter A. d enens
Chi ef Financial Oficer



EXHIBIT 99.3
CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT

I, Michael K. Reicher, the Chief Executive OffiagfrHalsey Drug Co., Inc. (the "Company"), certifjyrsuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that:

(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Compamythe annual period ended December 31, 2002 Reedrt") fully complies with the

requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 780(d)); and

(2) the information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finan@alition and results of operations of the
Company.

Dated: May 6, 2003

/'s/ Mchael K. Reicher

M chael K. Reicher
Chi ef Executive O ficer



EXHIBIT 99.4
CERTIFICATION OF PERIODIC REPORT

I, Peter A. Clemens, the Chief Financial Officed afice President of Halsey Drug Co., Inc. (the "Qamy"), certify, pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Sacti®50, that:

(1) the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Compamythe annual period ended December 31, 2002 Reedrt") fully complies with the

requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 780(d)); and

(2) the information contained in the Report faphesents, in all material respects, the finan@alition and results of operations of the
Company.

Dated: May 6, 2003

/sl Peter A Cl enens
Peter A. d enens

Chi ef Financial Oficer
and Vi ce President



